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AT A GLANCE
bl

WHO WE ARE

The Group was founded in 1961 as a supplier of
construction steel and materials. In the early 1990’s,
we expanded our presence into Mainland China.
Today, the Group is a leading supply chain manager
of industrial products like steel and engineering
plastics. We are also a relevant player in washroom
and kitchen products and represent brands like TOTO
Japan, KEUCO Germany and ASI USA. The Group
has a strong presence in Hong Kong and Eastern
China. We have a growing presence in Southern and
Northeastern China. Our objective is to be a relevant
player in the markets we choose to serve and to serve
markets where our knowledge and experience will
allow for profitable growth.

We provide processing, inventory management
services, logistics and financing for steel, steel
recycling and engineering plastics.

Our sanitary ware and kitchen group provides
inventory management services, logistics, design
and technical support to developers, architects and
designers.

We also own properties in Shanghai and specialize
in renovation and tenant upgrade so as to maximize
rental income and shareholder value.
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WHERE WE ARE GOING

The Hong Kong construction market is expected
to remain strong in the coming years. Our Steel
Business will continue to drive top line growth by
maintaining our market share of reinforcement bar and
aggressively growing our share of structural products.

We completed construction of Hong Kong’s first
automated reinforcement bar processing plant in late
2015. Strategically located in Tsing Yi, this plant helps
to address Hong Kong’s labour shortage and aging
worker population by providing automated processing
and improving supply chain efficiency. This investment
makes the Hong Kong construction industry safer,
more efficient and environmentally responsible.
Automation helps improve safety, quality control and
allows for contractors to get product that is tested
and ready-to-use. We operate this plant in partnership
with Singapore’s NatSteel (a Tata Steel Enterprise).
NatSteel's 30+ years of experience in cut and bend,
mesh and precage combined with our 50+ years as
a relevant supplier to the Hong Kong construction
market allow us to create the best processing and
service solution to contractors.

Bao Shun Chang and Engineering Plastics Business
will continue to expand geographically to serve
Southern, Eastern and Northeastern China. Both
Bao Shun Chang and Engineering Plastics Business
have established themselves as strong local players
and can use the same business model to expand
throughout Mainland China.

Building and Design Solutions Business will continue
to roll out our new architectural and design centre
concept to grow retail and project sales while
maintaining a strong link to markets through our
growing dealer partner network. China’s drive for
urbanization and growing middle and upper class will
help us drive our top line strategy while allowing us to
remain in the high-end segment of the market.

Property Business will continue its focus on upgrading
recently acquired properties and identify potential
investment opportunities in Shanghai. As Shanghai
moves to a services based economy, the need for
office space with access to metro lines and major
roads will increase. We will continue to focus on
renovation and tenant upgrade opportunities in office

and service apartments in Shanghai.
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MISSION

We will deliver on our vision by being responsible and
relevant in the markets we choose to participate in. We
will deliver sustainable shareholder value and the best
total value solution to customers through excellent
service, an efficient supply chain, financing and
value-added processing. We will be knowledgeable of
the market and the needs of our target customers. We
will hire people that raise the average and will invest
in the development of all of our employees.

VISION

We will be a preferred investment option for our
SHAREHOLDERS. We will consistently execute on our
strategies to provide desired returns on investment
and sustainable growth. All strategies will have robust
analysis and the proper market intelligence to assure
delivery of our promises to our board of directors.

We will be a preferred supplier to CUSTOMERS.
They will think of us when needing our products.
Their purchasing experience will always be pleasant,
informative and helpful in meeting their objectives.

We will be a preferred employer. We will hire only
people that raise the average. We will hire for attitude
and invest in development of our EMPLOYEES to
create loyalty and love of company. We will provide a
safe and pleasant working environment with constant
learning and growth opportunities.

VALUES

Safe and Enjoyable Working Environment
Shareholder Value

Customer Loyalty

Integrity

Honesty and Respect

Responsiveness and Dedication

Clear and Measurable Goals

Embrace of Change

Ambition and Confidence to Excel
Teamwork
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER

Board of Directors

Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Non-executive Director
Mr. Dong Sai Ming Fernando

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny

Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

Company Secretary

Ms. Lam Yee Fan, FCIS, FCS

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Principal Bankers

Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.
Bangkok Bank Public Co. Ltd.

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Chong Hing Bank Limited

China CITIC Bank International Limited
CTBC Bank Co., Ltd.

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Industrial Bank of Taiwan Co., Ltd.
Shanghai Commercial Bank Ltd.
United Overseas Bank Limited
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Registered Office
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E-mail Address
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Transfer Offices

Principal Registrar
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Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Registrar
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HIGHLIGHTS
S

Financial Highlights MERE
For the year ended 31 March BEr=HA=+—HIFZE
2016 2015
—E-RE —E-—FE
HK$ million HK$ million
B 38T B&Z8T
Revenue WA 3,380 3,868 -12.6%
Gross profit EH 416 390 +6.7%
Earnings before interests and tax B SR &AM
(“EBIT") (TBx BHBLATAFIL) 213 348 -38.8%
Profit attributable to ordinary equity RRr)E@RRERE A
holders of the Company JE16 5 F) 70 216 -67.6%
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) — GRERZEFI(E) 10.95 39.72  -28.77 cents il
Gross profit margin EH = 12.3% 10.1% +22p.p. BOH
EBIT margin BrER AT AR E 6.3% 9.0% 27pp BN
Net profit margin B 2.1% 5.6% 35 p.p. BEAE
Return on equity [ ENEIEE 6.6% 20.1% -135pp. ADE

Revenue by Lines of Business 1 89,
© Steel Processing, Distribution and Recycling
@ Building and Design Solutions

@® Engineering Plastics

® Property

BEEB WA

o HMIT - HERER
@ EHREMRRANE
@ [i2%E

o FiE
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OUR NETWORK
HAAYE SR

Changshu &%

@ Coil Processing and Stamping Plant
& 8 N T X205 B TR
Shanghai Li§
Sales and Distribution
HERSHP L
@ Sales Office
SHEE D
@ Sales Office
SHEE D
© Deluxe Serviced Apartment
S S WN N
"\’Q ® Office Building
MAKE
@ Sales and Distribution
HERSHP L

@ Sales Office
S SHEE L

Changsha &%

@ Architectural and Design Centre
BENERETRO
@ Sales Office

HEP O

% Corporate Headquarter
EEEE
Steel Processing, Distribution and Recycling
RN~ 588 KBk

@ Building and Design Solutions
BEEMMERATR

@ Engineering Plastics
TiREBE

® Property
b E

@ Coil Processing and Distribution
A& Hn T &5 88

@ Sales Office
HESL

Guangzhou &/

@ Sales Office
SHEH L

Hong Kong &7

* Corporate Headquarter
SEEE
Sales and Distribution
HE R R
Steel Recycling Plant
#4721 45 1B
Automated Reinforcement Bar
Processing Plant
B Bt 855 10 Tk

@ Architectural and Design Centre
BERRETH DO

@ Sales Office
gt D
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LFMBRE

The following is a summary of these audited consolidated
financial statements of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries

(collectively, the “Group”) for the respective years as

hereunder stated.

Consolidated Income Statement

mEEEXR

AT REABAERERAR(TARATE]) REHK
BARI(REIAKE DN TIEFE 2 EELE
EHBEHRRME -

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

BZE BZE BZE S S

=EB--f ZE-=F ZE-0OFf ZB-HF ZB-RF

EflETr=E EfE=E EfEr—E EFEF—E EHETF=E

LHFE LLFE LLFE LLFE LEE

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THET THET THET THET THET

Revenue WA 4,432,081 3,760,620 3,849,306 3,868,393 3,380,161
Operating profit FS=wing 21,311 117,373 114,411 347,968 212,535
Net finance costs FI%E R (23,716) (20,087) (34,635) (55,267) (63,339)

Profit before income sz Thawal

tax 6,060 100,815 149,356 293,575 146,269
Income tax FriSfi (i)

(expense)/credit SEA 4,787 (29,355) (44,537) (74,309) (75,005)
Profit for the year FERF 10,847 71,460 104,819 219,266 71,264
Attributable to: FE1G -

Equity holders of the AR BIRIEFRS

Company BA 6,283 71,600 103,708 215,533 70,105
Non-controlling JEPR RS

interests 4,564 (140) 1,111 3,733 1,159

10,847 71,460 104,819 219,266 71,264
Dividends i esN 7,454 21,525 31,094 46,785 17,950

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHSIZERAR A 8



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hLFMBRE

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position A MR R R

As at As at As at As at As at
31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

RIEBE——-F RIE—=F R-ZZT—NF RZZ—HF R-ZE—=F
=A=+—-—H =BA=+—-H =A=+—H =A=+—H =H=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT FHT FHT FHT

Non-current assets IEmBEE 261,030 269,475 1,396,632 1,549,725 2,110,217
Current assets mENEE 1,528,920 1,509,695 1,256,341 1,372,081 1,421,542
Current liabilities REBEE (1,097,100)  (1,028,215)  (1,197,426) (1,118,052)  (1,118,640)
Non-current liabilities — 3FREEE (1,127) (817) (673,915) (731,653)  (1,351,616)
Net assets BEFRE 691,723 750,138 781,632 1,072,101 1,061,503
Equity: M

Share capital [N 41,413 41377 41,770 63,227 64,064
Reserves e 617,494 673,747 739,422 1,007,954 995,360

Capital and reserves ~ BIEFEA

attributable FEAG AR AR

to equity holders Mt 658,907 715,124 781,192 1,071,181 1,059,424
Non-controlling JEfd| R

interests 32,816 35,014 440 920 2,079
Total equity HEmAAEE 691,723 750,138 781,632 1,072,101 1,061,503
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHEE

Well-positioned to
capture opportunities
arisen to

reap the benefits
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Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHRES

Rejuvenating business model
with innovative, agile and leaner structure

L~ BERBERRE
FEMEBEN

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong
Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (“HKSHA” or the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), it is my pleasure
to present the audited consolidated results of the Group for the
year ended 31st March 2016 (the “year” or “FY2016").

FY2016 marked a year of consolidation and transformation
under difficult circumstances for HKSHA. During the year,
the global economy has been volatile with fluctuating
commodities price, and in particular, steel price has suffered
an unprecedented drop, which had a considerable impact on
the Group’s steel business. Despite the obstacles, the Group
maintained its strategic imperative of quality over quantity,
better over bigger, and value over volume, while executing an
ambitious plan in rejuvenating our business model into a more
innovative, agile and leaner structure.

As we continue our journey of transformation, the new
automated rebar processing and assembly plant in Tsing Yi
exemplifies our strategic imperative by offering a completed
service platform to contractors, providing ready-to-use,
consistent rebar processing with traceability service as well as
efficient scrap recycling. In an industry where labour shortages
has become a critical issue, we are able to empower contractors
to reduce their reliance on headcount due to the efficiency and
precision of our processing technology. Besides manpower
solution, we also provide answers to the long-standing safety
and wastage problems through full automation and centralized
processing, not to mention that our traceability service would
ensure steady supply chain in avoiding project delays.

Our full range of capabilities has set a new standard, and we
firmly believe that our value-added processing technology
and safety first philosophy would represent the future of the
industry. Such direction should allow us to shine through in
the near future. With “the Belt and Road” Initiative greatly
encourages the use of high-quality steel in infrastructure
projects, we are actively looking at the possibility of replicating
the Tsing Yi plant to other countries in Southeast Asia.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHEE

On the property front, Shanghai remains our geographical
focus and key investment market, as the city is expected to
become China’s financial capital in the future. Our professional
property team will continue to uncover potential residential
and office properties in Shanghai and present greater value
to our shareholders, such as our latest project — Chuang Yi
Tower (BlIZET5KE) . The tower is expected to be available
for leasing in July 2016 following the completion of its
acquisition in June 2016, and the response from potential
tenants has been very positive given its convenience location.
Echoing our strategic imperative of quality over quantity, the
new acquisition, together with our existing portfolio, would
further consolidate our position as a niche player specializing
in property value enhancement. We look forward to taking
advantage of the inevitable evolution as Shanghai continues to
move to a services driven economy.

Due to the expanding geographical scope of our businesses,
we have also changed the Company’s name from Van Shung
Chong Holdings Limited (BIEE% B AR A7) to Hong Kong
Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited QBB & 1EKRER A F)
in order to better reflect HKSHA’s value proposition in both
Hong Kong and Shanghai, as we firmly believe the close
collaboration between Hong Kong and Shanghai will result in
long-term mutual benefits.

On top of our business operations improvement, we remain
financially strong and are taking action to address the
increase in expenses. The Tsing Yi plant would allow us to
put our sales and operations together in one location, thus
eliminating costs and inefficiencies related to operating from
multiple locations. Additionally, leveraging on the plant’'s
pier access, we have confidence in reducing inbound freight
costs, as well as lowering our current inventory level. In the
meantime, we are also giving consideration to methods such
as headcount adjustments and freight contracts renegotiation
in order to further reduce expenses. As new investments
become accretive and expense reduction efforts take shape,
we have high hopes in our future profit level.

Looking forward to the future, we expect the coming year
to be challenging yet with numerous opportunities amid the
volatility in the global economy. Economically, Mainland China
maintained a slower but healthy GDP growth last year, leading
to the proposition of supply side reform from President Xi
Jinping in order to sustain the growth. The objective of the
reform is to eliminate inefficient enterprises while raising the
general quality of output, particularly in the steel industry. In
the long run, we have great confidence in such reform, from
where HKSHA can benefit by providing high-quality steel with
value-added services when comparing to our peers.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE8B&ERER QA
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Industry-wise, the steel industry is becoming more consumer-
driven and service-driven, with an increasing emphasis on
customization and value-added services. We believe that our
Tsing Yi plant would address the changing market needs,
where we are able to provide highly-customizable steel at
an efficient rate, at a lower cost and under a much safer
environment with high replicability. Together, the Group is
well-positioned to capture the opportunities arisen from “the
Belt and Road” initiative and will deliver sustainable growth for
years to come.

The two new investments, the Tsing Yi rebar processing and
assembly plant and Chuang Yi Tower, are now at the ramp-
up stage, and we anticipate that they will start contributing
in 2018. To broaden our revenue streams, we are exploring
further business opportunities with synergies to our existing
businesses, at the same time exploring other cost-effective
measures to reduce variable expenses and to achieve better
resources allocation. We believe that this two-pronged
approach will lead HKSHA to a stronger foothold in the
industry and will create greater value to our shareholders.

| would like to express my sincere gratitude to our supporting
banks, customers, suppliers, partners and employees as
well as their families. Your support in building the new plant,
installing new processing model as well as investing in new
property show us that you agree with our vision. | would also
like to give honorable mention to the government entities that
support our new plant construction and property renovation
efforts, as we would not be able to complete these projects
on time and on budget without your support. Lastly, | want to
thank our shareholders for being patient during a period of
restructuring and heavy investments, and | am confident that
HKSHA will be able to reap the benefits from the changes in
the near future.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

23rd June 2016

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WK DA

New investments to address
changing market trends
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OVERVIEW

The Group faced a challenging year for the year primarily due to
an increase in expenses related to new investments, change in
business model and personnel.

As we have done before during difficult cycles, we are working
diligently to manage through and deliver value to shareholders.

Volume in steel grew by approximately 14.9% in Hong Kong and
5.6% in Mainland China as we increased market share. However,
steel prices decreased throughout the year causing our top line to
decrease by 12.6% when compared to last year.

The Group’s gross profit margin increased from approximately
10.1% to 12.3% and grew by 6.7% in absolute terms when
compared to last year.

Our bottom line did not increase due to an increase in expenses
and a decrease in revaluation gain from property when compared
to last year. Expenses increased by approximately 45.7% due
to new investments in steel recycling, rebar processing and
property. We built an automated rebar processing and assembly
plant in Tsing Yi, Hong Kong which started operations in January
2016 and, as planned, this business will be accretive to our
bottom line in 2018. The purchase of AlZE#AE (Chuang Yi
Tower) in Pudong, Shanghai has been completed in June 2016,
we expect it to be accretive to our bottom line in 2018. While
these new investments and the change to our distribution model in
Hong Kong caused a decrease in our results, we remain confident
that both projects will provide long term and sustainable profits
once we reach maturity levels of operation. Our investment in
downstream processing is now active and as we ramp up, our
margin will improve as will our top line due to value to volume
efforts.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE8B&ERER QA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WK DA

Diversify source of profits along
with effective expense management

ZrtRaERE  EERERHAXEE

We have started to address expense levels. By moving our
sales and operations together in one location, we will be able to
rationalize headcount and reduce expenses. We have already
identified ways to significantly reduce expenses, our main
challenge to profit in the year.

During the year, we changed our Company name from “Van
Shung Chong Holdings Limited” to “Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited”. We firmly believe that Hong Kong and
Shanghai will continue to complement each other and become
regional and global benchmarks of success through careful and
planned economic evolution. Cooperation between Hong Kong
and Shanghai continues to showcase opportunity for sustainable
development and will result in long-term mutual benefits. We
believe our Group with a culture of excellence through cooperation
will continue to build on our history to deliver our goals and create
sustainable value to shareholders.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Construction Materials Business

Construction Materials Business comprises Hong Kong
construction products processing and distribution (mainly rebars
and pilings in the year), surface critical coil processing and
distribution, steel recycling (acquired in September 2014) and
reinforcing bar processing and assembly business (conducted
through our 50%-owned joint venture TVSC Construction Steel
Solutions Limited which started operation in January 2016). This
business recorded total revenue of approximately HK$2,465.8
million for the year, approximately 84.7% of last year in spite
of year-on-year (“YOY”) increase of tons sold of approximately
16.7%, 7.0% and 4.8% respectively in Hong Kong construction
products processing and distribution, surface critical coil
processing and distribution and steel recycling, as steel price
decreased in the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WK DA

The net profit of Construction Materials Business was
approximately HK$69.9 million, approximately 57.7% of last
year mainly due to (i) decrease of total net profit of Hong Kong
construction products and surface critical coil processing and
distribution by approximately 19.1% YOY to approximately
HK$112.3 million in the year, primarily due to a decrease in
their total revenue by approximately 14.8% to approximately
HK$2,337.9 million in the year in spite of an increase of their total
gross profit margin by 246 basis points to approximately 11.1%
and tons sold increased by 13.8% YQY, as steel price decreased
in the year; and (ii) increase of net loss of steel recycling due
to YOY increase of selling, general and administrative expenses
by approximately HK$26.2 million (12-month expenses in the
year versus 5.5-month expenses in last year), including one-off
restructuring expenses of approximately HK$2.2 million incurred
in the year. As disclosed previously, we are more selective in our
customers and we have changed our sales channels and product
mix (mainly construction steel scraps from customers of our
construction products distribution business). We have also started
to take various cost saving measures to reduce variable expenses
and overheads and expand revenue stream by increasing
the utilization of fixed assets and workforce for our affiliated
companies and other third party customers.

Building and Design Solutions Business

Building and Design Solutions (“BDS”) Business delivered
revenue of approximately HK$488.9 million in the year, down
approximately 3.6% YOY. Net profit decreased by approximately
86.6% to approximately HK$1.9 million in the year, mainly due to
(i) one-off restructuring expenses of approximately HK$0.6 million
of our Mainland China BDS business; (ii) one-off impairment of
long-outstanding and doubtful accounts receivables totaling
approximately HK$7.5 million related to customers in Hunan and
Hubei Provinces; (iii) slowdown of the residential property market
in Mainland China which affected our wholesale sales and margin
in the year; and (iv) projects delay in Hong Kong.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE8B&ERER QA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Engineering Plastics Business

Engineering Plastics Business recorded revenue of approximately
HK$365.2 million, down approximately 8.8% YQY, with tons sold
and average selling price per ton decreased by approximately
2.4% and 6.6% respectively YOY, as we moved away from
customers in Hong Kong and Southern China where margins were
too low or credit risk was high. Due to an unrealized exchange
loss of approximately HK$4.5 million arising mainly from translation
of foreign currency trade payables of our operating subsidiaries
in Mainland China and restructuring expenses of approximately
HK$0.1 million, this business recorded a net loss of approximately
HK$4.3 million in the year, versus a net profit of approximately
HK$1.0 million in the last year.

Property Business

Our expertise and proven track record of carrying out value
enhancement works on properties under management (Central
Park and Park Lane (previously named as Metro Park)) in the
year which has the effect of improving tenant mix and occupancy
rate, increasing rental return and bringing valuation appreciation
continued to help us achieve success and deliver excellent results
in the year. For our wholly-owned Central Park, we successfully
increased the occupancy rate from 74% at end of March 2015
to 90% at end of the year and increased the average rental by
approximately 15.5% in the year. Based on a valuation report
issued by an independent international property valuer, the
carrying amount of our investment property Central Park increased
by approximately 14.6% YOY to approximately HK$1,311 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,093 million) at end of the year,
resulted in a valuation gain of approximately HK$200 million for
the year. For Park Lane of which we own 29.44% equity interest,
strata-sale promotion program has been started in mid-December
2015 and up to 31st March 2016, sale and purchase contracts for
about 72% of the units offered had been signed. During the year,
the Group shared a net profit of approximately HK$15.0 million
from its investment on Park Lane. Including an unrealized foreign
exchange loss of approximately HK$29.7 million on the foreign
currency bank loan, Property Business recorded a net profit of
approximately HK$111.8 million on revenue of approximately
HK$60.3 million in the year, versus a net profit of approximately
HK$153.5 million on revenue of approximately HK$48.6 million in
last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WK DA

As disclosed in our circular dated 28th October 2015, /&%
mEMEKL AR AT (Shanghai Xinshi Real Estate Brokerage
Co., Ltd.), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the
purchaser, and E/BEREEE X ER A7 (Shanghai Electric
Group Real Estate Co., Ltd.) (an independent third party) as the
vendor entered into a framework agreement dated 16th September
2015 to acquire gz & # KE (Chuang Yi Tower) located at
Pudong, Shanghai for a total consideration of RMB801,308,900
(equivalent to approximately HK$970,385,000). This acquisition
was approved by our shareholders in a special general meeting
held on 26th November 2015, it has been completed in June
2016.

OUTLOOK

In spite of a challenging market, Construction Materials Business
managed to increase market share. The Group’s margin
percentage and total margin also increased. New investments
have started to impact top and bottom line but will take time to
reach optimum levels.

We are excited to operate one of the world’s most modern and
automated rebar processing and assembly plant in Hong Kong.
This new investment allows us to become strategically important
to our customers and the value we will provide makes us essential
to their success and difficult to be replaced. Our property
investments are all located in strategic areas of Shanghai that are
still transforming and increasing in value. Our biggest challenge is
maintaining margin levels while reducing expenses as we become
more efficient. We expect the volatility in the global economy to
continue in the near term. Our focus will be to reduce expense,
manage cash effectively, while address risk.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE8B&ERER QA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We expect the global steel market to continue to face imbalances.
Mainland China’s steel production continues to outpace demand
and will continue to put pressure on pricing. While we saw price
recovery in the first few months of 2016, fundamentals do not
exist to support these price levels. Iron ore output continues to
outpace demand giving steel mills some cost relief as steel price
falls. As a leading regional provider of construction materials,
we are confident that our Construction Materials Business will be
able to further expand its business scale as it has (i) successfully
transformed itself from an ordinary steel supplier into a market
leading, highly customized and automated steel processor with
leading technologies; and (ii) moved from a product driven offer to
a service-based and supply chain management value proposition.
In particular, Construction Materials Business has completed the
construction of Hong Kong’s first automated rebar processing
and assembly plant in Tsing Yi in January 2016 which will enable
highly automated steel processing to be carried out in a more
efficient, less costly and much safer environment. As demand
for construction materials is expected to increase as a result of
PRC’s government policies such as “the Belt and Road” initiative,
Construction Materials Business is well positioned to capture such
opportunity through its enhanced supply chain model; which will
not only enable it to serve its customers that have expanded or
are expanding trade and investment beyond Hong Kong to serve
“the Belt and Road” initiative, but also to expand regionally into
Southeast Asia.

For BDS Business, we will work closely with our brand partners
to increase sales by offering new products and eliminate non-
performing products, exercising strict cost and expense control,
focusing on assets and working capital management. With this
approach, we will work to minimise the impact from the market
slowdown in Mainland China and strengthen our position for the
market recovery.

Engineering Plastics Business will focus on higher margin
products and growing segments such as automotive, home
appliances and electronics to drive sales growth in Hong Kong
and Mainland China, especially Xiamen, Shanghai and Suzhou.
We have worked to strengthen our ties to supplier partners and
revised our incentive program to improve contribution margin and
reduce operating expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WK DA

Property Business will help us further enhance our revenue and
profit sources. Central Park has completed its renovation in April
2016. We will continue to exert considerable efforts in revitalizing
properties under our portfolio and invest in further opportunities
and properties in Shanghai which may be identified and evaluated
by our property team from time to time and are considered to be
sound. The total floor area of properties managed by our property
team following the acquisition of Az K/E (Chuang Yi Tower)
exceeds 1.2 million square feet. Shanghai shall continue to be a
geographical focus and core investment market of our Property
Business as we are confident that the continuous evolution of
Shanghai towards a service-driven economy will not only boost its
international stature, but also generate demand for quality office
space.

To tackle the foreign exchange translation exposure of our
Property Business, we are exploring hedging and Renminbi
refinancing opportunities for the foreign currency bank loans.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Operating Results

For the year, the Group recorded an audited profit attributable
to equity holders of approximately HK$70.1 million on revenue
of approximately HK$3,380.2 million, versus an audited profit
attributable to equity holders of approximately HK$215.5 million
on revenue of approximately HK$3,868.4 million last year. Gross
profit was approximately HK$415.6 million, up approximately 6.7%
YOY while gross profit margin increased to approximately 12.3%
from approximately 10.1% compared with last year.

Annualised return on assets (EBIT/operating assets) decreased
from approximately 42.4% YQOY to approximately 27.1%,
which was mainly driven by decrease of operating profit by
approximately 38.8% YOY to approximately HK$212.5 million
in the year. Basic earnings per ordinary share was HK10.95
cents as at 31st March 2016 (2015: HK39.72 cents). The Board
recommended a final dividend of HK1.0 cent (2015: HK5.0 cents)
per ordinary share for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Positions

Compared with last financial year ended 31st March 2015,
as at 31st March 2016, the Group’s total assets increased by
approximately HK$610.0 million to approximately HK$3,531.8
million. The Group’s inventories decreased by approximately
HK$144.4 million to approximately HK$175.6 million. The average
Days of Supplies decreased from 34 days for the last year end
to 22 days. The Group’s trade and bill receivables decreased
by approximately HK$91.6 million to approximately HK$462
million. The average overall Day Sales Outstanding decreased
from 50 days for the last year end to 46 days. Net assets value
of the Group decreased by approximately HK$11 million to
approximately HK$1,062 million, equivalent to HK$1.7 per ordinary
share as at 31st March 2016.

Compared with the financial position at 31st March 2015, the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits,
increased by approximately HK$211.6 million to approximately
HK$605.4 million while the Group’s borrowings increased by
approximately HK$543.9 million to approximately HK$1,992.4
million as at 31st March 2016. Current ratio decreased to 1.27,
while gearing ratio (net debt, which is total borrowings minus
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents, divided
by capital and reserves attributable to equity holders plus net
debt) increased from 50% to 57%.

Financial Resources

All of the Group’s financing and treasury activities are centrally
managed and be controlled at the corporate level. The Group’s
overall treasury and funding policies focus on managing financial
risks including interest rate and foreign exchange risks, and on
cost efficient funding of the Group and its subsidiaries. The Group
has always adhered to prudent financial management principles.

As disclosed in the Company’s annual report 2014/15, the
Company has issued and allotted a total of 210,757,625 ordinary
shares on 17th December 2014 upon completion of an open offer
(the “Open Offer”) with net proceeds of approximately HK$100.7
million received.

As at 31st March 2016, the net proceeds from the Open Offer
of approximately HK$100.7 million have been fully utilised as
intended, approximately 70% for (i) further product diversification;
and (ii) downstream processing of the Group’s reinforcement
bar business unit to serve Hong Kong construction industry,
including the construction of the new cut-and-bend plant and the
acquisition of processing machinery and equipment for the new
facility in Tsing Yi, New Territories; and the remaining balance
of approximately 30% for general working capital purpose,
including the expansion of its geographic presence in China and
repayment of part of its short-term bank borrowings to reduce its
indebtedness.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WK DA

The Group’s trade financing remained primarily supported by
its bank trading and term loan facilities. As at 31st March 2016,
about 60% of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings for trade
financing purpose were denominated in HK dollar, about 4%
in RMB and about 36% in US dollar. These facilities are either
secured by the Group’s inventory held under short-term trust
receipts bank loan arrangement and/or pledged bank deposits
and/or corporate guarantee provided by the Company. All of the
above borrowings were on floating rate basis. Interest costs of
import bank loans were levied on inter-banks borrowing rates plus
very competitive margin. RMB loans and bill exchange facilities
have been obtained from domestic and foreign banks in the
amount of RMB173 million. Interest costs of RMB banking facilities
were based on standard loan rates set by the People’s Bank of
China adjusted with competitive margin.

Charges on Assets

As at 31st March 2016, the Group had certain charges on
assets which included (i) bank deposits of approximately
HK$58.3 million which were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
bank borrowings and banking facilities; and (ii) an investment
property, property, plant and equipment and land use rights of
approximately HK$1,311.6 million, HK$13.0 million and HK$34.8
million respectively were pledged as collaterals for certain bank
borrowings of the Group.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The Group’s businesses are primarily transacted in HK dollars,
US dollars and RMB. As exchange rate between HK dollars and
the US dollars is pegged, the Group believes its exposure to
exchange rate risk arising from US dollars is not material. Facing
the volatility of RMB, the Group will continue to match RMB
payments with RMB receipts to minimise exchange exposure.

Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered into when
suitable opportunities arise and when management of the Group
considers appropriate, to hedge against major non-HK dollars
currency exposures. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into any
derivative transaction for speculative purposes.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st March 2016, the Group’s had no material contingent
liability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We believe the Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
and business prospects may be affected by certain risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s
businesses, some of which are beyond our control. The followings
are the major risks and uncertainties identified by the Group.
There may be other possibly risks and uncertainties which we are
not aware of or which may not be material at present but may turn
out to be material in the future.

Financial Risks

The Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus on
managing financial risks including interest rate, foreign exchange
and liquidity risks. The Group has always adhered to prudent
financial management principles. Facing the volatility of RMB, the
Group will match RMB payments with RMB receipts to minimise
exchange exposure. Forward foreign exchange contracts would
be entered into when suitable opportunities arise and when
management of the Group considers appropriate, to hedge
against major non-HK dollars currency exposures. The Group
always monitors cash flows and maintains an adequate level
of cash and cash equivalent to ensure the ability to finance the
Group’s operations and reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash
flows to mitigate liquidity risk.

Operational Risk

The Group may face operational risk resulting from inadequate
or deficiency in internal processes, people and systems or
from external events. The Group has clear responsibility
and accountability rests with every function at divisional and
departmental levels. The Group are governed and guided by good
standard operating procedures, proper authorization policies and
reporting framework. Our management will identify and assess
key operational exposures from time to time to adjust potential risk
response.

Business Risk

The Group’s business performance will be affected by various
factors, including but not limited to economic conditions,
competitive environment of steel industry, performance of property
markets and regulatory changes in regions where our business
carry on or investments locate, which would not be mitigated even
with careful and prudent investment strategy and strict procedure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WK DA

Human Capital and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and retain
key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to meet the business objectives
and strategy. We will provide attractive remuneration package to
suitable candidates and personnel. Through training of existing
personnel and hiring of new personnel that raise the average, we
continue to create a great team capable of making sure we are
one of the best long-term investments for our shareholders and a
great place to work for our employees.

HUMAN CAPITAL

The Group is focusing on building an elite team to help lead the
Group to future success. Our growth strategy has always included
a strong sense of commitment to people. We provide competitive
remuneration package to attract and motivate the employees.
We always provide a safe and pleasant working environment with
constant learning and growth opportunities.

As at 31st March 2016, the Group employed 323 staff. Total
staff costs including contribution to retirement benefit schemes
incurred during the year amounted to approximately HK$145.2
million. During the year, no options have been offered and/or
granted to directors and our employees under the share option
scheme adopted on 11th August 2011.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
Environmental Protection

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability.
Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected by our
continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in
our daily business operations.

We encourage environmental protection and promote awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
adheres to the principle of recycling and reducing. It implements
green office practices such as double-sided printing and copying,
setting up recycling bins, promoting using recycled paper and
reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lightings and
electrical appliance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Community Involvement

We care about the communities where we are active and
continuously support social initiatives. The Group has sponsored
and participated in a wide range of charitable activities. Our
employees have also participated in various corporate social
responsibility initiatives. We care about our employees. We
will provide an enjoyable working environment and an integrity
platform to ensure employees’ well-being and safety.

We were awarded as the “Caring Company” from The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service since 2007, as “Heart to Heart
Company” by the Hong Kong Federation of Youth Group in 2010.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group has formulated a clear organisational structure and
accountability for implementation of procedures and monitoring
of risk, which help ensure adequacy and effectiveness of controls
over the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and
efficiency of operations and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

During the year, as far as the Company is concerned, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We have a deep sense of obligation to our stakeholders. We will
consistently execute our strategies to provide desired returns
on investment and sustainable growth to our shareholders. We
recognise that employees are our valuable assets. We hire people
for attitude and invest in development of our employees to create
loyalty and love to the Company. We understand the importance
of maintaining good relationship with our stakeholders (employees,
customers, suppliers and business partners) to achieve our
long-term goals. To accomplish this, we continue to get closer
to our stakeholders, build lasting relationship, and keep good
communication to understand their needs and share with them our
business development. During the year, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Company and its stakeholders.

APPRECIATION

We are grateful to our dedicated employees, loyal customers,
suppliers, banking partners and shareholders for their constant
support.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed to
maintaining high standards of corporate governance. It believes
that high standards of corporate governance provide a framework
and solid foundation for the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) to manage business risks, enhance
transparency, maintain high standards of accountability and
protect shareholders’ interest in general. The Company has
applied the principles and complied with the applicable code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) except for CG Code provisions A.2.1 and A.6.7 for
the year ended 31st March 2016 (the “year”).

The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure
that business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules, as amended from time to time as its
own code of conduct (the “Company’s Model Code”) regarding
securities transactions by the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”). Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, they all
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set
out in the Company’s Model Code during the year. The Company’s
Model Code also applies to other specified relevant employees of
the Group who are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information in respect of their dealings in the securities of the
Company.

THE BOARD

Currently, the Board consists of three Executive Directors, one
Non-executive Director and four Independent Non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board during the year and up to
the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace ™2
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu ®*?
Mr. Frank Mufioz ™

(Note 1)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Dong Sai Ming Fernando
Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

Notes:
1. Appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 25th November 2015.
2. Appointed as an Executive Director on 25th November 2015.

3. Resigned as an Executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer on 25th November 2015.

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Directors’ Profile” on pages 55 to 59 of this annual report.

Board Process

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has four Independent Non-executive Directors
exceeding one-third of the Board. One of the Independent Non-
executive Directors has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise under
Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. Each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors has made an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the
terms of the guidelines. The Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material relevant relationships with each
other.

The Executive Directors are responsible for managing the
overall business. They are mainly involved in the formulation and
execution of the corporate strategies. The Non-executive Director
and Independent Non-executive Directors consist of eminent
business executives from Hong Kong and Mainland China, who
provide independent advices to the management through their
wide range of skills and experiences. The Executive Directors
have regular meetings with general managers of respective
business units and key staff of support units to discuss major
business plans and review operational and financial performance.
Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive Directors
are also invited to participate in special review meetings.
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Four Board Committees, namely Executive Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee, have been established to oversee various aspects of
the Group’s affairs.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, Directors’ appointment or
re-appointment (based on the recommendations made by the
Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions,
corporate governance as well as other significant policy and
financial matters. The daily operations of the Group’s business
is executed by the management of the respective business units
under the instruction/supervision of the Executive Committee
which has its special written terms of reference.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well
as the operation and financial performance of the Group, and
to review and approve the Group’s annual and interim results
and other ad hoc matters which need to be dealt with. Individual
attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the Board,
Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee as well as general meetings during the year are set out
below:

AEBECRINEEELZEE IATEZES &
MWEZEE BXRZESGRREZERES  UERZS
[EpA ¥

EFRTRRABRAKERERE FELER
B FERTHEE RAZEGRENEFIES
SEHMRME  ERARERS  BEREBALEM
EZRRMUBEEEIERRNES - UITREE
MEBESRE B EEREBEUIERAR
BREAREEER 2 AFEEE -

EEeEHARER  IRAKRBEZBERBEIAR
LENRUWHRE  YERAMUEAREZ Z2FRP
HREMEMAREZEREFR - RAFE - 8&

ERNEFE  FHEZEE FRZRESRRERZE
e URBRAGZEHN L FELEHIN T

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/ BRI Y

Remuneration Audit Nomination General

Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
BEpg gzg §MzEE ENZRE REZEE RRAE
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (Chairman and B A (LEE

Chief Executive Officer) "" ERTE) ™ 4/4 11 NATER 111 202
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace "7 EE e 212 NATER NATER NJAT & 111
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu "2 Brmrs 22  NATER NJATEF N/ATER 111
Mr. Frank Mufioz "% Frank Mufioz %4 212 N/ATER N/AT NATER mn
Non-executive Director: FHTEE:
Mr. Dong Sai Ming Fernando LS 414 NATER NATEHR NATEE 212
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUHHTEE -
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERIEE 404 7 212 n 12
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHERE 44 111 22 17 22
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy dEErE 414 17 212 NATER 212
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BRAEE 414 NAPER 212 NATER 212
Total Number of Meetings Held E-E T 4 1 2 1 2
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Notes:
1. Appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 25th November 2015.
2. Appointed as an Executive Director on 25th November 2015.

3. Resigned as an Executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer on 25th November 2015.

Board meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to
give all Directors an opportunity to attend, and are structured
to encourage open discussion. At least 14 days’ notice of a
Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda.
The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the Board in
preparing the agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable
rules and regulations are complied with. Draft minutes of each
Board meeting are circulated to all Directors for their comment
before being tabled at the following Board meeting for approval.
All minutes and resolutions of the Board are taken and kept by the
Company Secretary and these minutes and resolutions, together
with any supporting board papers, are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

The Board members have access to appropriate business
documents and information about the Group on a timely basis. The
Directors are free to have access to the management for enquiries
and to obtain further information when required. The Directors are
encouraged to update their skills and knowledge, and familiarity
with the Group through ongoing participation at Board and Board
Committees meetings. All Directors also have access to external
legal counsel and other professionals for independent advice at
the Company’s expense if they require it.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and
regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that he/she is
sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors shall
participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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The Directors are from time to time provided materials on
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company has been encouraging
the Directors and officers to participate in a wide range of
professional development courses and seminars relating to the
Listing Rules, applicable regulatory requirements and corporate
governance practices organized by professional bodies and/or
independent auditors to further improve their relevant knowledge
and skills.

All Directors have confirmed that they have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development activities
by attending seminar relating to corporate governance and
regulations or by reading materials relevant to their duties and
responsibilities during the year.

Participation of Directors in continuous professional development
activities for the year is set out below:

Name of Directors

EEps

Executive Directors: HITEE -

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (Chairman and WERRE(EEE
Chief Executive Officer) " ER#iTE) "™

Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace "2 BEf A 752

Mr. Lau Chi Chiu ™ ERE b

Mr. Frank Mufioz "¢ Frank Mufioz %4 @#9

Non-executive Director: HHTEE -

Mr. Dong Sai Ming Fernando EH A

Independent Non-executive Directors: BUHRTEE -

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERELE

Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHERE

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy AL L

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BERAEEE

EETHRERHMERER - RAIRRY BT H&R
RAZER  UWHERREFBLESSELAE
NBBAZER - AR -EHBEERSRAESR
EMEEEER B RBMER S EERL
mARA - BREEREMREEREAERIEXRER
RERMN G - AE— SR E AR ANE NI -

EREERANAFEANCEBLEERLEER
LRGPz eHEAREREREEZER
SEEEREEXERRED -

EENAFRE2ABEEXER 2ZDEHEINNT :

W\

Reading journals,
updates, articles
and/or materials

Attending workshops,
seminars, conferences
and/or forums
HEIEY B
BN HwE

RRAT - RHAER
XER/SEEEH

4 v/
4 4
4 v/
4 v/

<
|

AN NN
|

Notes:

1. Appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 25th November 2015.
2. Appointed as an Executive Director on 25th November 2015.

3. Resigned as an Executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer on 25th November 2015.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy in July 2013.
Under the Policy, the Company recognizes and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. Selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, which would include but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
and industry experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

At present, half of the Directors on the Board are Independent
Non-executive Directors. The Board composition reflects various
cultural and educational backgrounds, professional development,
length of service, knowledge of the Company and a broad range
of individual attributes, interests and values. The Board considers
the current composition has provided the Company with a good
balance and diversity of skills and experience appropriate to the
requirements of its business. The Board will continue to review its
composition from time to time taking into consideration specific
needs for the Group’s business.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers within
the Group.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer
(i.e. the Chief Executive) is now Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew. CG
Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. By appointing Mr. Yao as the
Chief Executive Officer in succession of Mr. Frank Mufioz on 25th
November 2015, the Company has not have a separate Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer as Mr. Yao has held both positions.
Prior to the appointment of Mr. Mufioz as the Chief Executive
Officer on 1st November 2012, Mr. Yao had served as both the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The Board believes that
the vesting of the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in Mr. Yao will enable him to continue to provide the Group
with strong leadership, efficiency usage of resources as well as
allow for effective planning, formulation and implementation of the
Company’s business strategies which will enable the Group to
sustain the development of its business efficiently. The day-to-day
management and operation of the Group will continue to be the
responsibility of the management team under the monitor of the
Executive Committee and Mr. Yao’s leadership.
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SPECIFIC TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company’s Non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term. They (including all other Directors) are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting at least once every three years according to the
Company’s Bye-laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Minutes of all committee
meetings and resolutions are taken and kept by the Company
Secretary and, together with any supporting committee papers,
are available to all Board members. The committees are required
to report to the Board on their decision and recommendations
where appropriate.

Executive Committee

Executive Committee has been in place since March 2006 and
now consists of all Executive Directors, being Mr. Yao Cho Fai
Andrew as chairman, Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu
as members.

When the Board is not in session, the Executive Committee
discharges the specific power and administrative functions
authorised by the Board. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the daily operations of the Group.

The Company adopted a new terms of reference of the Executive
Committee in March 2016 in order to conform with the provisions
set out in the CG Code and it is responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties as follows:

(i) implementing and compliance with the laws, regulations,
Listing Rules, Bye-laws and internal regulations applicable to
the Company;

(i) providing a means for timely and accurate disclosure of
information;

(iii) ensuring effective communication with the Company’s
shareholders;

(iv) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies

and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;
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(v) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(vi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(vii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(viii) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Executive Committee has carried out the
duties on the corporate governance functions of the Company in
accordance with its terms of reference.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been in place since July 2005
and now consists of four members, including Mr. Xu Lin Bao
(chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tam King Ching
Kenny and Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy, all being Independent Non-
executive Directors, and Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew, being an
Executive Director. The Remuneration Committee’s role is to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and
structure for Directors and senior management and to ensure
that they are fairly rewarded for their individual contribution to the
Group’s overall performance, having regard to the interests of
shareholders.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model where
it has delegated responsibility to determine the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management as well as reviewing and approving management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the Non-
executive Directors. No Director or any of his/her associates may
be involved in any decisions as to his/her own remuneration.
The Company has adopted new terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee in March 2016 to conform with the
provisions set out in the CG Code. The terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available both on the websites of the Company
and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the “HKEX").
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed and
determined the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors
and made recommendations to the Board as to the remuneration
policy and structure for senior management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the year and the attendance
record of the Remuneration Committee meeting is stated in the
table under “The Board” of this report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been in place since December 1998
and now consists of four Independent Non-executive Directors,
including Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Xu Lin Bao, Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy and
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike. Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny is an
Independent Non-executive Director with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice a year
to review and discuss the various audit issues as reported by the
external auditor. It also reviews the interim and annual financial
statements. Additional meetings may also be held by the Audit
Committee from time to time to discuss special projects or other
issues, which the members consider necessary.

Scope of the work of the Audit Committee is defined and
approved by the Board in relation to various internal control, risk
management and audit issues with a view to further improve the
Company’s corporate governance. The Company has adopted
new terms of reference of the Audit Committee in March 2016 to
conform with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee setting out its authority, duties
and responsibilities are available both on the websites of the
Company and the HKEXx.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the remuneration
of the external auditor. There was no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee on the selection or appointment
of the external auditor. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
Company’s interim and annual consolidated financial statements
for the year and was content that such statements comply with
applicable accounting standards and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.
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The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee
meetings were held during the year and the attendance record of
the Audit Committee meetings is stated in the table under “The
Board” of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been in place since March 2012
and now consists of three members, includes the Executive
Director, being Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (chairman of Nomination
Committee) and three Independent Non-executive Directors,
being Mr. Xu Lin Bao, Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny and Mr. Yeung
Wing Sun Mike. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
formulating policy and making recommendations to the Board
on nominations, appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and Board succession. The principal duties of the Nomination
Committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy and accessing the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors. The Company has adopted new terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee in March 2016 to conform
with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available both on the websites of the Company
and the HKEXx.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the diversity, structure, size and composition of the Board,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors and made
recommendations to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Nomination
Committee meeting was held during the year and the attendance
record of the Nomination Committee meeting is stated in the table
under “The Board” of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

While the Board is and remains principally responsible for the
corporate governance functions of the Company, it has delegated
the relevant duties to the Executive Committee to ensure the
proper performance of corporate governance functions of the
Company. In this connection, the terms of reference of the
Executive Committee includes various duties relating to corporate
governance matters which are set out in paragraph “Executive
Committee” of this report.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board and the Audit Committee are responsible for
developing and maintaining the system of internal controls of
the Group to protect shareholders’ interest and to safeguard the
Group’s assets by setting appropriate policies and reviewing
the effectiveness of major control procedures for financial,
operational, compliance and risk management areas. During the
year, the Company has engaged an independent professional
firm to perform an internal control review of the Group. The Board
and the Audit Committee have reviewed the effectiveness of
the Group’s system of internal controls on all major operations,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions, and have considered the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial function, and their training programs and
budget, by reviewing the internal audit reports prepared by the
independent professional firm and management letters submitted
by external auditor. Also, the Board and the Audit Committee met
with the internal and external auditors and management to discuss
findings from their works and resolution. The Board and the Audit
Committee considered that the system of internal controls was
operating effectively during the year.

The Company has set up a corporate practices committee in
May 2013, chaired by Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy. The committee is
responsible for risk assessment and management in preventing
or reducing operational risk that might damage the Group’s
value. The committee chairman periodically reviews with the
Chief Financial Officer and other members of the leadership team
about the procurement policy, credit policy and other policies and
reports to the Board of any finding, as appropriate. The Director of
Financial Planning and Risk Analysis focuses on risk identification
and ensures high priority issues are aggressively tackled and cost
is effectively managed, thereby minimizing risks and allowing the
Group’s objectives to be achieved optimally.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of
the Company, provided the following services to the Group and
their respective fees charges are set out below:

Types of services
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HK$'000

Audit fee for the Group REEEZER 2,432
Taxation services %R 110
Special engagements FFRIIEE 5,140
Total kS 7,682
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts which were prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. A statement
by the auditor about its reporting responsibilities is set out in the
independent auditor’s report included in this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Group is committed to promoting transparency and
maintaining effective communication with shareholders, investors,
analysts and the press. The Company has its shareholder’s
communication policy established to ensure effective and timely
dissemination of information to shareholders and the investment
community. The management periodically meets with existing and
potential investors to make corporate presentations. The Group
also promotes communications with non-institutional shareholders
through public announcements of key developments of the
Company as prescribed under the Listing Rules, annual general
meeting and other general meetings of the Company. Such
general meetings are presided over and led by the Chairman,
supported by other Directors. The Company’s user-friendly
website, http://www.hkshalliance.com, provides investors with the
latest news, corporate profile, business information and financial
information including announcements, circulars and annual and
interim reports.

CG Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-
executive directors and non-executive directors, as equal
board members, should attend general meetings and develop
a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Due to
other important engagement at the relevant time, one Independent
Non-executive Director was unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 21st August 2015. However,
all the Directors attended the special general meeting of the
Company held on 26th November 2015.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman, the Board and
Board Committees by ensuring good information flow within the
Board and that Board policy and procedures are followed. The
Company Secretary reports to the Board and assists the Board
in functioning effectively and efficiently. The Company Secretary
also advises the Board on governance matters and facilitates the
induction and professional development of Directors. All Directors
may call upon the Company Secretary for advice and assistance
at any time in respect to their duties and the effective operation of
the Board and the Board Committees.

Ms. Lam Yee Fan is the Company Secretary of the Company.
She is a full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Ms. Lam undertook no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders. The Company encourages the shareholders to
attend general meetings and the Chairmen of the Board and the
Board Committees should attend annual general meeting (the
“AGM”") to answer questions.

(A) Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
said date.
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A meeting convened under this section by the requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened
by Directors. Any reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionists by reason of the failure of the Directors duly to
convene a meeting shall be repaid to the requisitionists by
the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
shareholder(s) to make requisition to the Company to give
notice to the shareholders in respect of any resolution which
is intended to be moved at an AGM of the Company or
circulate a statement in respect of any proposed resolution
or business to be considered at a general meeting of the
Company. Under section 79 of the Companies Act, at the
expense of the requisitionists unless the Company otherwise
resolves, it shall be the duty of the Company on the
requisition in writing by such number of shareholders:

(a) to give to the shareholders entitled to receive notice
of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting;

(b) to circulate to the shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting sent to them any statement of
not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to
be dealt with at that meeting.

The number of shareholders necessary to make the above-
mentioned requisitions to the Company shall be:

(a) either any number of shareholders representing not less
than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right
to vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or

(b) not less than one hundred shareholders.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and
any such statement shall be circulated, to shareholders
entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by
serving a copy of the resolution or statement on each such
shareholder in any manner permitted for service of notice of
the meeting, and notice of any such resolution shall be given
to any other shareholder by giving notice of the general
effect of the resolution in any manner permitted for giving him
notice of meetings of the Company, provided that the copy
shall be served, or notice of the effect of the resolution shall

(B)

AR S
e E/n#&%

HAERLARARZBRRERIASAER N
EERAMSAZEREAGHR - EFEE
ERAZEARBRREIIANGMm I BHERA
IR zEEER BARARRAEERGHK
Ao

RBERASRERZE

RAVEFRTIRB0GEAFFE TRRAELAR
AR RBFAG LR ZEMRER
ARRFELBERRERARBARRARE L
ERZEMEZRBZRRNEFRER N
- REBERFEFTIR - BRIEARFRITH
ReRBBRBERREFELEAGKE AR
ABRT(EABAFERARE)

(a) MARKRBRTEBRREFASESE 2K
REHBEE  UWEHMAERZAE LE
A Bk M B T DRER

(b) MABAEKRITMRBRREASES ZREE
B rBB—TFzRlE - AEM
ZARG T EMEHEREREMEETRE
BRIR 2 FIH ©

AARBELIA EERAFZRREE S

(a) HEREAFATINE2RBER(EEA
RBERFERRRE LREZ ) 8%
ER_ D2 EFZBBRR 3K

(b) FOR—EERHE -

THZERTRER 2BEREAZFRA
T ERBREDEHAS 2 RR(AMERE
MREGRBE N BRORERIRA
EZRIA  XEEZERR)BELHEH =
REEREMERERERNZSREAR B
& AANEFARAZERREHLART
ERBEZHA  AEFLAEZFRERA
B2BE BREARNZRETARNZFTRE
RABBE 2B TARTBERME) » B
HEERBEHHZHAMER - MXERE D

Annual Report 2015/16 £ 2§

39



40

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

i

(%)

Sz Aste S/ +
E/n#&%

be given, as the case may be, in the same manner and, so
far as practicable, at the same time as notice of the meeting
and, where it is not practicable for it to be served or given at
that time, it shall be served or given as soon as practicable
thereafter.

Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions to
be met before the Company is bound to give any notice of
resolution or to circulate any statement. Pursuant to section
80 of the Companies Act, the Company shall not be bound to
give notice of any resolution or to circulate any statement as
mentioned in the above unless:

(a) a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists,
or two or more copies which between them contain the
signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited at the
registered office of the Company:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before the
meeting; and

(i) in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one week before the meeting; and

(b) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition a sum
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expense
in giving effect to the procedures in the above (i.e.
the giving of notice of resolution and/or circulation of
statement).

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the registered
office of the Company, an AGM is called for a date six weeks
or less after the copy has been deposited, the copy though
not deposited within the above-mentioned time shall be
deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes
thereof.

Making Enquiry

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited of 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. For other enquiries,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company, for
the attention of Company Secretary by mail to Rooms 1103-
05, 11/F, East Town Building, 41 Lockhart Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director

are

made available at the Company’s website (http://www.

hkshalliance.com).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are pleased to present
their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31st March 2016 (the “year”).

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

The English name of the Company has been changed from
“Van Shung Chong Holdings Limited” to “Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited” and the Chinese name of “JE&H&
TREBEBR /AR " has been adopted as the Company's secondary
name following the passing of the special resolution at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 26th November 2015.

The Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name and the
Certificate of Secondary Name were both issued by the Registrar
of Companies in Bermuda on 4th December 2015. The Certificate
of Registration of Alternation of Name of Registered Non-Hong
Kong Company was issued by the Registrar of Companies in
Hong Kong on 21st December 2015 confirming the registration
of the Company’s new English and Chinese names in Hong Kong
under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in stockholding and distribution
of construction materials such as steel products; trading of
sanitary wares, kitchen cabinets and engineering plastics; steel
recycling and property business.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment information by
business segment and geographical market are set out in Note 5
to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March 2016
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 63 of
this annual report.

An interim dividend of HK1.8 cents per ordinary share of HK$0.10
each in the capital of the Company (the “Share(s)”) was declared
and paid during the year. The Board has recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per Share for the year.
Total dividend payable for the year will amount to HK2.8 cents per
Share or approximately HK$17,950,000 (2015: HK$46,785,000).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s business as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) covering an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators, the
future development in the Group’s business, the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group, the Group’s environmental
policies and performance and its compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations are provided in the “Highlights”, “Chairman’s
Statements” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report, which shall form an integral part of this “Report of
the Directors”.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31st March 2016, there were 640,636,052 ordinary shares of
the Company issued and fully paid. As at the date of this report,
there were 641,882,674 ordinary shares of the Company issued
and fully paid.

Details of share capital of the Company are set out in Note 32 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Movements in reserves and retained earnings of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in Note 34 and Note 41
to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

As at 31st March 2016, approximately HK$53,986,000 (2015:
HK$53,986,000) of the Company’s reserves and approximately
HK$29,930,000 (2015: HK$21,136,000) of the Company’s retained
earnings were available for distribution to its equity holders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st March 2016, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND LAND USE
RIGHTS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and land use rights of the Group during
the year are set out in Notes 14, 15 and 16, respectively, to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are set out in Notes 19, 20 and 21, respectively, to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings as at 31st March 2016 are set out in
Note 31 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 8 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations of
approximately HK$408,200 (2015: HK$707,000).

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company who held office during the year and
up to the date of this report are as follow:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) ™"
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace ™?
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu @
Mr. Frank Mufioz ¥
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Dong Sai Ming Fernando

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

Notes:
1. appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 25th November 2015.
2. appointed as an Executive Director on 25th November 2015.

3. resigned as an Executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer on 25th November 2015.

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms.
Luk Pui Yin Grace and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu, who were appointed as
Directors by the Board on 25th November 2015, will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at such meeting.

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Xu Lin Bao and Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike will retire from office
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at such meeting.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group which

is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2016, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were
required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in Shares and options of the Company

ESEHRE
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BESFRBEROIEXVEETRESDE LA
EARFNBEEBAXSMAR AT ([BEAA])
(BREBREES NREEIZZERTERRBH/IR
1R 2R FORR) + 3 (b) MRS ARIRRE 7 K
HEGPIFEI2ETUFEZERLMA - ()R
IRE R AE s EWARRI(T ETAR R D S+ ArEl 2
ERETAEFETESFRINRETR([1RESF
A ) BAME AR T MR P 2 #ess MoK B #51 1A
I

ERRAZRORBEREZFA

Number of
Attributable interest Number of Approximate  share options Aggregate
Name of Directors Capacity to the Directors Shares percentage (Note c) interest
BREHA
£33 at BZRIER RG#HE BRED )
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew Interest of controlled Deemed interest 89,337,806 13.95% — 89,337,806
corporation, Perfect Capital (indirectly)
International Corp. (Note a)
B R 7 Perfect Capital RR(ERE ER
International Corp. (47t a) (A%)
Interest of controlled Deemed interest 190,424,000 29.72% — 190,424,000
corporation, Huge Top (indirectly)
Industrial Ltd.
(Note b)
FiE4 A& Huge Top Industrial  1EB/ERE 213
Ltd. (47:2b) (Ri%)
Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 3,918,000 0.61% 1,869,932 5,787,932
ERHEAA 100% (B#%)
283,679,806 44.28% 1,869,932 285,549,738
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — — 4,493,244 4,493,244
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100% (%)
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Number of
Attributable interest Number of Approximate  share options Aggregate
Name of Directors Capacity to the Directors Shares percentage (Note c) interest
BREHA
ESpA at ESE(RE RGHE BRED L (Hrtc) AR
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — — 2,371,285 2,371,285
At EREAA 100% (E#)
Mr. Dong Sai Ming Fernando  Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 213,000 0.03% 249,324 462,324
et EGZEEA 100% (B%)
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — — 1,246,622 1,246,622
BRERE ERAERA 100% (5%)
Mr. Xu Lin Bao Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — — 1,246,622 1,246,622
RHERE ERHBA 100% (B%)
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — — 1,246,622 1,246,622
AEERE EHEAA 100% (B%)
Notes: BiEr

a. Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”) was beneficially interested
in these Shares through his wholly-owned company, Perfect
Capital International Corp. (“Perfect Capital”).

b. Mr. Yao was deemed to be interested in these Shares through
his controlling company, Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (“Huge Top”).
Mr. Yao directly held approximately 11.90% (changed to 17.86%
in April 2016) and indirectly through his wholly-owned company
Perfect Capital owned approximately 42.86% of the issued
shares of Huge Top. Mr. Yao is a director of Huge Top.

C. Details of the interests of the Directors in the share options of
the Company are separately disclosed in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2016, none of the
Directors, chief executives of the Company and their associates
had any personal, family, corporate or other interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (include interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the
18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate, and no Directors or chief executives or their respective
spouses or children under 18 years of age had been granted any
right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company nor
exercised any such right.

PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
DIVISIONS 2 AND 3 OF PART XV OF THE SFO

Other than interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above, as at 31st March 2016, according to the
register of interests kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO, the following entities had interests or short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

ESEHRE

B Lt ESN - RAFEERERE - AR SHEEM
MIE QAN AT AL AMEEERWF 2
AEERTN\BEATZFRAREBBEARRAR
TR EMEABRE RO ERZMETED - M
EEARMTRABRREZ B ZBBRT BN
T2 FRBERFR TN ARBARRRANKE
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REFHERPERMNEXVEEFE2RFES
DTHMEEARBREIRBEZAL

Br EXTESRED - D REEE Z#s R
KB —ERRBEZ RN RZE—RF=A
=+—B BARFARERSF I E K336
FFERBLCM LS - T EEBR KD KA
B EAREES LR EROIEXVEE2 MES
DEBARARRBRE 2 ERIRE

Number of Approximate
Capacity Shares percentage
g4 RGEE BHNES K
Perfect Capital Beneficial owner 89,337,806 13.95%
BEmfaA
Interest of controlled corporation 1 190,424,000 29.72%
REH AR 2w
279,761,806 43.67%
Huge Top Beneficial owner 190,424,000 29.72%
EmBEBEA
Ms. Yao Che Li Miriam (“Ms. Yao”) Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.31%
woRF 2+ ([#k%+ 1) EnfEA
Interest of controlled corporation 2 190,424,000 29.72%
BN 2 S
192,424,000 30.03%
Mr. Wong Koon Chi Beneficial owner 38,224,000 5.97%

TRZEE EmEAA
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Notes:

1. These Shares were held by Huge Top. Perfect Capital owned
approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top and
therefore was deemed to be interested in these Shares.

2. These Shares were held by Huge Top. Ms. Yao was one of the
two directors of Huge Top while the other director is her brother
Mr. Yao. She was therefore deemed to be interested in these
Shares. Ms. Yao resigned as a director of Huge Top in April
2016.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2016, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons (other than Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted since 12th November 2001
(the “2001 Share Option Scheme”) was terminated on 11th August
2011 and a share option scheme had been adopted since 11th
August 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”) at the 2011
annual general meeting of the Company. Upon termination of the
2001 Share Option Scheme, no further options will be granted
thereunder but in all other respects the provisions of the 2001
Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and all options granted
prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance therewith. The purpose of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme is to provide incentives to participants to contribute to the
Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group. The 2011 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption
date i.e. 11th August 2011 and will expire on 10th August 2021.
Details of the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme were
contained in the Company’s circular dated 8th July 2011.

Details of the movements in the share options granted to the
Company’s employees (including Directors) under the 2001 Share
Option Scheme and 2011 Share Option Scheme during the year
were as follows:
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

2001 Share Option Scheme —EE-FEREE
Number of share options
BREHR
Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed Cancelled
Name or category price per Beginning during during during during
of participant Date of grant Validity period Share oftheyear  theyear  theyear  theyear  the year
SRERLAER RF¥EH Ba BREE £ ERRT  ERE FRAR Fhd#
Directors:
£
Mr. Yao Cho Fai 13th September 2006 13th September 2006 to HK$0.722 1 1,869,932 — — — — 1869932
Andrew 12th September 2016
i)yt ZEEAENRTER ZETAENATZRE 0.722% 7
e
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 13th September 2006 13th September 2006 to HK$0.722 1 124,663 — - - - 124,663
12th September 2016
b ZEESFAATER ZEEAEAATZRE 0.722/87
“E-REAATZE
Mr. Dong Sai Ming 13th September 2006 13th September 2006 to HK$0.722 1 249,324 - — - — 249324
Fernando 12th September 2016
Bt 5 ZEEAENATER ZEEAENATZAR 07227
“E-REAATZE
Mr. Tam King Ching ~ 19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to HK$0.626 1 1,246,622 — — — — 1,246,622
Kenny 18th June 2018
BREEE ZZI\ERATAE ZZENERATAAE 06267
“Z-\EXATNA
Mr. Xu Lin Bao 19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to HK$0.626 1 1,246,622 — — — — 1,246,622
18th June 2018
RIEEE ZZZN\FRATAE ZZEINERATARE 0.626 787
“Z-N\§XATIA
Sub-total 4,737,163 — — — —  4737,163
et
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

Number of share options
BREHA
Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed Cancelled
Name or category price per Beginning during during during during End of
of participant Date of grant Validity period Share Note oftheyear  theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear  the year
SRENRLER RFAH A BRAOKE /7 £ ERRT  ERAE ERXN  FAdH £X
Employees:
&
In aggregate 18th September 2009 18th September 2009 to HK$0.470 1 937,458 — — - — 937458
17th September 2019
it ZZIAENATNE ZEEAEAATNRE 04707
“E-NFAATER
In aggregate 13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to HK$0.404 1 13,089,528 — (4,000,000 - — 9,089,528
12th October 2019
Kt SETAFTATEA ZTEAFTATZEE 04MET
“I-NETATZH
Sub-total 14,026,986 — (4,000,000) — — 10,026,986
et
Others:
A
In aggregate 13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to HK$0.404 1 7,479,729 —  (4,363,176) - — 3,116,953
12th October 2019
#it “EENETATZE CERNETATZEE 0.404 7
“E-NFTATCA
Total of 2001 Share 26,243,878 — (8,363,176) — — 17,880,702

Option Scheme
“3T-FRRETE

st
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ESEHRE

2011 Share Option Scheme —E——FEREE
Number of share options
BREHR
Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed Cancelled
Name or category price per Beginning during during during during
of participant Date of grant Validity period Share Note oftheyear  theyear  theyear  theyear  the year
SRENEGRE  RFEM CEe ] BRAKE /M7 £ ERRT  ERE FRXY Fhd#
Directors:
£
Ms. Luk Pui Yin 27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1,2 2493244 - — — — 2493244
Grace 26th November 2023
BERAxL “F-IEF-AoTHR ZE-SEt-A-tcHE 10438
“ECCEt-ACTRA
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 2,000,000 - — - — 2,000,000
19th January 2025
“2-n§¥-AZtH “E-n§¥-AZTRZE 0928787
“F-RE-ATNA
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu  16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 1,4 1,246,622 - - - — 1,246,622
15th November 2022
Ardrs ZE-IZEH-AtAR ZE-ZET-ATREE 0537TER
ZBCET-AtTRE
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 1,000,000 — - — — 1,000,000
19th January 2025
“E2-R5-AZ1H “E2-IE-ACTRE 0.92877T
“Z-RE-ATNA
Mr. Tse Lung Wa  27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1 1,246,622 — - — — 1,246,622
Teddy 26th November 2023
MEEEE ZE-ZFF-AZTER ZE-ZFETACTHAE 10ER
I Sy o Sl WAV
Sub-fotal 7,986,488 — — — — 7,986,488
Nt

Annual Report 2015/16 4§ 51



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed Cancelled
Name or category price per Beginning during during during during End of
of participant Date of grant Validity period Share oftheyear  theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear  the year
SRENLARR RFEM BaE BRTREE £ ERRT  ERfE FRAN Fhd# £x
Employees:
8
In aggregate 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 1,5 6,831,486 — — — — 6,831,486
15th November 2022
#it ZE-ZF+-F+AR ZE-ZE+-ATARE 05TAR
“E2-CE+-AtEA
In aggregate 27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1,2 6,108,445 - —  (373,986) — 5,734,459
26th November 2023
it ZE-ZFt-AZTtR ZE-ZFt-A-THRE  1.043%T
ZECCFt-ACTRA
In aggregate 17th December 2013 17th December 2013 to HK$1.043 1,6 373,986 — — (373,986 —
16th December 2023
#it “E-TEYCRtER ZE-SFTZATHAE 1043%T
ZBCZETCATRE
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 7,400,000 — — (600,000) — 6,800,000
19th January 2025
it “E-RF-ACTR ZR-RF-ACTRE 098ER
“2-RF-ATAR
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 7 1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000
19th January 2025
it “E-n¥-ACtH “F-RF-ACtHE 0.9287
“ECRE-ATAB
Sub-fotal 21,713917 — — (1,347972) — 20,365,945
gt
Others:
A :
In aggregate Tth September 2012 Tth September 2012 to HK$0.393 1 1,247 - - - — 1,247
6th September 2022
#it “Z-ZENAtH “E-ZENALRE 0.398757
ZECZENARA
Total of 2011 Share 29,701,652 — — (1,347972) — 28,353,680

Option Scheme
“E——FhREtE

st
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Notes:

1. The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior
to 17th December 2014 under the share option schemes were
adjusted for the open offer completed in December 2014.

2. The share options were/will be vested in four tranches, with
each tranche covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e.
exercisable to the extent of one-fourth of the relevant options
and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche becoming exercisable
from 27th of November in the years 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017
respectively and the years onwards till 26th November 2023.

3. The share options will be vested in four tranches, with each
tranche covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e.
exercisable to the extent of one-fourth of the relevant options
and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche becoming exercisable
from 20th of January in the years 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019
respectively and the years onwards till 19th January 2025.

4. The share options were/will be vested in five tranches, with
each tranche covering one-fifth of the relevant options, i.e.
exercisable to the extent of one-fifth of the relevant options and
with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th tranche becoming exercisable
from 16th of November in the years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and
2016 respectively and the years onwards till 15th November
2022.

5. 4,986,487 share options were/will be vested in four tranches,
with each tranche covering one-fourth of the relevant options,
i.e. exercisable to the extent of one-fourth of the relevant options
and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche becoming exercisable
from 16th of November in the years 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016
respectively and the years onwards till 15th November 2022.
1,844,999 share options were/will be vested in five tranches,
with each tranche covering one-fifth of the relevant options, i.e.
exercisable to the extent of one-fifth of the relevant options and
with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th tranche becoming exercisable
from 16th of November in the years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and
2016 respectively and the years onwards till 15th November
2022.

6. The share options were/will be vested in four tranches, with
each tranche covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e.
exercisable to the extent of one-fourth of the relevant options
and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche becoming exercisable
from 17th of December in the years 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017
respectively and the years onwards till 16th December 2023.

7. The share options will be vested in three tranches, with
each tranche covering one-third of the relevant options, i.e.
exercisable to the extent of one-third of the relevant options and
with the 1st, 2nd and 3rd tranche becoming exercisable from
20th of January in the years 2016, 2017 and 2018 respectively
and the years onwards till 19th January 2025.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, the Directors shall be
indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they may
incur in connection with their duties. The Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the directors and officers of the Group.

ESEHRE

Hyat

1. REBREASNR -_ZT-—MOF+-A+EHZTT
EERREZEOHBEERRN T —MNE+ A%
Pz AR E LT

2. BREINHRE S HoRREEREERE
WmD 2 — (&S A{TERABERENES 2
) F— B FZRFENHSRR T M
FZT-HF ZEAFRZZFE—EFHT—
AZ+tBRATFIFE BEE_ZT-_=ZF+—A
ity 2N = N1

3. BERESNBRE S H53REEBEERED
Moz — (&%l T EEEREN YD 2 —)
F— B FoRENBESRRZZT—ARF =
T+ —E-NEFERZE-NFH—HA=1+H
A FIIE BEE T -_AF—A+ThBI1E-

4. BRESTHHRE 5§55 RERBERES
Fnz—(BISRZATEAEBRENTES Z—)
E— B F= FENRERHADIN=ZT—=
FT—=F FTNF - _ET-AFR-FT
—RNFOT—ATRARAITIIE BEE-T -
F+—A+RAL -

5. 4,986,487 R ERESD NEFEE - F— B9 5H
ZHRBAERENTD S 2 — (B &Z A 1T{E A BEER
BHODz—) E— FZ  EZRFEMNEASH
RIE—=F . _T—NF  _T—HFE_ZFT
—ANFHT—ATANBEAFIIE BEE-T -
F+—A+RBLE - 1,844,000 FIEMRIED AHIR
B E—Ho5REHERRENTES 2 — (A&
ZATERREBRENA I Z—) F— B2
F=  FURFEFRAPHIR=ZT—=F - ZT—=
FOZT—NF  _E-RAFR_T—AFH+—
A+ BEAFIE - BEE T - _F+—A+HA
ALk -

6. BRESNBHE S5 Ho5REEEBRED
Moz —(BN&Z Al 1T HBEEREN DS 2 —) -
F— B FZRBEEBHSRR-T—NF - =
T—hF - —E-RFERE-EFHNT-A++t
Bfa F17f B2 T -_=—F+ A+ Hi -

7. BRES=ZHRE B—HoRRESHEEERESN
=nz—(AxZa{TEEEBREN = Z—) -
F— BIREZHONINRZZT—RF ZFT—+
ER T NFEH—A-THRBAFITE BEEZ
T-HF—ATABL-

BRI RERX

REBEARRBZARAR - EFFEITEBA M I
ERBRAKEE  HARESHE - ARREA/A
EEEERSABELHRENEENGRBEE
ERE -

Annual Report 2015/16 £ 2§

53



54

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party or were parties
and in which a Director or any entities connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions are set out in Note 39 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31st March 2016, none of the Directors or the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete directly or indirectly with the businesses of the Group or
has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st March 2016, the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for less than 15% of the Group’s total
revenue, while the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted
for approximately 41% of the Group’s total purchases. In addition,
the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately
11% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in the five
largest suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicity available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for their re-appointment
as the Company’s auditor for the ensuing year is to be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. There was no change
in auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23rd June 2016
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew

aged 50, was appointed as an Executive Director in December
1994. He became the Chairman of the Board in July 1999 and
served as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company from
July 1999 to November 2012. Mr. Yao was re-appointed as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in November 2015.
He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Mr. Yao is an independent non-executive director of Kader
Holdings Company Limited which is a company listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
and EBRBLAASEE(EE)IRHER AT (Shanghai Dazhong
Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd.) which is a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Yao serves as the
Hong Kong Deputy to the 12th National People’s Congress
of the People’s Republic of China, the chairman of Shanghai
Hong Kong Association, the chairman of Hongkong-Shanghai
Economic Development Association, the council member
of Lingnan University in Hong Kong, the vice-chairman of
Shanghai Federation of Industry & Commerce and the board
member of Fudan University in Shanghai. He was awarded
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong” by Federation of
Hong Kong Industries in 2004, Justice of Peace by Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) in 2008 and “Bronze
Bauhinia Star” by HKSAR in 2016. Mr. Yao graduated from
the University of California, Berkeley with a bachelor’'s degree
in science and Harvard Graduate School of Business with a
master in business administration.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEAEREE

Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace

aged 51, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in November 2015. She is also the Chief Financial
Officer of the Group. Prior to joining the Group in May
2013, she was the chief operating officer and chief financial
officer of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited (listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited). Ms. Luk has over 10 years of private
equity experience and more than 25 years of financial
management experience in the Greater China region. During
the period from 1994 to 2001, Ms. Luk was the director and
financial controller of Kleinwort Benson China Management
Limited, the investment manager of the London-listed China
Investment & Development Fund. She was also the vice
president of Dresdner Kleinwort Capital, the private equity
arm of Dresdner Bank from 2001 to 2002. Ms. Luk was the
department head of the category financial management
department at Colgate-Palmolive (H.K.) Limited and was an
auditor at Arthur Andersen & Co in Hong Kong from 1988 to
1994. She graduated from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong with a bachelor’s degree in business administration. Ms.
Luk is a fellow of the UK Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate of both the UK Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in November 2015. He is also the managing director
of Hong Kong Steel and International Trading of the Group.
He joined the Group in June 1991. Mr. Lau is responsible for
the daily operations of the business of the Group and has
held various sales and marketing and supply chain positions
in the plastics and steel businesses of the Group. He was
the general manager of the Group’s plastic business from
April 2003 to November 2011 and the general manager of the
Group’s steel business from December 2011 to May 2013.
Mr. Lau graduated from Curtin University of Technology in
Australia with a bachelor’s degree in commerce (marketing
and management).
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Non-executive Director
Mr. Dong Sai Ming Fernando

aged 54, was re-designated as a Non-executive Director of
the Company in August 2012. He joined the Group in 1987
and was an Executive Director of the Company from January
1994 to September 1999 and from August 2002 to August
2012. He has over twenty years’ experience in international
trading. Mr. Dong was extensively involved in warehouse
management, property investment and the China operations of
the Group. He had also been assisting the Group to establish
new manufacturing facilities in both Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Mr. Dong is a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Guangzhou Huangpu District
Committee.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny

aged 67, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Directors in September 2004. He is also the chairman of
the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Tam also serves as an independent non-executive director
of seven other listed companies on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, namely, CCT Fortis
Holdings Limited, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited,
Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited, Starlite Holdings
Limited, West China Cement Limited, BeijingWest Industries
International Limited and CCT Land Holdings Limited. He is a
practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a
member of the Restructuring and Insolvency Faculty Executive
Committee, the Small and Medium Practitioners Committee
and the Insolvency SD Vetting Committee in the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was also a Past
President of The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors.
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EEREREEAEREE

Mr. Xu Lin Bao

aged 67, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2006. He is also the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr.
Xu is currently the vice chairman of the Institute of Real Estate
Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences. He served as the
standing executive of China Real Estate Association (the 4th
and 5th session), the chairman of operation and management
professional committee of China Real Estate Association (the
4th and 5th session), the chairman of Shanghai Housing and
Land Group, the vice chairman of Shanghai Real Estate Trade
Association (the 5th and 6th session) and the chairman of
executives of Yi-ju China Real Estate Research Center. He
graduated from Fudan University, Shanghai with a degree in
EMBA. Mr. Xu is a senior qualified economist.

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy

aged 52, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2012. He is also the
chairman of the Corporate Practice Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. Tse worked for Cargill Hong Kong Limited
since 1989 till March 2012 and his last position was senior
vice president of Cargill Ferrous International. Mr. Tse is the
vice chairman of Smart Timing Steel Limited since September
2012. He graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in art.
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Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

aged 63, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2014. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Yeung is an independent non-executive director
of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He
has over 40 years’ working experience in the banking industry.
Mr. Yeung began his career with the HSBC Group in 1972 and
advanced himself in the organisation by taking up different
positions under various business streams including personal
banking, sales and marketing, branch operation and trade
service. Since 2001, Mr. Yeung was relocated to Shanghai
and took up the role of branch manager of HSBC Shanghai.
In June 2006, he was seconded to Hang Seng Bank (China)
Limited and appointed as the head of personal financial
service and wealth management. Mr. Yeung assumed the
role of deputy chief executive and head of retail banking and
wealth management in May 2007. He retired from HSBC Group
in January 2014. Mr. Yeung is a member of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Committee in Shanghai and
the Honorary President of Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce
in Shanghai. He was awarded the “Magnolia Gold Award”
presented by the Shanghai Municipal government.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The abovementioned Executive Directors are members of
senior management of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B2 BENRE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HONG KONG SHANGHAI
ALLIANCE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS VAN SHUNG CHONG HOLDINGS
LIMITED)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Van Shung Chong Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries set out on pages 63 to 180, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st March
2016, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

BEBBEERERDARR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBENRE

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and
its subsidiaries as at 31st March 2016, and of their financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23rd June 2016

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

nVT\ j;=' \/'IEE

For the year ended 31st March 2016 #Z=

T XRE=A=t+—HItFE

2016 2015
—E—RE —ZE—hE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
P &E FERT FHET
Revenue A 5 3,380,161 3,868,393
Cost of sales $HE A 7 (2,964,591) (3,478,595)
Gross profit EF 415,570 389,798
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEZ M 7 (78,624) (68,833)
General and administrative —MRRITHXZ
expenses 7 (302,866) (193,043)
Other (losses)/gains — net Hin(E18), e — F8 6 (21,059) 15,938
Fair value gain on investment wEMEZ NFEEKE
property 15 199,514 204,108
Operating profit sERF 212,535 347,968
Finance income B FSURA 10 2,065 3,883
Finance costs s E A 10 (65,404) (59,150)
Share of results of associates FE(REE N E 2 EEA
— net — =m 20 (7,364) (1,056)
Share of results of joint ventures i B a2 EEA
— net — FE 21 4,437 1,930
Profit before income tax R F% A % A 146,269 293,575
Income tax expense FTiE B B 11 (75,005) (74,309)
Profit for the year FEEA 71,264 219,266
Attributable to: FEfh
Equity holders of the Company RAGIREREB A 70,105 215,533
Non-controlling interests FEF7E I M RE S 1,159 3,733
71,264 219,266
Earnings per ordinary share AT REFE AEML
attributable to the equity BREBRER
holders of the Company
Basic AR 13 HK10.95 cents #{l  HK39.72 cents /&1l
Diluted B 13 HK10.72 cents #fll  HK38.64 centsi&fll
The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial M RZEREVBHREEE 2 2 -

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AEZHERR

For the year ended 31st March 2016 2= — X "F=-A=+—HILFE

2016 2015
—E-XRE —ZT—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Profit for the year FEERN 71,264 219,266
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hih 2@ (EE) WA :
Items that may be subsequently reclassified HEZAEHFIEAER
to profit or loss: ZIEH
Change in fair value of available-for-sale AHEECHMBEEEZ
financial asset (Note 23) RN EBEZS(F223) (99) 175
Currency translation differences EEIEN =5 (43,438) 2,832
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for FEHMG2E(ER) WA
the year (43,537) 3,007
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZEBRALLE 27,727 222,273
Total comprehensive income attributable to: E{G2EUW AL :
— Equity holders of the Company — ARRIREREE A 26,568 218,513
— Non-controlling interests — JERE 1,159 3,760
27,727 222,273

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Asat31stl\/|arch2016 RZZE—R"F=ZA=+—H

2016 2015
—E-RF —E-RF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
P =E FET FAET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB R E 14 220,536 73,820
Investment property WA 15 1,311,600 1,144,634
Land use rights T AR 16 44,536 47,977
Intangible assets BV EE 17 80,178 85,786
Investments in associates HAﬁﬁf%’&ﬂZ&ﬁ 20 - 7,696
Investments in joint ventures REERTZIRE 21 148,108 135,159
Prepayments, deposits and other TERFIE - Ze Rk
receivables H th fE U BR 3K 27 286,316 32,735
Deferred income tax assets EEFTISTHE & 22 18,456 21,460
Available-for-sale financial asset AHEE B EE 23 487 458
2,110,217 1,549,725
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTFIA ~ e REAM
receivables JE W BR K 27 147,541 92,384
Inventories FE 25 175,634 320,015
Amounts due from joint ventures U S &N FIBR R 21 15,593 4,468
Trade and bill receivables JEUERF R E & 26 461,717 553,352
Financial assets at fair value through XA FEBEFAEBZRZ
profit or loss IS EE 24 15,630 7,989
Pledged bank deposits BEEBIRITER 28 59,166 38,876
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeEE 28 546,261 354,997
1,421,542 1,372,081
Total assets EEHARE 3,531,759 2,921,806
Equity R
Capital and reserves attributable to A2 FRERFE AEMN
equity holders of the Company BRAR #iE
Share capital N 32 64,064 63,227
Reserves & 34 995,360 1,007,954
1,059,424 1,071,181
Non-controlling interest FEEFI R 2,079 920

Total equity A 1,061,503 1,072,101

Annual Report 2015/16 42§ 65



66

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e AR AR (A1)

As at 31st March 2016 A-Z—~NF=A=+—H

2016 2015
—E-REF —T—hF
Note HK$’000 HKSB 000
P & FET FAT
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities RBEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables [E&t B (& [ Hith B~ BR 3¢ 30 10,755 7,520
Deferred income tax liabilities FEFEH ARG 22 200,438 158,594
Borrowings ge 31 1,140,423 565,539
1,351,616 731,653
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and bill payables FER R R R& 29 132,581 151,604
Receipts in advance TEW IR 36,688 27,986
Accrued liabilities and other payables [Ext & (& [ H {th B~ BR 3¢ 30 83,233 40,577
Current income tax liabilities SHFGHAaE 14,177 14,942
Borrowings =94 31 851,961 882,943
1,118,640 1,118,052
Total liabilities aEEE 2,470,256 1,849,705
Total equity and liabilities BERkAEHE 3,531,759 2,921,806
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the EAMBERERER _E—RENA-_T=-HEEES
Board of Directors on 23rd June 2016 and were signed on its FZE - WRKEE
behalf.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew Luk Pui Yin Grace
k18 i B il 2R
Chairman Executive Director
L3 HMITES
The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial W RZEHREMBHRRERE . —HD -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAREBBE

For the year ended 31st March 2016 HZ2=Z— X XF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AARBRRESAAEE

Non-
Share Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserves earnings Total interests equity
FEHE 1
B HibfEE REEF Fok s meE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET THT THT THT THT
(Note 32) (Note 34) (Note 34)
(Fizr32)  (MaE34)  (MisE34)
As at 1st April 2014 R-E-NFEMA—H 41,770 509,377 230,045 781,192 440 781,632
Profit for the year ERHF - — 215533 215,533 3733 219,266
Other comprehensive income Hf2EKA
— Change in fair value — L E BB EE
of available-for-sale ZATEERY
financial asset (FizE23)
(Note 23) . 175 - 175 - 175
— Currency translation — BBELES
differences — 2,805 = 2,805 27 2,832
Total comprehensive income EXEIONE — 2,980 215,533 218,513 3,760 222,273
Contributions by and rEBREAZEE
distributions to owners REBZDK
of the Group recognised EERNER
directly in equity i
Appropriation of statutory REZE R
reserves — 1,868 (1,868) — — —
Lapse of share options KA AR — (323) 323 — — —
Share-based payment PABR 19 AR 2 32 1+ — 1,237 — 1,237 — 1,237
Issuance of shares under open BEAREEETRA
offer 21,076 79,639 — 100,715 — 100,715
Exercise of share options TR AR 381 1,488 — 1,869 — 1,869
Dividends paid to equity ERARARREREA
holders of the Company ZRE
— 2014 final dividend — —Z-MERHRE - - (17,484)  (17,484) - (17,484)
— 2015 interim dividend — T -RFFHRE — — (14,753) (14,753) — (14,753)
Dividend paid to a non- EN—RRBARZ
controlling shareholder — R FEFEIME AR R
of a subsidiary ZIRE — — — — (2,800) (2,800)
Total contributions by and AEBEHEFAZFE
distributions to owners REGZHIK
of the Group ks 21,457 83,909 (33,782) 71,584 (2,800) 68,784
Change in ownership interest R—EHBEA Rz HHE
in a subsidiary without EHZSEBmEHErS
change of control
Acquisition of non-controlling ~ UREEFEim IR
interests (Note 37) (PtzE37) — — (108) (108) (480) (588)
Total change in ownership R—TAMB AR 2 HEHE
interest in a subsidiary R mR NS
without change of control 1B — — (108) (108) (480) (588)
As at 31st March 2015 R-ZE-RF=H=1+—-H 63,227 596,266 411,688 1,071,181 920 1,072,101
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
mERmEER(E)

For the year ended 31st March 2016 2= — X "F=-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RARARERE AR
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserves earnings Total interests equity
F I
R Hftf#fE REBF Eok B BREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TR TR TR TER TR
(Note 32) (Note 34) (Note 34)
(MaE32) (& 34) (HzE34)
As at 1st April 2015 R-E-RFENA-A 63,227 596,266 411,688 1,071,181 920 1,072,101
Profit for the year FERA — — 70,105 70,105 1,159 71,264
Other comprehensive (loss))  Et2E(FE), /KA
income
— Change in fair value — A E 7B EE
of available-for-sale ZATEERY
financial asset (FizE23)
(Note 23) — (99) — (99) (99)
— Currency translation — EBERZSE
differences — (43,438) - (43,438) (43,438)
Total comprehensive income FEMARE - (43,537) 70,105 26,568 27,727
Contributions by and rEEREAZEE
distributions to owners REBZAIK
of the Group recognised EENER
directly in equity i
Appropriation of statutory REZE R
reserves — (81) 81 — —
Lapse of share options E WA — (141) 141 — -
Share-based payment MARR R A 2 A - 1,859 — 1,859 1,859
Exercise of share options 1TEEE R 837 2,542 - 3,379 3,379
Dividends paid to equity BAARDRREZEEA
holders of the Company ZIRE
— 2015 final dividend — ZE-AERHRE - - (32,032)  (32,032) (32,032)
— 2016 interim dividend — 2 REFHRE — — (11,531) (11,531) (11,531)
Total contributions by and AEERBEAZEE
distributions to owners RERZ DK
of the Group e 837 4179  (43341)  (38,325) (38,325)
As at 31st March 2016 RZE-RE=H=1+—-H 64,064 556,908 438,452 1,059,424 1,061,503
The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial MRz Sira s e

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

n‘/TAIEIE/)ILE%:Z

For the year ended 31st March 2016 #Z=

T XRE=A=t+—HItFE

FLOWS

2016 2015
—R"EF —E-RE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B zE FEx FET
Cash flows from operating activities =~ EEZBHIRERE
Cash generated from operations REEEZES 35(a) 256,359 62,001
Interest received E%Zﬂ 2,065 3,883
Interest paid B FIE (60,364) (55,206)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERNEBMER (15,718) (10,393)
China corporate income tax paid BRI EAEH (6,707) (12,568)
Net cash generated from/(used in) EEEES ) (FTA)Z
operating activities e FH 175,635 (12,283)
Cash flows from investing activities REZH RERE
Purchase of property, plant and BEME  BERR
equipment (149,245) (38,849)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEMXE - BEREHZ
plant and equipment FT{S k38 35(h) 598 998
Deposit paid for acquisition of an WE— TR E R
investment property BEfkE 27 (259,231) —
Capital expenditures for an investment ~ —E&REYEZER
property 53 15 (28,710) (9,262)
Net proceed from disposal of an HE—HREME
investment property FS A 35(c) — 22,572
Acquisition of a business W —Ta %% 36 — (7,844)
Investment in a joint venture BERRIRE 21 (19,500) (132,114)
Purchase of available-for-sale financial  B&E At H &~ B#%
asset BE 23 (128) —
Net purchase of financial assets at fair ~BERATEET AR
value through profit or loss S EETE (4,670) (7,711)
Distributions from an associate —FHE & DR Z Dk 20 — 228,484
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing ~®R&EB(RLE),/HALZ
activities ReF8 (460,886) 56,274
Cash flows from financing activities = BEEHRERE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERZ ISR 964,069 251,668
Repayment of bank loans ERBTER (358,112) (356,211)
Net decrease in trust receipt bank EEIREITERZ
loans FR D (62,731) (22,615)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank BIRIRRITER (M),
deposits Vi (20,290) 582
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WX FEH il A 2% 37 — (588)
Dividends paid to equity holders ERARRAIREFEA
of the Company ZBRE (43,563) (32,237)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling BEN—FNBRRZ— 1
shareholder of a subsidiary FEFEHIMERR R 2 B B — (2,800)
Issuance of shares BT M 32 — 100,715
Exercise of share options IR 3,379 1,869
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BmEFERAORE)Z
financing activities HeFE 482,752 (59,617)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash RERRESE M,/
equivalents OR) 197,501 (15,626)
Cash and cash equivalents, FHzRekREEE
beginning of the year 354,997 370,528
Currency translation differences B R ER (6,237) 95
Cash and cash equivalents, FrrRekAE2EE
end of the year 546,261 354,997
The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial sk B RS IR IR Y —25 o

statements.
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General information

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Van Shung Chong Holdings Limited) (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda on 12th January 1994 as an exempted company
under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The shares of
the Company have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 18th February
1994. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. By
special resolution passed on 26th November 2015, the
name of the Company was changed from Van Shung Chong
Holdings Limited to Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings
Limited.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
principally engaged in stockholding and distribution of
construction materials such as steel products; trading of
sanitary wares, kitchen cabinets and engineering plastics;
steel recycling and property business.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 23rd June 2016.

Summary of significant accounting
policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation

2 FESHEERBMEGAE)

2.1 REEE

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”). They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial
asset, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and investment property, which are carried at fair
values.

The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed
in Note 4.

(a) The Group has adopted the following new, revised
and amended standards and interpretations to
existing standards (“new HKFRS”) that have been
issued and are effective for the Group’s accounting
year beginning on or after 1st April 2015:

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Defined Benefit Plans: Employee

Contributions
Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to HKFRSs issued
2010 - 2012 Cycle in January 2014

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to HKFRSs issued
2011 - 2013 Cycle in January 2014

The adoption of the above new HKFRSs did not
result in substantial changes to the accounting
policies of the Group and had no material effect on
how the results and financial position for the current
or prior accounting periods have been prepared
and presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR R R

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

The following new, revised and amended standards
and interpretations to existing standards that are
effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group:

HKAS 1 (Amendment)

HKAS 16 and HKAS 38

(Amendment)

HKAS 16 and HKAS 41

(Amendment)

HKAS 27 (Amendment)

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

(Amendment)

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 28 (Amendment)

HKFRS 11 (Amendment)

Disclosure Initiative (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1st
January 2016)

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation (effective
for annual periods beginning on or after
1st January 2016)

Agriculture: Bearer Plants (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after
1st January 2016)

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st January 2016)

Financial Instruments (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after
1st January 2018)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture (effective for annual periods: to
be determined)

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after
1st January 2016)

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after
1st January 2016)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

The following new, revised and amended standards
and interpretations to existing standards that are
effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group: (Continued)

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January 2016)

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(effective for annual periods beginning

on or after 1st January 2018)

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16 Leases (effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1st January 2019)

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in October 2014 (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1st
January 2016)

The Group has commenced an assessment of
the impact of these new, revised and amended
standards and interpretation to existing standards,
but is not yet in a position to state whether they
would have a significant impact on its results of
operations and financial position.

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)

In addition, as the Company is incorporated
outside Hong Kong, according to the listing rule
requirements of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts
and Audit” of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into operation during
the financial year, as a result, there are changes to
presentation and disclosures of certain information
in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR R R

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries
(a) Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has right to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(i) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill
(Note 2.8). If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RS ER R MR

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)  Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the

Group’s accounting policies.

(b) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s

net assets including goodwill.

2.3 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’'s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date
of acquisition. The Group’s investments in associates

include goodwill identified on acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

BRI

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.3

2.4

Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves
is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate
and its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to “share of results of associates — net” in the
consolidated income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 — Joint Arrangements
to all joint arrangements. Under HKFRS 11,
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures depending on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The
Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements
and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures
are accounted for using the equity method.

investments
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nVT\

BRI

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

24

2.5

Joint arrangements (Continued)

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensive income. The Group’s investments in
joint ventures include goodwill identified on acquisition.
Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint
venture, any difference between the cost of the joint
venture and the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of
losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests
in the joint ventures (which includes any long-term
in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint
ventures.

interests that,

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as
the executive directors that make strategic decisions.
Information relating to segment assets and liabilities is
not disclosed as such information is not reported to the
CODM.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the
The consolidated financial statements

“functional
currency”).
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement. All foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “other (losses)/gains — net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets, such as equities classified as available for
sale, are included in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 FEREHBERMEGE)

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.6 HMEBE(E)
(c) FEARF

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

(iii) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised as a separate component of
other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation difference is
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

BRI

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, is stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated income statement during
the financial year in which they are incurred.

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:

2% to 20%
20% to 33%
15% to 33%
10% to 25%
10% to 20%

— Buildings

— Leasehold improvements
— Furniture and equipment
— Machinery

— Motor vehicles and vessels

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within “general and administrative expenses”
in the consolidated income statement.

Construction in progress represents a plant under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
loss, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the
direct costs of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred over the Group’s interest in net fair
value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair
value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Distribution rights

Distribution rights acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair values at the acquisition
date. Distribution rights have a finite useful life and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of distribution rights over
their estimated useful life of 10 years.

Favorable lease terms (i.e. use right of car park)

Use right of car park acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair values at the
acquisition date. Use right of car park has a finite
useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of use right
of car park over its estimated useful life of 20 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR R R

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.9 Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights are
accounted for as operating leases. They are recognised
in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line
basis over the periods of the land use rights, or when
there is impairment, the impairment is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

2.10 Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields
or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by the companies in the Group. Land held
under operating leases are classified and accounted for
as investment property when the rest of the definition of
investment property is met. In such case, the operating
lease is accounted for as if it were a finance lease.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost,
including related transaction costs. After initial
recognition, investment property is carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined at each
reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is based
on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for
any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If this information is not available,
the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as
recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections. Changes in fair values are recorded
in consolidated income statement as part of a valuation
gain or loss in “other (losses)/gains — net”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example
goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.

2.12 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-
sale. The classification depends on the purposes
for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.

(i)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are financial assets held for trading.
A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. Assets in this category
are classified as current assets if expected to
be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they
are classified as non-current.

2 FESHEERBMEGAE)

211 FUMBEEZRE

BERETERABARZEEDINEE)HBA
B EABFETRENE BEBAEN
HENREBEERRESEALLD AT
B BEERETRERN -BERES
BHEBHEAWE SR 2 BARAERSRERS
Be-rmlmeBEAEERAFEERDENX
AEFREE2HAZRSE - Sl fERE
mE BESHAEAPRABIIRSRECR
SEEEMN) RERER - BEAINMIRE
BZMBEESRNSERE ARAGE
Bl 2 BEEITERE

212 BIBEE
(a) ##E

AEBBEPBEEES RATER
BATEEFARSE  ERREWRER
FIARFHEE o EDETBURR I
BUBKEEZBEN - EEEERNTT
HRRETHEMBEEDSE

(1) BRFEEGARZZHEEE

BRAFEEAABRZMBEE
REBEEEZWBEE - AT
BV BEETRENRER
HAHE AN ESILESR - 07
ETANRGRSEAREESR
HERRFETE A SRR B BIBRIN © 1tk
BHEERBRHET —BARNSG
g ANBARY: BRAINES
R -

Annual Report 2015/16 42§

83



84

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(a) Classification (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise
“trade and bill receivables”, “deposits and
other receivables”, “amounts due from joint
ventures”, “pledged bank deposits” and “cash
and cash equivalents” in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Available-for-sale financial asset

Available-for-sale financial asset is non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within 12
months of the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(b) Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date — the
date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair
value and transaction costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial asset and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently carried at fair values. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” category are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, within “other
(losses)/gains — net” in the period in which they
arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised in the
income statement as part of “other (losses)/gains
— net” when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

BRI

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the company or the counterparty.

2.13 Impairment of financial assets

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
“loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications
that the debtors or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation, and where observable data
indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.13 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

For loans and receivables category, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is also evidence that the assets are
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial asset, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss — is reclassified from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in the consolidated income statement
on equity instruments are not reversed through the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR R R

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.14 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The method
of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being
hedged. Since the derivative instruments entered into
by the Group do not qualify for hedge accounting,
changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments
are recognised immediately in the consolidated income
statement within “other (losses)/gains — net”.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out method. It excludes borrowing costs. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and
other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits
held at call with banks with original maturities of three
months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.18 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.19 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

2.20 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisitions, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which
they are incurred.

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to item recognised directly in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 FEREHBERMEGE)

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.22 EMIRIREE TS ()

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from initial recognition of
goodwill. The deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, except for deferred income tax liability
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the
Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates and joint
ventures. Only when there is an agreement in
place that gives the Group the ability to control
the reversal of the temporary difference in the
foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the
associates and joint ventures’ undistributed profits
is not recognised.

(b) Deferred income tax (b) EBEEZFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Outside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.23 Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligation

The Group operates defined contribution plan. The
schemes are generally funded through payments to
insurance companies or trustee-administered funds.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance plans on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The
Group recognises termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to a termination when the
entity has a detailed formal plan to terminate the
employment of current employees without possibility
of withdrawal. In the case of an offer made to
encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination
benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits
falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to their present value.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonus. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long
service payments to its employees upon termination
of their employment or retirement when the
employees fulfill certain circumstances under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amount
of future benefit that employees have earned in
return for their service in the current and prior
periods. The obligation is reduced by entitlements
accrued under the Group’s retirement plan that are
attributable to contributions made by the Group.
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2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.24 Share-based payments

2 FESHBEMEGE)

224 IR RER 232

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value
of the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of the options granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining
an employee of the entity over a specified time
period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to
save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to
be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the
purposes of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to vest based on the non-marketing performance and
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision of original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
income statement with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2 FESHEERBMEGAE)

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.24 Share-based payments (Continued) 224 R RER 22N (&)

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary in the Group
is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of
employee services received, measured by reference to
the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary, with
a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity
accounts.

2.25 Provision

Provisions for environment restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and employee
termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.
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2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

2.26 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of
discounts, returns and value added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities as described below. The Group bases its
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement.

Revenue is recognised as follows:

(a) Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a group entity
has delivered products to the customer, the customer
has full discretion over channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products. Delivery does not occur until the products
have been shipped to the specified location, the risk
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group
has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.

(b) Service income

For sales of services, revenue is recognised
in accounting period in which the services are
rendered, by reference to stage of completion of
the specific transaction and assessed on the basis
of actual services provided as a proportion of the
total service to be provided.

(c) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is
recognised in consolidated income statement on
a straight-line basis over the period of the relevant
leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FESTBERBEGE)

policies (Continued)

2.27 Interest income 2.27 M B WA
Interest income is recognised using the effective FEWARZERF R EER - MERRE
interest method. When a loan and receivable is WEEFREIRRE  ~2EEBEASERE
impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its A E & EWE%’%%KL@%?R%??I
recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash B REMFNELE  REEKERE
flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of WHER AT SWA o Ex)ﬂﬁffm&ﬁﬂlﬁlﬂﬁ
the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as K2 B AR R B ERER -

interest income. Interest income on impaired loans and
receivables is recognised using the original effective
interest rate.

2.28 Dividend income 2.28 BRE WA

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive % B U A BB TE A8 MR WAL E R TR B R
payment is established.

2.29 Operating leases 229 EEMAN
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and %ﬁ@éZi?&ﬁB“ Béx 0 [B] R 5 AR A AR
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are BB AREFHD EEEHOA
classified as operating leases. Payments made under 25 IE(?DHEﬁﬁ}\WHXZ@Eﬂé@J
operating leases (net of any incentives received from 2% NHEEHRNUNEREEGABRER
the lessor), are charged to the consolidated income R o
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the
leases.

2.30 Dividend distribution 2.30 I E 2K
Dividend distribution to the Company’s equity holders MARBREFREADIRZKE - ERE
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the REHRNESARATIRRIEZES(WEE )
Company’s financial statements in the period in BEWRAREB RARNE 2 M HRERERR
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s afE-

shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

3 Financial risk management 3 HBRRERE
3.1 Financial risk factors 3.1 BERBEE

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial AEE & EEHEH X B KRR

risks: market risk (including price risk, foreign exchange SR (BREERERE - JMNERKR &Iﬁ\, Vi
risk, and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), ERAFEEFNERR) EERR KRS
credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk Bl AEBZEERREETSIZ
management programme focuses on the unpredictability ER B T 45 2 BETRORI M R S OB R ¥ AR
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential EEIERIBZBETFZE -

adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury
department (group treasury) under policies approved
by the board of directors. The Group treasury identifies,
evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-
operation with the Group’s operating units. The board
provides written principles for overall risk management,
as well as written policies covering specific areas, such
as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit
risk.

(a) Market risk
(i) Price risk

The Group is subject to commodity price risk
because certain subsidiaries of the Group
are engaged in the trading of steel products.
As at 31st March 2016, the Group had
committed sales orders for steel products of
approximately 295,000 metric tonnes (2015:
304,000 metric tonnes), for which the selling
price is fixed, which exceeded the aggregate
amount of on-hand inventories and committed
purchase orders. Over the coming year, the
Group will be required to purchase steel
products to fulfil these committed sales orders
not covered by inventories and committed
purchase orders. As the prices of steel
products can fluctuate materially, the Group’s
results may be affected significantly by future
fluctuations in steel prices (Note 4 (a)). To
manage its commodity price risk arising from
committed sales orders, the Group is closely
monitoring the market price of steel products
and adjusting its procurement strategy
accordingly.

The Group has entered into commodity future
contracts for trading purpose. If the price of
future contracts weakened/strengthened by
5% with all other variables held constant, profit
before income tax for the year would have
been approximately HK$79,000 higher/lower
(2015: HK$154,000 higher/lower), mainly as
a results of a fair value gain/(loss) on these
future contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Price risk (Continued)

The Group is exposed to price risk because
of investments in corporate notes held by
the Group and classified on the consolidated
statement of financial position as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. To
manage its price risk arising from investments
in corporate notes, the Group diversifies its
portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is
managed in accordance with the internal limits
set by the Group. As at 31st March 2016, if
the price of these investments in corporate
notes increase/decrease by 5%, profit before
income tax for the year would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$775,000 (2015:
HK$394,000) mainly as a result of a fair value
gain/(loss) on these investments.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the US dollar (“US$”) and
the Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to require
group companies to manage their foreign
exchange risk against their functional
currency.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, of which the net assets are
exposed to foreign currency translation risk.
Currency exposure arising from the net assets
of the Group’s foreign operations is managed
primarily through borrowings denominated in
the relevant foreign currencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March 2016, if HK$ had strengthened/
weakened by 3% against the RMB with all
other variables held constant, profit before
income tax would have been approximately
HK$5,043,000 (2015: HK$5,870,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
(losses)/gains on translation of RMB-
denominated monetary assets and liabilities.

At 31st March 2016, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 3% against the USD with all
other variables held constant, profit before
income tax would have been approximately
HK$6,859,000 (2015: HK$9,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
(losses)/gains on translation of USD-
denominated monetary assets and liabilities of
the Group entities of which functional currency
is RMB.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates as the Group has no
significant interest-bearing assets except
for cash and bank deposits, which earn low
interest rate. The Group’s interest rate risk
arises mainly from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially
offset by cash held at variable rates.

At 31st March 2016, if interest rates on
floating rate borrowings had been 100 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, profit before income tax for
the year would have been approximately
HK$19,924,000 lower/higher (2015:
HK$14,485,000 lower/higher), mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expenses on
floating rate borrowings.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis, except for
credit risk relating to accounts receivable balances.
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
amounts due from joint ventures and deposits with
banks and financial institutions, as well as credit
exposures to customers, including outstanding
receivables and committed transactions. For banks
and financial institutions, only independently rated
parties with a high credit rating are accepted.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to reputable and creditworthy
customers with an appropriate financial strength,
credit history and appropriate percentage of down
payments. It also has other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

As at 31st March 2016, the Group has a
concentration of credit risk given that the top 10
customers account for approximately 20% (2015:
20%) of the Group’s total year end trade and bill
receivables balance. Management considers that
the credit risk in respect of these customers is
currently low after considering the financial position
and past experience with these customers. The
Group’s historical experience in collection of
trade and bill receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible trade and bill
receivables has been made.

3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR R R

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating
entities of the Group and aggregated by group
finance. The Group finance monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements to
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational
needs while maintaining sufficient headroom
on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities
(Note 31) at all times so that the Group does not
breach borrowing limits or covenants on any of its
borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into
consideration the Group’s debt financing plans,
covenant compliance and compliance with internal
ratio of the consolidated statement of financial
position targets.

Surplus cash held by the operating entities over
and above balance required for working capital
management are transferred to the Group treasury.
Group treasury invests surplus cash in time
deposits, marketable securities, and choosing
instruments with appropriate maturities or sufficient
liquidity to provide sufficient head-room as
determined by the above-mentioned forecasts. At
the reporting date, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$546,261,000
(2015: HK$354,997,000) (Note 28) and trade
and bill receivables, net, of approximately
HK$461,717,000 (2015: HK$553,352,000) (Note 26)
that are expected to readily generate cash inflows
for managing liquidity risk.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA

3

35 b B 1R ()
3.1 BSEBER(H)

(c)

B EZEEE

ReneRlREREEZEREE
BT IHEEFHRS KK
B BERAKERBESHTR IR
BER  MRERHFCENELS
F -+ JR[FIB IR AR M A TR B 2 R B B
HEERE (HE31) - UEREET
EREMEERBHEMNEERER
s WERAZE B AEEEBRE
8 AR RTAAMRA M
ARKRLEERBR -

ELEERBAZABRRSBREE
BAREIRFEGEE  eEEEAE
ERE - AREREZRHGESEE
REMTERREERZS  WHEBEE
L ERATREEEEE R BASKRE
WREEZTE  REFEZZEME R
HEB AEEBERESRASEE
#9546,261,00078 (= T — A F ©
354,997,000 7% 7t ) (K 5 28) K& &
BRI R BB FEE 40 461,717,00078 7T
—Z— R4 : 553,352,000 5T ) (M
T26) TBHARAIRELE 2K AU
EERBESRR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMKREMRERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 A KEE(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) nEELEE(E)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TREIAEBEZHEERE  BHEH
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on BHARIRERBRERZANERA
the remaining period at the reporting date to the ZHRTERETHT . TREBEZ®
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed BAAKARBIREB SN -
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows.
Between Between
Less than 1and 2 2and 5
1 year years years Total
DR1F 1228 2F5F RG]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FHET FHET
At 31st March 2016 RZZE-—R"F=A=+—H
Trade and bill payables AR S 132,581 — — 132,581
Other payables H i FE I BR AR 83,141 2,000 8,755 93,896
Borrowings ] 856,078 407,013 749,194 2,012,285
Interest payable FEfT I8 62,885 36,632 19,673 119,190
1,134,685 445,645 777,622 2,357,952
At 31st March 2015 RZZE—RF=A=+—H
Trade and bill payables e R RRE 151,604 — — 151,604
Other payables H fth AT R X 40,273 3,500 4,020 47,793
Borrowings BE 882,943 46,400 533,600 1,462,943
Interest payable MBS 48,086 25,122 36,277 109,485
1,122,906 75,022 573,897 1,771,825
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBERER(E)
3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EsRKBER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AEEERES B BRAREAEEFE
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going KE RN UWARERIEHELOREAEMW
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders BOERHEMNE  UWRE-—EAZEELRE
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an B AR DB AR AR o

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the RUEFFEE AR T% 7N £ [ 7] 38 & )
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to RERMNZREESEE  REERTRKE -
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new BT M e EEEARE ©

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group BHERZ - AEEREEREEL X
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This %’;%‘%ézﬁ ZHRTIAEFBERAERA
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. STEEAE FEEINIUNEEABEREIE
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less pledged ﬁfﬁ TERARR S ERNESEETE - 10
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. Total RAMBERRARTR » B4 %EL‘MEJ%T%(/_I\
capital is calculated as equity (excluding non-controlling BIEIEESI R INF A Gt E

interests), as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31st March 2016 and at 31st R_E—RF=A=+—AK=_Z—HF
March 2015 were as follows: ZA=T—HBZEAXRABLLENAT :
2016 2015
—E-RF —ET-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FHIT
Borrowings (Note 31) EE(HizE31) 1,992,384 1,448,482
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and B BERBESFEUR
pledged bank deposits (Note 28) BB RITER(FIEE28) (605,427) (393,873)
Net debt AR 1,386,957 1,054,609
Total equity (excluding non-controlling w4 FE (D RIE IR S
interests) FEES) 1,059,424 1,071,181
Total capital BEARLERE 2,446,381 2,125,790
Gearing ratio BRBELX 57% 50%
Net debt includes borrowings that were subject to EHEEBRETRERIN M BRE I EE -
external financial covenants. As at 31st March 2015 and N E—FERFR—_E—RE=ZA=+—
2016, there was no breach in conditions as specified in B - R R IEEARETRE 2R o

the covenants.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMKREMRERE(E)
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AV EEMLE

The tables below analyses the Group’s financial THRAAFEATFEEZHERMTZ@EA

instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March 2015 BEKEOPMAEBER-_E—FER_F

and 2016, by level of the inputs to valuation techniques —RNEFZAZ+—HRAFEEBEAKRZS
used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised MTE - FHEEA RAFEBESHK,IE
into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: BUAT==E:

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for . HRBAEXBEEERM S ZHRE (K
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). KRB (FE—E) -

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within e KREEEFEVUBREAEXAEZ
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, i&fﬁ%ﬁl\iﬁu)\ A AEEEIGIINER)
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that gffE(AREER) (BEZE) -
is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based o EENEEIWIEEE R BRTISEE
on observable market data (that is, unobservable ZEA(BSERERGA)(FE=E) -
inputs) (level 3).

See Note 15 for disclosures of the investment property BAFTEEFEZREDEZHE LK

that is measured at fair value. 15 =@

The following table presents the Group’s assets that are TRERAEBR-_ZE—R"F=ZA=+—

measured at fair value at 31st March 2016. BEA :Ffjﬁi{ﬁ?rizé‘fﬁ °

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B ®=E =B HBE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx FHBxT FHBT FEx
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value 1ZQFEETAER
through profit or loss IS AE
— Investments in corporate — R AIZiEZRE
notes 15,500 — — 15,500
— lIron ore future contracts — #ERAEEH 130 - — 130
Available-for-sale financial AIftEH & 2 BB EE
asset
— Shares listed on the — RABEBBER S
Stock Exchange of BERARETZ
Hong Kong Limited &) 487 — — 487
Total #ET 16,117 — — 16,117
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BRI

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s assets that are
measured at fair value at 31st March 2015.

3 FBEREEGE)
3.3 AP EEMGEE)

TRETAEBR-_ZE—RAF=A=1+—
BERAFEEAEZEE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF—IE FE F=IE Fek)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FHT FAT
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair RAFEER AR
value through profit or 2R EE
loss
— Investments in corporate — RBEHE ZKE
notes 7,882 — — 7,882
— Steel future contracts — WMEBEAHN 107 — — 107
Available-for-sale financial — AJfEH & 7 B8 &EE
asset
— Shares listed on the — RABEBBER S
Stock Exchange of BRAR L2
Hong Kong Limited &) 458 — — 458
Total HEt 8,447 — — 8,447
There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during RAEE F—E F_ERF=ZEZHE

the year.

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the reporting date. A market is regarded as active
if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group,
pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. These instruments are included
in level 1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise
primarily equity investment classified as available-for-
sale, future contracts and investments in corporate
notes classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BRI

Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Onerous contracts

As at 31st March 2016, the Group had committed sales
orders which exceeded the aggregate amount of on-
hand inventories and committed purchase orders. If
the cost of certain future purchases to fulfil these sales
orders exceeds the contracted selling prices of the
sales orders, a provision for onerous contracts would
be made. In estimating the amount by which the cost
of purchases are expected to exceed sales prices of
committed sales orders, management takes into account
the cost of on-hand inventory, the cost of committed
purchase orders and the forecast market price of future
purchases where this can be reliably estimated.

As at 31st March 2016, provision for onerous contract
of approximately HK$12,000,000 was recognised by the
Group (2015: Nil).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and variable selling
expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of
selling products of similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer demand
and competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycle. Management reassesses the estimations at each
reporting date.

EEGHEE R A

REBERBRMEABEAR(BRAERRATHES
ARREM 2 BIRTRH) #7548 1 5 K H) i (5 1 5F
filr

AEBERARIELEERBRR - BREE - it
MAeZ Gt HERORBRERERER - TX
LA A SEHAH T EAMBREECEERE
EZRESBEHERNRHEZERNRBRIER MR

(a) BERY

RZE—R"F=A=+—H ' ' ~5EE®
EZHE uTEﬁEiﬂfﬁuﬁﬁ 5 NEMHE L
BEEAE - WMANBITHEHER S
= :F*X?mﬁ%ﬁiﬂittﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁz
EEAS ISR BEZNELRE - &£
BB BKANELEEREHER B2
EEeHK BEEESRFRFEEZK
RN EREEEITEZKARIZAISEHRSR
Z BERE 2 IS TERIERE o

R-ZE—RNE=ZA=+—H8 ' ' A&EEE®
RBERZL B 412,000,000 T (==
—hHE:HE) e

(b) FEZAERFE
FEZAZRFELRAETEBRBER 2H
HEBRMEETHRARRAIZHE L -
ZEHE THE NIRRT A K SH S E O
EE&ZL&W%°ETI§ﬁZ%ﬁ%
""""" RBEFHFREMNBRILTHEBRTEN
ﬂ@ﬁﬁ%& """"" c BEREENESERER
HEZEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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N

CypEE e IR

4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on
an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables.
This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and the current market
condition. Management reassesses the provision at
each reporting date.

Current taxes and deferred income tax

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. Significant judgement
is required in determining the worldwide provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is likely that future taxable
profits will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. When the
expectations are different from the original estimates,
such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and income tax charges in the period
in which such estimates have been changed.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2.8. The recoverable amounts
of CGUs have been determined based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates (Note 17).
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Fair value of investment property

The Group carries its investment properties at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in
the consolidated income statement. The fair value of
investment property was determined by using valuation
technique and management updates their assessment of
the fair value of each property, taking into account the
key valuation assumptions, including adjusted market
yield. Details of the judgments and assumptions have

been disclosed in Note 15.

Useful lives and depreciation expenses for
property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in
a change in useful lives and therefore depreciation
expense in future periods.

Classification of investments accounted for
using equity method

The Group has joint control over TVSC Construction
Steel Solutions Limited (“TVSC”) and HSL China
Metropolitan Fund | L.P. (“HSL”) under contractual
agreements, and unanimous consent is required from all
parties to the agreements for all relevant activities.

The joint arrangements provide the Group and the
parties to the agreements with rights to the net assets of
the entities under the joint arrangements.

4 ERSTEERAEH R

(f)

(9)

(h)

REWMEX 2 AFEE

$EIZ&§¢%¥E’A¥F¢EL RERE
BRXERZATFEEEHIK - KREY
EZRAVEEDERGEDEEE €8

EREEI2HERR(BREHERMHK
BR)VEREFERBMRAFEE NG -
HE N R R 2 FHIBE AT FE 15 3 EE -

WX BERRBZUEAFHRT
BExi

AEBECZEEEBETEME  BENREKE
A ERES URARTEER -
ZAEEDREBEDEREERUZYE - K
EhREZERAERFH 2 BERLR
B BERKEFHAEMGFTAIEAFHDT
@] o mﬁﬁﬁuTT&fﬁ—Jﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬂl """"" :
HREARE 2 #7182 7R A i ER

1 30

BESEARZREZDE

AEBEBRES D HZELRZEHTVSC
Construction Steel Solutions Limited
(fTVvSCl) ®HSL China Metropolitan
Fund | L.P.(THSL]) ' il P& AERAE TR
BISFABEI WA 2 —RAE -

SRERHRARERSWHHITOTRER
RETHR N ERZEEFEIER -
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Revenue and segment information

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

5 WARZHESR

The Group’s revenue consists of the following: REEZBABIELT :
2016 2015
—E-XREF —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
Sales of goods BERHEE 3,302,846 3,812,119
Service income AR 75 A 29,375 16,757
Rental income B A 47,940 39,517
Total revenue WA 4R ZE 3,380,161 3,868,393

The Group’s businesses are managed according to the
nature of their operations and the products and services they
provide.

Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the Group’s CODM that are used
to make strategic decisions. The CODM considers the Group
operates predominantly in four operating segments:

(i) Construction materials;

(i) BDS;

(iii) Engineering plastics and

(iv) Property

The Group’s CODM assesses the performance of operating
segments based on a measure of profit before income tax.

The revenue from external parties reported to the CODM is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEBER (&)
(Continued)
Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for the REBREBEE-ZT—"F=A=-1+—HILFER
year ended 31st March 2016 is as follows: ERDEEBOTAT ¢
Construction Engineering
materials BDS plastics Property  Unallocated Total
BEERR
BEMR E'HIE S IR%EE EiE KR ot
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TEn TEn TR THn TR
External revenue HIMIA 2,465,824 488,897 365,153 60,287 - 3,380,161
Operating profit/(loss) meEH/ (BR) 128,213 8,957 (3,423) 186,142 (107,354) 212,535
Finance income BBIRA 1,516 23 177 165 184 2,065
Finance costs B EE (25,462) (4,243) (769) (34,632) (298) (65,404)
Share of results of associates ~ JE{EBEE AR Z
— net 15 — aa%ﬁ (7,357) - - U] - (7,364)
Share of results of joint EEERERRLZ
ventures — net £E— 53 (10,562) - - 14,999 - 4,437
Profit/(loss) before BE AR/ (B8
income tax 86,348 4,737 (4,015) 166,667 (107,468) 146,269
Other gains/(losses) iz / (BR) —
— net et 14,447 (480) (4,467) (31,269) 70 (21,059)
Fair value gain on an —BRANFEZATE
investment property ELE - - - 199,514 - 199,514
Depreciation and amortisation  # & R ### (13,543) (2,714) (126) (2,828) (2,699) (21,910)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARSHBER (&
(Continued)
Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for the AEERBE-_ZT—HAF=-A=1+—HILFERXR
year ended 31st March 2015 is as follows: EBDEZEESTWT ¢
Construction Engineering
materials BDS plastics Property Unallocated Total
BEERR
REM K B GWIE S TiR%ER FiE AHE %
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7 7 A7 7 7 7
External revenue HIMEA 2,912,588 507,021 400,209 48,575 - 3,868,393
Operating profit/(loss) meRH /(BB 164,962 22,818 1,754 236,296 (77,862) 347,968
Finance income FHBIA 3,109 530 103 138 3 3,883
Finance costs BER (22,266) (6,242) (779) (29,770) (93) (59,150)
Share of results of EEBERRZ
associates — net #15 — 558 (972) — — (84) — (1,056)
Share of results of joint ElEaEREZ
ventures — net FE—FE — - — 1,930 = 1,930
Profit/(loss) before BEaaH/ (B8
income tax 144,833 17,106 1,078 208,510 (77,952) 293,575
Other gains/(losses) s/ (B8
— net 8 15,916 899 (154) (1,057) 334 15,938
Fair value gain on an —BRANFEZATE
investment property ELE — — — 204,108 — 204,108
Depreciation and amortisation  #& K ### (3,287) (2,596) (177) (626) (4,185) (10,871)
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. Analysis of the RATNEBEIE - REBR ZIWARMRE TS D
Group’s revenue by geographical market is as follows: FanR -
2016 2015
A= —E—ARF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T
Hong Kong BB 2,046,820 2,374,338
Mainland China Sllap:i) 1,333,341 1,494,055
3,380,161 3,868,393
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Revenue and segment information 5
(Continued)

Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and

WARDEHER(E)

BB HS 2 ERDEE(ER T AMELEHREA

deferred income tax assets by geographical market is as BEBINIOT :
follows:
2016 2015
—E—-REF —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Hong Kong B 353,515 205,392
Mainland China M 1,715,971 1,306,715
2,069,486 1,512,107
Other (losses)/gains — net 6 Hft(EE) W= — 38
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Provision for onerous contracts (Note 30) &EZ#) 7 & (MfzF 30) (12,000) =
Unrealised fair value gain on financial ?ﬁ@fﬁﬁfﬁéﬁf\?@#zﬁﬁkﬁﬁ
assets at fair value through profit or loss  ZAREH N FEEIKES 2,578 1,190
Realised gain on financial assets at fair ZRAFEEFABSZ2PHKEE
value through profit or loss 2 BB 841 602
Net exchange (loss)/gain FIEH (BE) W (46,380) 3,862
Bargain purchase on acquisition of a IeBE — R B A R EE 2 B &
subsidiary (Note 36) B (7L 36) — 6,413
Net gain on disposal of an investment & —IBREME 2 F e
property (Note 35(c)) (Fft#E35(c)) — 572
Compensation received in relation to a B —RFAZERE — F8
litigation — net (Note (i)) GEAO)) 30,583 —
Sundry income FEIEA 3,319 3,299
(21,059) 15,938
Note: Bt 3E -
(i)  The amount mainly represented the compensation received () SFEEXEHEAFERE MG fﬁﬁfggﬂ

during the year from a rebar supplier for its failure to meet

the obligation to deliver in year 2009.

FREARRE

TERERN ZEdHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

7 Expenses by nature 7 RHEESsz2XH

BREAEMEEKRA ] [HERDHXH JE—K
RITB B A 2 21T

Expenses included in “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution
expenses” and “general and administrative expenses” are
analysed as follows:

114

2016 2015
—E—REF —ET—AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FE&T
Cost of finished goods sold YA an $HE B 2,887,336 3,403,537
Provision for impairment of GFERERE — F8
inventories — net 3,897 662
Depreciation of property, plant and M BREREEBEZTE
equipment (Note 14) (FtzE14) 18,873 8,029
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, HEMFE - BRE REE2EE
plant and equipment (Note 35 (b)) /(gz5) (Hi7F 35(b)) 1,809 (271)
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 16) THb{E FARE 2 e (KIsE16) 1,607 1,387
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) & EE 2 ## (M 17) 1,430 1,455
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) EERAZ L (ME8) 145,210 115,356
Operating lease rental expenses in respect ZEMH - PHAENEA LY
of retail outlets, offices and warehouses Hofe 39,942 30,334
Property tax for an investment property —IHIREMEZMER 6,677 5,471
Provision for impairment of trade FERERFUR B E — F58E
receivables — net (Note 26) (K¥=E26) 7,529 642
Auditor’s remuneration A G e 2,432 2,205
Legal and professional fees ERERBEE 47,086 7,947
Freight charges — inbound HEEEE 62,940 67,265
Freight charges — outbound HEES 58,469 55,169
Others HAith 60,844 41,283
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution &R - & &5 H
expenses and general and administrative B —#& MTH X H
expenses Pk 3,346,081 3,740,471
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Employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ emoluments)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

8 EERAMXH(BESEEHE)

2016 2015

—E-REF —E—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHEx FHET

Salaries and allowances e RoERL 94,646 85,826
Bonus TE4T 30,830 10,299
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  BARESAA — FE SRS 9,948 8,921
Share-based payment LARGAD 7 Bt 2 S T 1,859 1,237
Welfare and benefits & F R A= 7,927 9,073
145,210 115,356

The Group maintains two defined contribution pension
schemes for its employees in Hong Kong, the ORSO Scheme
and the MPF Scheme. The assets of these schemes are held
separately from those of the Group under independently
administered funds.

Under the ORSO Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees make monthly contribution to the scheme at 5% of
the employees’ salary. The unvested benefits of employees
who have terminated employment could be utilised by the
Group to reduce its future contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5%
of the employee’s relevant income, as defined in the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. Both
the Group’s and the employee’s contributions are subject to
a cap of HK$1,500 per month (HK$1,250 before June 2014).
The contributions are fully and immediately vested for the
employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for
employees of its subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
The employees are entitled to retirement pension calculated
with reference to their basic salaries on retirement and their
length of service in accordance with the relevant government
regulations. The Group has no further obligations for the
actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits
beyond these contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to retired employees.

AEEEFMERERASHKAE TURERS
ZREE  REDFEIRBESFE o tRE S
REEHRAKEZEENRARTE  YHBIYE

TEHE -

RIEAEDEE - AEEMEREBAZBR%ZE
BHE 5% Mz-t8EEARK  RILERAZ
BERBE 2N a1 mh A 5K B A ER DR RH

25k
/N

RIFRESHE  AEEREREARBRER
SRR TEERET B GRPIPT A ERZEEFBRA
Z5% Mt BIET AERK - ARERE

=
HHRDERRE 1,500 T(ZF—HER
Al A$1,250/870) B LR o BB R BN R 8

B AR R EERARE - ARBARKE
RUNFEAMZMEARRERHEEREER
Rt 8IHR - EEAREGERAKS  ©H2RE
SRR 2 BEAH & N RS FHIHRA BETER
AHEEH - BRREHRFIN  AKREBBERTIN
EREREARSIORKERER - ZFBERENE
Kt @B BERARKER XN EZHMENKRSE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

Employee benefit expenses (including 8 EEEAXZH(BEEEEHS)
directors’ emoluments) (Continued) (&)
During the year ended 31st March 2016, the aggregate BE-_Z—XXF=-A=+—HIFE  ~A&£EYH
amount of the Group’s contributions to the aforementioned R IRE EEIE L 2 SR AREEA) /5 9,948,000
pension schemes was approximately HK$9,948,000 (2015: B(ZZE—ARF 8,921,000 L) ' FRW
HK$8,921,000), net of forfeited contributions of approximately MR 49179,000 T (= — FH £ : 317,000
HK$179,000 (2015: HK$317,000). As at 31st March 2015 and L) e RZE—RAFR-_FT—R"F=ZA=+—
2016, there is no unutilised forfeited contribution which could H - WERE AR R BERD RSB R
be utilised to reduce future contributions of the Group. P
Directors’ and senior management’s 9 EEREAEEAENE
emoluments
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=M<
The remuneration of every Director for the year ended BE_Z—NF-A=1+t—HLEEE "
31st March 2016 is set out below: UESEHMT
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Salary retirement
and Discretionary  Share-based benefit
Fees allowance bonus™  payment" scheme Total
By
DRHBER  BAERHE
Name B Be  Herem  BHER4Y ZxHY 2 #E
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FAR FAR FAR FAR FAR FAR
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew, Chairman #1854 4
and Chief Executive Officer” (FRRERHTE)" - 1,950 1,950 - 18 3,918
Mr. Frank Muioz" Frank Muroz 54" - 2,665 1,156 665 12 4,498
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace"” BERALL" - 657 - 97 33 787
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu™ 27" - 431 - 32 2 485
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Dong Sai Ming Femnando EtsEEE 482 - - - - 482
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERERE 225 - - - - 225
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BRERE 207 - - - - 207
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy WEEELA 480 - - - - 480
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BRASEE 180 - - - - 180
1,574 5,703 3,106 794 85 11,262
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

9 Directors’ and senior management’s

emoluments (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Aggregate emoluments paid to or
receivable by directors in respect of their
services as directors, whether of the

Aggregate emoluments paid to or
receivable by directors in respect of
their other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the

(a) EEM=(F|)

9 ESKEREEAEME(E)

Company or its subsidiary undertaking  Company or its subsidiary undertaking Total
RES(THAZAARENEAR) RESFHEELA A RRENBEAR
ERASZEMRUZBENESR ERzEMRBME SR EER

HEWARRzMeRHE AzMELE B

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TR TR TR

11,262 — 11,262

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended

31st March 2015 is set out below:

Certain of the comparative information of directors’
emoluments for the year ended 31st March 2015
in accordance with the
predecessor Companies Ordinance have been restated

previously disclosed

NEBFFHFMMOT

in order to comply with the new scope and requirements
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

HE_Z-—HF=A=+—HIFE "

EHRBEAARGHKEZHZE_FT—4
FZA=ZT-—BUEEREZEEME2ET
AELBRERBEET - UHACHEABRRIF
BIX(5F 622 % ) E6E AR E -

Employer's
contribution to
Salary a retirement
and  Discretionary  Share-based benefit
Fees allowance bonus'” payment" scheme Total
ExH
DRAARER  RINEHEE
Name 4 Me  HeREH Bigfea" Z I AR ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL ThL ThL ThL ThL ThL
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew, g (ER)"
Chairman” — 1,950 1,950 — 18 3918
Mr. Frank Mufioz, Frank Murioz 5t
Chief Executive Officer"” (BRE#HTE)" = 4,327 1,155 732 18 6,232
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Dong Sai Ming Fernando EtthEE 429 = 71 = 18 518
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERELE 225 — — — — 225
Mr. Xu Lin Bao HRERLE 207 - = = — 207
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy WEELE 690 — — — = 690
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BRARE 183 = = = = 183
1,734 6,277 3,176 732 54 11,973
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

9 Directors’ and senior management’s
emoluments (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

receivable by directors in respect of their

9 ESKEREEAESME(E)

(a) ESM= (&)

Aggregate emoluments paid to or

Aggregate emoluments paid to or

services as directors, whether of the

receivable by directors in respect of
their other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the

Company or its subsidiary undertaking  Company or its subsidiary undertaking Total
RES(THAZAIRENELR) RESEHEEANAAH
BRABZSMRU2BHEMELR WEAREKzHMREME MR

HEWRKzHEAE HEWRKzHeLE L

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FERL FERL TR

11,973 — 11,973
Notes: B3t

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

No

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 25th November
2015. The amounts represent emoluments paid or
receivable in respective of his services as a director of
the Company.

Mr. Frank Mufoz resigned as the Chief Executive
Officer and an Executive Director of the Company
on 25th November 2015. The amounts represent
emoluments paid or receivable in respective of his
services as a director of the Company.

Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu were
appointed as Executive Directors of the Company
on 25th November 2015. The amounts represent
emoluments paid or receivable in respective of their
services as directors of the Company.

The Executive Directors are entitled to discretionary
bonus which are determined with reference to the
financial performance of different business units of the
Group.

Share-based payment represents charges to the
consolidated income statement of the fair value of
the share options under the share option scheme
measured at the respective grant dates, regardless of
whether the share options would be exercised or not.

incentive payment (2015: Nil) as an inducement for

joining the Group or compensation for loss of office was
paid to any director during the years ended 31st March
2015 and 2016.
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(i)

(iiif)

(iv)

v)

kEBEEER-_Z—RF+—A=-+H
HEZEAARRERENTE - $5EE
EREETARRES ZREMD Hk
HEB R Z Bl -

Frank Mufiozt R = —hF+— A7
—+tREBEEARREFERITE RNTT
B - oHEFHEEELARRESZ
BRTS i B 49 sl H R Uk R Uk 2 B < o

EMALLTRBFBEENR T —AF
T—A—+tHARBLZESARANTE
= SREAHEEEARAESTZR
B E sk E B SR Yz Bl

MITERIMMBMIEEL - BA2ER
SETREBEML 2 MBERRETE -

PARR £ 73 B B 2 32 <) 45 F R R 81 T R
B H A EUR S B RIIER
X ZBERENTEE mARERER
BEITRE -

RRE-F—HER-FT—AF=A
S+—BLLEE BE(CT-AF &)
B B4 T 5 % 6 DA e SR A0 A K
SRR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

9 Directors’ and senior management’s
emoluments (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the years ended 31st March
2015 and 2016.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the years ended 31st March
2015 and 2016.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the years ended 31st March 2015 and 2016, no
consideration was paid by the company to third parties
for making available directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the years ended 31st March 2015 and 2016,
there are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by any connected entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company has a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of 31st March 2015 and
2016 or at any time during the years ended 31st March
2015 and 2016.

9 EEKEARE

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

ESRKER

BESEREEZE_ZT—HFR-_ZT—RF
Z A=t — B EFEC KBS HREER
RIRRER o

ESRERER
BEEENEE_Z-—HFR-Z—RF

=A=+—H JtﬁEEH&ZHXJZHﬂﬁZHXE@
BrRAER o

BREHEEREAE=FRH2KE

REE-_ZET—RFER_ZT—XRF=A
= t+t—HLEFE #MERELESRER
FE=HZARE -

BRANLES  XIZRFESEFZEA
HENZSESCHBRERRZEA
ZER BERRAEMRZ 2ER

RBEE_ZE-—HAFR_ZF-XF=A
=St—RALFE BEEENES XX
FEZEHZEABRBNZFES 2B
ERARBAZEN EEREKHEMRZS
ke

ESRRG ZHERENP2ERE
=

AEBEMEREEBITLARR REFRE
i@ﬁ&$"ﬂ§$§%‘ﬂ'ﬂ%%ﬁ§ﬁ
BEmMR -_E-—AFh_T R F=4
=t— E%ﬁ%ﬁviaﬁ_f AFER_Z
—RNF=ZA=+— B LEFEAREMERD
REEZERRG - wHREH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR R R

9 Directors’ and senior management’s
emoluments (Continued)

(g) Five highest paid individuals

9 ESKEREEAESME(E)

(9) EBEEHFAL

The five individuals with highest emoluments in the
Group include three directors (2015: two) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
Note 9 (a) above. The emoluments paid/payable to the

rEBLEEEMEALRE=UESR(Z
T-RF M) REZMER EXME
ANa)FPI DM MR - REZER AR
HHEMU(TTE—AF: ZR)ALZ2BE

remaining two (2015: three) individuals during the year W
are as follows:
2016 2015
e e
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 4,000 5,152
Bonus TEAT 1,336 2,154
5,336 7,306
MENFATEE :

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

A
2016 2015
—E—REF —E—hF
— HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 — 1,500,001 & TE
2,000,000 7T — 1
— HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 — 2,500,001 /&7TE
3,000,000 7T 2 2
2 3

No emoluments were paid/payable to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join the Group or
as compensation for loss of office during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M R

10 Finance income and costs

10 IBEWAREHR

2016 2015
ZEB-AREF —T—nfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FAT
Finance income B
Interest income FMEWA -
— short-term bank deposits — BHERITER 2,065 3,883
Finance costs B E H
Interest expenses: MEZH -
— bank borrowings — RITEE (58,803) (55,007)
Bank charges RITE A (6,601) (4,143)
(65,404) (59,150)
Net finance costs BB (63,339) (55,267)

11 Income tax expense

11 FrBHxH

BINENZ A R ARERLEMERR ZIRTT
HERFLF ARG ERTURNFTH -

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

BTG IBEAFE G R R AR E
16.5% (ZZ—HF : 16.5% ) {EL B -

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2015: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year.

KEE > R AR Z KB AR a R =E
25% (ZZF—HF : 25% )BT R BIEFTBH o

During the year, subsidiaries established in Mainland China
are subject to China corporate income tax at 25% (2015:
25%).

The amount of income tax expense recorded in the RirEEmERT IR ZAEH L aE
consolidated income statement represents:

2016 2015
ZE-RF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FH&T
Current income tax EHRTISH

— Hong Kong profits tax — BAFEH 14,283 16,055
— China corporate income tax — PRI EMSEH 7,895 11,795
Deferred income tax (Note 22) RIEFTS R (M5 22) 53,205 45,224

(Over)/under provision in prior years BAEFEy (BEEE)
BHES 2 (378) 1,235
75,005 74,309
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RS ER R MR

11 Income tax expense (Continued) 11

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted
average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated
entities is as follows:

FrEHix (&)

RS B BAT R 2 B SRR A B i
ZMETHRENE Y B BAFEE 55
W -

2016 2015
—E—XRE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT F&T
Profit before income tax R 5 Al Al 146,269 293,575
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates Z(8 R B R 2 i@ ) i A
applicable to profit in the respective BT RGTE
countries Z IR 53,322 69,333
Income not subject to tax HAEZRR Z WA (483) (321)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes A1 2 5% H 16,524 3,124
Tax losses not recognised as deferred I T RIEEFT 15 A
income tax assets BEZHIEES 6,005 1,184
Deferred income tax liabilities in respect LA B A R 5k &
of withholding tax on Mainland China ZEABREREHBE
unremitted earnings 15 (246)
(Over)/under provision in prior years BEFE 2 (BEREE)
BHETE (378) 1,235
Income tax expense TS 75,005 74,309

For the year ended 31st March 2016, the weighted average
applicable tax rate was 36.5% (2015: 23.6%). The increase
is caused by the change in the profitability of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the respective countries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RS ER R MR

12 Dividends 12 K2

2016 2015
—E-XRF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET

Interim dividend of HK1.8 cents HEARR B A AR 1.8 AL
(2015: HK3.5 cents) per ordinary share —E—FRF : 3.581) 11,531 14,753

Proposed final dividend of HK1.0 cent BEREAHRESRL®AR1.0
(2015: HK5.0 cents) per ordinary share BI(ZZ—RF : 5.081L) 6,419 32,032
17,950 46,785

A final dividend for the year ended 31st March 2016 of
HK1.0 cent (2015: HK5.0 cents) per ordinary share, totalling
approximately HK$6,419,000 (2015: HK$32,032,000) has
been recommended by the Board for approval at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. The
proposed final dividend has not been dealt with as dividend
payable as at 31st March 2016.

The proposed final divided for the year ended 31st March
2016 in the amount of approximately HK$6,419,000 is
calculated on the basis of 641,882,674 shares in issue as at
23rd June 2016.

13 Earnings per ordinary share
(a) Basic

Basic earnings per ordinary share is calculated by
dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

EFTeRARFAEEZRRAFAS LEZH
BT RFE-A=1+—HLFERPREE
L BEAOBI(ZE—RF : 5.081M) - &
496,419,000/ ;L(=F — A F : 32,032,000
BIL) c BEAPRESER T —NFE=A
=T BZEERINAEMNKE -

ﬁﬁ*%fﬁiiﬂi+—aiiﬁzgﬁxﬁ
% B 476,419,000 7T » JHRNR —ZT—/NFENA
:+:E2641,882,67413&E§§ﬁﬂx1ﬁ§+§ o

13 BREBERER
(a) EX

BREBREARBRTRARNGKRIERE
AN G FIBRARNFE B BT TR 2
REFHEGE -

2016 2015
—E-XEF —ET—hF
Profit attributable to equity holders of AN RIAEFERF B A FE(R & F
the Company (HK$'000) (F#ET) 70,105 215,533
Weighted average number of ordinary 2277 E B 2 it FHH
shares in issue (‘000) (Fr%) 640,012 542,567
Basic earnings per ordinary share TR E AR A
(HK cents) (L) 10.95 39.72
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

BRI

13 Earnings per ordinary share (Continued)

(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per ordinary share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company’s dilutive
potential ordinary shares arise from share options, for
which a calculation is done to determine the number
of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average annual market share price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value
of the subscription rights attached to outstanding share
options. The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

13 BREBRER (F)
(b) #58

ShEBRESRNTTZBRRAEESRE
IEE%*Z SElbe ?E\%(L?ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁuﬂﬁ?"
ENE B T HHEE - AAFAR
& Eﬁﬁ?ﬁ\i’fﬁz%@ﬂxlﬁﬁﬂx%ﬁﬁﬁi
HAERERARTTEBRERMMNREREZ
EREEEL  AAEEREBAXFEE
(BEA/ARBIBRMD 2 2F FHTHRE)
WEZRN#E - EXFFESH 2R
BEBRERERITENDET RN
BELLER »

2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hF
Profit attributable to equity holders of ZK”“ﬁH%ﬁé%ﬁ/\FEfﬁ?ﬁTﬁ‘J
the Company and used to determine MAUNETE
diluted earnings per ordinary share ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂ(?%ﬁ)
(HK$'000) 70,105 215,533
Weighted average number of ordinary 2317 8% < INHE F 15 &
shares in issue (’000) (F8%) 640,012 542 567
Adjustment for share options ('000) TR (TD) 14,022 15,280
Weighted average number of ordinary S Z@REERF 2
shares for diluted earnings per 3 PR N HE S 5 2R
ordinary share ('000) (Fh%) 654,034 557,847
Diluted earnings per ordinary share ST B EE AT
(HK cents) (F&0) 10.72 38.64
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

14 Property, plant and equipment

14 V¥ - BERRE

Consolidated

&8
Leasehold Motor
improvement, vehicles
furniture and and  Construction
Buildings equipment Machinery vessels in progress Total
BEME
2B HRR RER
£ #E BE ik ERIR b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT TR THT THT T
At 1st April 2014 “Z-mEmA-A
Cost KA 4,442 46,324 6,187 10,515 - 67,468
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (1,153) (38,098) (5,597) (7,666) = (52,514)
Net book amount ERFE 3,289 8,226 590 2,849 — 14,954
Year ended 31st March 2015~ EZ-ZT—h#E
ZA=ZT-HIEEE
Opening net book amount BERFE 3,289 8,226 590 2,849 — 14,954
Transfer from investment ERBRANZE
property (Note 15) (FizE 15) 15,011 — — — — 15,011
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —FIE AR
(Note 36) (Hti36) - 4,472 6,708 2,579 . 13,759
Additions AE 7,594 4,743 8,080 18,432 38,849
Disposals HE — (160) = (567) — (727)
Depreciation ik (695) (4,551) (1,202) (1,581) = (8,029)
Currency translation ERERET
differences 4 3 — (4) — 3
Closing net book amount HRRETE 17,609 15,584 10,839 11,356 18,432 73,820
At 31st March 2015 RZZ-1F
=R=1-H
Cost AR 19,460 55,782 17,638 19,995 18,432 131,307
Accumulated depreciation 2E (1,851) (40,198) (6,799) (8,639) — (57,487)
Net book amount FREFE 17,609 15,584 10,839 11,356 18,432 73,820
Year ended 31st March 2016~ BZE =T/ &
=R=+-BLFE
Opening net book amount MEEFE 17,609 15,584 10,839 11,356 18,432 73,820
Transfer to inventories ERERE - (556) (20) - - (576)
Additions NE 5,104 5,960 22,564 2,368 133,532 169,528
Disposals e - (1,648) (598) (161) - (2,407)
Depreciation ik (7,789) (5,768) (3,305) (2,011) - (18,873)
Transfers B 151,964 - - - (151,964) -
Currency translation EHERZ
differences (696) (209) - (51) - (956)
Closing net book amount HREmFE 166,192 13,363 29,480 11,501 — 220,536
At 31st March 2016 RIZ-—RE
=HEr—0
Cost A 175,171 57,500 37,716 20,591 - 291,578
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (9,579) (44,137) (8,236) (9,090) - (71,042)
Net book amount A8 166,192 13,363 29,480 11,501 - 220,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RS ER R MR

14 Property, plant and equipment 14 ¥)% - BERZE (&)

(Continued)

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$2,357,000
(2015: HK$1,033,000) was charged to “cost of sales” and
approximately HK$16,516,000 (2015: HK$6,996,000) to
“‘general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated
income statement.

As at 31st March 2016, the Group’s property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$13,014,000 (2015:
HK$14,426,000) were pledged as collaterals for the Group’s
long-term bank loans (Note 31).

& X #492,357,00008 T(Z T — H F:
1,033,000 % 7T) & 4916,516,0008 L (= —H
F : 6,996,000 TT) D AR EBER ZIHE
FRA | [ — R AT IR 0Bk o

RZZE—A"F=ZA=+—"8 XEBZWZE -
MR REE#13,0140008 T(ZE—HE
14,426,000 %) B IBEAAEB RHARITE
Rz R (FIEE31) o

15 Investment properties 15 REY=
2016 2015
—REF —ET—hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FH&T
At fair value EATEE

At beginning of year REH] 1,144,634 1,005,580

Transfer to owner-occupied property HEZERYE
(Note 14) (FtzE14) — (15,011)
Transfer to land use rights (Note 16) S T (MIFE16) — (39,228)
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HEeRASBRTEN 28,710 9,262
Disposal (Note 35(c)) i & (Bt 5 35(c)) — (22,000)
Fair value gain on investment property KEWME 2 N FEERE 199,514 204,108
Currency translation differences EHEHE N ER (61,258) 1,923
At end of year RER 1,311,600 1,144,634

Amount recognised in consolidated income statement for
investment property as follows:

NGB BREPRRZBANESEMT -

2016 2015

—NE —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Rental income B A 47,682 38,566
Direct operating expenses from property KREELERSBAZHEZ

that generated rental income BEELERY (7,477) (5,152)

40,205 33,414
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e ISR M R

15 Investment properties (Continued)

As at 31st March 2016, an investment property of
approximately HK$1,311,600,000 (2015: HK$1,144,634,000)
was stated at open market value based on valuations
assessed by an independent, professional qualified valuer
as reviewed by the directors. The investment property
was pledged as collaterals for certain of the Group’s bank
borrowings of approximately HK$816,597,000 (2015:
HK$565,539,000) (Note 31).

The following table analyses the investment properties
carried at fair value, by valuation method.

Fair value hierarchy

15 RE W= (&)

RZE—A"F=A=+—H8 " #1,311,600,000
BIT(ZZ—FRF : 1,144,634,00087T) 2 —1H
REVMEREESRB I REESERGBEMTEE
2 EEER 2 ARMEYE - REWEDIE
BH - (ERASEE THRITEEX 816,597,000
BIL(ZZE—AF : 565,539,000/87T) 2 &K IF @
GEXIDE

TERUBEESTIRAFEEARZREYE -

DV EESR

Fair value measurement at 31st March 2016 using
R-ZB-—A"F=ZA=+—BEATHHEAE

ETZAVEEFTE
Quoted prices
in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
Description 3t assets inputs inputs
RIE BB T 5 W EXHA EXAFT
B EEZRE AEHERA BEmA
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(%5—F) (%5=F) (5=RE)
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FHERT FTERT FET
Recurring fair value KEEAFEENE
measurement
— Commercial units — BEETT
— Mainland China — FEIAH — — 1,311,600
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15 Investment properties (Continued) 15 REWHE(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AT EEER(E)

Fair value measurement at 31st March 2015 using
R-_ZE—RAF=A=+—HEATIIER

ETZ AT EEFE
Quoted prices
in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
Description it assets inputs inputs
)& BB T 3% A 7 BBRHA BEARNA]
R B E 2 ®wE ATERR G A BismA
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(F—F) (F=) (=)
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T FHET
Recurring fair value KEMANTEES
measurement
— Commercial units — BEHEETT
— Mainland China — FE R = — 1,144,634
Fair value measurement using significant FEREAFTABRERBAZAFEHETE
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (8=F8)
Mainland
Hong Kong China Total
BB A A it et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHExT FHEx
As at 1st April 2015 R-_ZE—HAFWMA—H —_ 1,144,634 1,144,634
Capitalised subsequent HERASBETERN
expenditure — 28,710 28,710
Fair value gain on investment  #&&W*¥ 2 AFEE
property & — 199,514 199,514
Currency translation differences &¥[E 5 =58 — (61,258) (61,258)
As at 31st March 2016 RZE—RE=A
=+—H” — 1,311,600 1,311,600
Total unrealised gains for R-ZZE—RF=A
the year included in the = +—HEEE
consolidated income Wﬁi&ﬁ)\ﬁé
statement for asset held at BRRIRE
31st March 2016 Was 4858 —_ 199,514 199,514
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15 Investment properties (Continued) 15 REWHE(E)

ERAERTAIBERBAAZATEENE

Fair value measurement using significant

unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued) (5=, ) (&)
Mainland
Hong Kong China Total
B A B i HEt
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHT FHET
As at 1st April 2014 R-T—WOFMA—H 22,000 983,580 1,005,580
Transfer to owner-occupied HEBESARAME
property (15,011) (15,011)
Transfer to land use rights BEIE S 1 (5 R A — (39,228) (39,228)
Capitalised subsequent HEemASBREN
expenditure — 9,262 9,262
Fair value gain on investment &Y% 2 AF(EE
property e 204,108 204,108
Disposal s (22,000) — (22,000)
Currency translation differences &¥5[E X =78 — 1,923 1,923
As at 31st March 2015 RZE—HE=A
=+-8 1,144,634 1,144,634
Total unrealised gains for R-ZE—RHF=A
the year included in the =t+—HIRBEE
consolidated income RAFRE T ARG
statement for asset held at Bamik 2 AREHR
31st March 2015 W fE 5 204,108 204,108
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e MR

15 BREWE(E)

ERAERTAERGAZAFEENE
(B=F) (%)

ERERBEATAERBA(F=ZE)ZAF¥EE

15 Investment properties (Continued)

Fair value measurement using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

Information about fair value measurements using significant

unobservable input (Level 3) as follows:

SHEZERMT

Range of Relationship of
Valuation Unobservable unobservable inputs unobservable
Description Fair value technique inputs (weighted average) inputs to fair value
TABRBAEE ROUBEBHAEATF
fhak DREE BERT REUBEHA (hnAEF19) BEZBE
(HK$’000)
(F#m)
As at 31st March 2016
RZE-—R"E=A=+—H
Investment property 1,311,600 Income Adjusted market yield 5.75% to 6.75% The higher the
— Mainland China capitalisation (5.91%) weighted average
approach adjusted market
yield, the higher the
fair value
REM*E — TEAM W B A% RREMS KX 5.75% £ 6.75% IS R T 5
(5.91%) LHE AFEEES
Range of Relationship of
Valuation Unobservable unobservable inputs unobservable
Description Fair value technique inputs (weighted average) inputs to fair value
AUBEBAEE RUBEHARLIF
it AFEE GEREN TABEHA (hnEF15) BEZEE
(HK$°000)
(F&x)
As at 31st March 2015
RZE-—RF=A=+—H
Investment property 1,144,634 Income Adjusted market 5.75% to 7.75% The higher the
— Mainland China capitalisation yield (6.08%) weighted average
approach adjusted market
yield, the higher
the fair value
REM*E — DEAM W B A% RREMS R RE 5.75% & 7.75% pill: BRSFCEL ikl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 Investment properties (Continued) 15 REWE(E)

Valuation processes of the investment property

The Group engages external, independent and qualified
valuer to determine the fair value of investment property
at the end of every financial year. As at 31st March 2015
and 2016, the fair value of the investment property was
determined by Knight Frank Petty Limited.

The Group’s finance department reviews the valuations
performed by Knight Frank Petty Limited for financial
reporting purpose. These valuation results are then reported
to the Group’s management for discussions and review in
relation to the valuation processes and the reasonableness of
valuation results.

The main Level 3 input used by the Group is derived and
evaluated as follows:

Adjusted market yield

The adjusted market yield has been determined by
making reference to recent sales and rental transactions
with adjustments to reflect the differences between the
comparables and the investment property, in terms of
location, building quality and other factors.

REMXZEERF

REBREINPBEL KA BB G EMETNS M
BEFEERREYEZATEE R-_Z—1FK
“E-RF=ZHA=1T—H REWEZAFEE
E R BFEITERQRERE

AEE 2 HFRPIE M B RE B OVATHR MR
BRI BIEHENTT AR A REHL 2 A - BRAMAE
BRERBAASBEEEER  AGERRF
R EARNEEIEETTH MR

AEBEERNERRAE =—EBARFHET

REB TS W R

RAEMSRRXDEL2EARHERBEER
5 (4838 B AR BR AT LE 809 26 BR 1% 8 W) 3R P (L
E BTEHEREMARITEIER) TINERE
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A ISR R R

16 Land use rights 16

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid
operating lease payments and their net book amounts are
analysed as follows:

+ it 5 A A

AEER L ERE DB ENERBOR
AR EREFEAFTMOT

2016 2015

—E-REF —ET-hEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

At beginning of year REH) 47,977 10,123
Transfer from investment property (Note 15) #&# B2 &2 (Hi3F15) — 39,228
Amortisation 2 5 (1,607) (1,387)
Currency translation differences EMEN =58 (1,834) 13
At end of year RER 44,536 47 977

Amortisation of land use rights has been included in “general
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated income
statement.

As at 31st March 2016, the Group’s land use rights of
approximately HK$34,817,000 (2015: HK$38,056,000) were
pledged as collaterals for the Group’s long-term bank loans
(Note 31).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

17 Intangible assets 17 B EE

Distribution Favourable
Goodwill rights lease terms Total
B DEHRE BRAEERT ko]
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHL RV FAT
At 1st April 2014 R-ZZE—NFMA—A
Cost BN 68,321 8,339 12,610 89,270
Accumulated amortisation RN — (1,891) (196) (2,087)
Net book amount AR S 58 68,321 6,448 12,414 87,183
Year ended 31st March 2015 HZE—-Z— R4
“A=+—HLEFE
Opening net book amount AR SRR 68,321 6,448 12,414 87,183
Amortisation i3] — (829) (626) (1,455)
Currency translation e A
differences 54 1 8 58
Closing net book amount HRAR RS RR 68,375 5,620 11,791 85,786
At 31st March 2015 R-E—RF=A=1+—H
Cost B A 68,375 8,348 12,618 89,341
Accumulated amortisation 2ETHH — (2,728) (827) (3,555)
Net book amount IRE 5 68,375 5,620 11,791 85,786
Year ended 31st March 2016 HZE_-ZT—/<&F
“A=+—HLFE
Opening net book amount HA ¥ BRI 58 68,375 5,620 11,791 85,786
Amortisation 1 55 — (814) (616) (1,430)
Currency translation SHEE =
differences (3,359) (255) (564) (4,178)
Closing net book amount HY AR BRTH # 58 65,016 4,551 10,611 80,178
At 31st March 2016 RZE—R"F=A=1+—H
Cost B 65,016 7,939 11,997 84,952
Accumulated amortisation ERE T — (3,388) (1,386) (4,774)
Net book amount BRI 58 65,016 4,551 10,611 80,178

Y

DHEMANEEGRREE L EF AREER
R —BRITH ] -

Amortisation expense of distribution rights and favorable
lease terms have been included in the “general and
administrative expenses” in the consolidated income
statement.
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A ISR R R

17 Intangible assets (Continued)
Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGUs as follows:

17 |BEE (&)
BB R ER
BEROREARBM I ROEEBLMT -

2016 2015
—E-RE ZT—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Building and design solutions BEEMRRTAR

— Wuhan (“Wuhan BDS”) — RE(REREER K
Rt ED 6,529 6,866

— Changsha (“Changsha BDS”) — ROV RPBEEERK
HEtAE]D) 4,135 4,349
Property business in Shanghai R 82 B E T 54,352 57,160
65,016 68,375

The recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering the budget period. Key assumptions

used for value-in-use calculations:

B BEEL
BER

e
TERE -

ReELSUzA RSB EBAEREREE
E o At EREREEIENRRE S REFRAER
AEEREEMAZE

Key assumptions as at 31st March 2016
R-ZBE-RF=ZA=+-HAZEERR

Property

Wuhan BDS Changsha BDS business

ERRBHAFRE ERRIFFR B EER

Growth rate of revenue W A 38 = 3 10% 9% 10%
Not applicable

Operating profit margin SIS 2%-3% 2%-3% TEA
Pre-tax discount rate TR AT AL TR & 20% 20% 13%
Not applicable

Gross margin EF = 10% 15% TEA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nVT\

17

BRI

Intangible assets (Continued)
Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued)

Management determined the average annual growth rate of
revenue based on past performance and its expectations of
market development. The discount rates used reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant segments.

The recoverable amount of Wuhan BDS calculated based
on value in use exceeded the carrying value. Growth rate
of revenue in Wuhan BDS falls to 8% would remove the
remaining headroom.

The recoverable amount of Changsha BDS calculated based
on value in use exceeded the carrying value. Growth rate
of revenue in Changsha BDS falls to 7% would remove the
remaining headroom.

The recoverable amounts of property business calculated
based on value in use exceeded the carrying value. No
reasonable possible range in key assumptions on which
management has based its determination of recoverable
amount would cause the carrying amount to exceed its
recoverable amount.

/\\\}F/ﬁE (l%;)
R ER (&)

EEBREBBERANEEM SRR AHREE
FHPANEREX - AR XRREERED EH
B2 RERRR o

BUERESRE MR ﬂ'EwZTW@iéﬁﬁzﬁﬂ%f‘i
ERBRMEERTE - EREEMMR TR
ZWANIRRETH%ZE 8% IR HR B EH °

EPRERERMR I RZAIE RS ERERE
EREAERMEETE - RAOEEEMMR TR
ZWANIBRET R 7% iR HIR A =5 o

%ﬁﬂ?%i’ﬂz—ﬂlﬁl@ CRRERBEERBREE
BitE - EEEET A RESEMKIEZEER
RTEHESEEHES S R RESREBEA
Y El &5 o
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18 Financial instruments by category

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

18 SRITESHE

Fair value
Loan and through Available-
receivables profit or loss for-sale Total
BERRER FFABZEZ
BR NEEE e #Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FHER FTART FEx FER
As at 31st March 2016 R-E—XRF
=A=+—~H
Assets as per consolidated #ZR&HBMRREAZ
statement of financial BE
position
Available-for-sale financial A ftH & 2 B & & E
asset —_ —_ 487 487
Amounts due from joint FEUR A & A7)
ventures 15,593 — — 15,593
Trade and other receivables & W B 7k K 2 4tb & Ui BR 51
(excluding non-financial (TEEFNBEE)
assets) 779,880 — — 779,880
Financial assets at fair value RAFEE AEZ
through profit or loss 2 EEE — 15,630 — 15,630
Pledged bank deposits EHRAEITER 59,166 — — 59,166
Cash and cash equivalents & MR& % 546,261 — — 546,261
Total St 1,400,900 15,630 487 1,417,017

At amortised

cost
R 88 B A
HK$’000
FET

As at 31st March 2016 R=B-RF=A=+-—H

Liabilities as per consolidated statement FEMBRRARAZEE
of financial position

Borrowings BE 1,992,384
Trade and bill payables FERTBRR R R R 132,581
Other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities) HAEERF(TEIBEFET B EE) 74,000
Total @at 2,198,965
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e ISR M R

18 Financial instruments by category
(Continued)

18 SR T ES ¥ (&)

Fair value
Loan and through Available-
receivables profit or loss for-sale Total
ERRER FTAE&®EZ
BREX NEEE A HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
As at 31st March 2015 R=-ZF—HF
=A=+—~H
Assets as per REMBMRREAZ
consolidated statement BE
of financial position
Available-for-sale financial A ftH & 2 B & EE
asset — — 458 458
Amounts due from joint FEUR & & A7)
ventures 4,468 — — 4,468
Trade and other receivables & W BE 7k K 2 b & Ui BR 5%
(excluding non-financial (TEEIFNBEE)
assets) 586,987 — — 586,987
Financial assets at fair value RAFEEt AEZ
through profit or loss ZIEEE — 7,989 = 7,989
Pledged bank deposits EEMIRITER 38,876 — — 38,876
Cash and cash equivalents & MRS EE 354,997 — — 354,997
Total st 985,328 7,989 458 993,775

At amortised

cost
TR SR AR
HK$'000
FAT

As at 31st March 2015 R-E—HFE=A=+—H

Liabilities as per consolidated statement FEMBRRRAZEE
of financial position

Borrowings BE 1,448,482
Trade and bill payables FERTBRR R R R 151,604
Other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities) HA@EER (N EIEIEMBEE) 47,793
Total wat 1,647,879
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e MR

19 Subsidiaries

19 HEAS

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March 2016

are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

R_E—RNF=ZA=+—

BR -

Percentage of

B2 EZEWMBRRIZEH

Principal activities

establishment and kind Particulars of  equity interest attributable and place of
Name of legal entity issued share capital to the Group (i) operations
AL Lt BEfT rEEERS
g9 REGRERME A2 e BRABEE 2 (i) FTEEBRBLHE
2016 2015
“E-RE —T-hf
Asia Infrastructure Cayman Islands, limited HK$0.2 100% — Investment holding in
Resources Group Limited liability company Hong Kong
THEREREEARAR HSHS  BREAELH 0287 REBREER
Eastlink International British Virgin Islands, limited US$1 100% 100% Property business in
Investment Inc. liability company Mainland China
REERREBRARA ERELHS - 1%L s leilabibd -3 37
BEREEAT
Fit Team Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands, limited US$4 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong
liability company Kong
RERLES - 4% REBREER
BRAFAA
He Tai Steel Co., Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HK$35,000,000 100% 100% Trading of recycling steel in
company Hong Kong
MEHEERA A BE  BREEDH 35,000,000/ 7T R&EB BB R KN
HSL China Metropolitan Cayman Islands, limited US$1 60% 60% Investment holding in Hong
Fund | (GP) Ltd. liability company Kong
HSHS 1%L REBREER
BREEAT
Hongkong and Shanghai British Virgin Islands, limited USD1 100% — Investment holding in
Land Group Limited liability company Hong Kong
REMESEBRAR RERAEE 1% REBREER
BREEAT
Shanghai Bao Shun Chang ~ Mainland China, limited US$3,687,500 100% 100%  Stockholding and trading of
International Trading Co., liability company steel in Mainland China
Ltd. (ii)
HEEIREHRES HER - 3,678,500% T R ER s R
BB (i) BREARR EE@MT
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 MIE AR (&)

Place of incorporation/

Percentage of

Principal activities

establishment and kind Particulars of  equity interest attributable and place of
Name of legal entity issued share capital to the Group (i) operations
EMER, R [5x4 FEEER
£ REGRERIMEE RA 25 RAEEE 2 (i) TEXBREEHE
2016 2015
ZE-RE “T-1%
Van Shung Chong (B.V.1.) British Virgin Islands, limited US$6 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong
Limited (i) liability company Kong
EEENEHS B REBREER
BRAERTA
Van Shung Chong Hong Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2,000 ordinary 100% 100% Provision of management
Limited company and HK$10,000,000 services in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred (iii)
BIRETARR % GREARH 2,000/ T & @ik REBREEE R
510,000,000 %7t
EREZEETRR (i)
VSC Building Products Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares,
Company Limited company kitchen cabinets
and home furniture
and kitchen cabinet
installation in Hong Kong
BIREREMHER, BE BREERAH 2B m%@;;gﬂ Bk
VSC (China) Investments Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong
Limited company Kong
EIRE (hE)REBRAHA B BREEAH 2B REBREER
VSC Plastics Company Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2 100% 100% Trading of engineering
Limited company plastics in Hong Kong
BESZBBRA BB BREEAHA 28T REBEETRER
VSC Steel Company Limited  Hong Kong, limited liability HK$38,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Stockholding and trading of
company and HK$20,000,000 steel in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred (iii)
BIRSHEAER B8 BREAAT 38,0008 L& B REEFHRERMMN
% 20,000,000 %7
BERZEELRG (iil)
VSC Steel Processing Hong Kong, limited liability HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong
Holdings Limited company Kong, and provision of
logistic and management
service
BIRESAM MIERER BE BREEAHA 18T REBRERRRREEIRR

NG

ERRG
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

19 B2 T (&)

Percentage of

Principal activities

establishment and kind Particulars of  equity interest attributable and place of
Name of legal entity issued share capital to the Group (i) operations
AL/ Rt BT TEEERS
£8 REGRERIME B2 REEHEBEDH() TEXBREEHE
2016 2015
= = it
VSC Steel Processing Hong Kong, limited liability HK$1 100% 100%  Operation of the premises
Limited company situated in Tsing Yi
EIREAMMIERAT Bk BREEDH 1B BEUNER 5
M kERES(LE) Mainland China, limited US$6,500,000 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares in
BRAF (iv) liability company Mainland China
HER 6,500,000 % 7T REBEREEZA
BREEATF
BIRE(L8)hEEE Mainland China, limited US$7,280,000 100% 100%  Provision of management
BRATF (iv) liability company service and trading
of sanitary wares and
kitchen cabinets in
Mainland China
REAH 7,280,000%7T R B A REE R RERE
BREEDH ERAREE
REZSEMERAA (v) Mainland China, limited RMB 10,000,000 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares in
liability company Mainland China
HE A - AR 10,000,000 RAERMEEZE
BRAEARHE
EETRENESRE Mainland China, limited US$500,000 100% 100% Property agent in Mainland
BB (vi) liability company China
HEIR - 500,000%7T KBRS ANERE
BREEATF
RPEREMERD R (vii) Mainland China, limited RMB8,000,000 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares in
liability company Mainland China
HER, - AKH#8,000,000 70 RREAEEZA
BREEAT
$REZ5(LB)BBEAR (vii) Mainland China, limited RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Trading of engineering
liability company plastics in Mainland
China
FEIAH - AR#5,000,0007 RPEMNEETIZER
BREFRH
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e I RS ER R MR

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(i)  The shares of Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) Limited are held
directly by the Company. The shares of other subsidiaries

are held indirectly.

(i)  Wholly owned enterprise established in Mainland China with

an operating period of 30 years to 2023.

(iii) These non-voting deferred shares are owned by the
Group. The non-voting deferred shares have no voting
rights, are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up
unless a sum of HK$2,000,000,000 has been distributed
to the holders of ordinary shares for Van Shung Chong
Hong Limited or a sum of HK$10,000,000,000 has been
distributed to the holders of ordinary shares for VSC Steel

Company Limited.

(iv) Wholly foreign owned enterprises established in Mainland
China with an operating period of 20 years to 2023.

(v) Wholly owned enterprise established in Mainland China with

an operating period of 10 years to 2021.

(vi) Wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland
China with an operating period of 10 years to 2020.

(vii) Wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland
China with an operating period of 50 years to 2062.

(viii) Wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland
China with an operating period of 30 years to 2044.

19 B2 R (%)
pa -

(M)

(if)

(iiif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

Van Shung Chong (B.V.1.) Limited Z f%{5 8
AAREREEA - AfKE R R 2R 7 Ak #E
ESZ=IKd

WP BEAMKIZIEBELE  BEHA
F ZT_=F|f-

WEBRIERERMOBAEEES - BR
T%Ekaﬁﬁ&%%’W%%%%%%
DERE - KBIEETERA @khﬁ
ABEDIK2, OOO OOO OOO/%TEZ SR
g & 50 8 FR BRASEAEAEED K
10,000,000,000 5%7_127)\@,5']%% °

RAABERMKZZINEBERE  KEHA
20F  BE_EF_=F |-

[

%¢lmm&12ﬁﬁﬁ¥'ﬁ%%ﬁm
F BT —Fo

W¢lm%ﬁiZ%ﬁﬁéﬁ¥'@%%ﬁ
10F E=F-_FF|F-

RAEBERMKZ ZINERERE L8
506 BTN _FIt

&l
S
&

(vii) RABIAMBKZZIEBERR  KEHR

304 « E=FPOPYLF |F o

Annual Report 2015/16 42§

141



142

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR R R

20 Investments in associates

20 REFERRIZRE

2016 2015

ZE-XRF ZE—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FHET

Investments in associates REE QAR ZIE — 7,696

The movements of investments in associates are as follows: REEE QR 2 HELEWOT -

2016 2015

—E-RE it

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT T

At beginning of year RFEH) 7,696 237,179

Share of results of associates — net FEMREE & N A 2 ¥E — F58 (7,364) (1,056)

Distribution from an associate —EBE AR 29K — (228,484)

Currency translation differences EHEE N = (332) 57

At end of year RER — 7,696
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31st ATHINAEBRR T —RF =+—HZH
March 2016. The associates as listed below have share ERAE e LTAAEE R EAR LT AR K

capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held

directly by the Group.
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e I RS ER R MR

20 Investments in associates (Continued)

Details of the principal investments in associates as at 31st
March 2016 are as follows:

20 RBEQ T 2 RE (H])

E/\

E-RF=ZA=+—"RZIBRBLERTZ

WEFBWOT -

Place of business/country % of Nature of Measurement
Name of entity of incorporation ownership interest the relationship method
EREB B¥i/ FRRLAEER EEEERANL HEME FARFE
2016 2015
ZE-R"E  —T-nF
China Able Limited (“China Able”) Mainland China/British Virgin 33.30% 33.30% Note i Equity method
Islands
HRENN, RERLHES Bt R
Changshu Baoshunchang Steel Mainland China 49.99% 49.99% Note ii Equity method
Processing Co., Ltd. (“”‘ﬁtﬁﬂ\ﬁa”)
FAZIESHMMIERA HE A Btz i %
([FABIEE])
Notes: Bt
(i) China Able was engaged in the property business. It is (i) China AbleftSE¥%7% - EAMAFit Team
a contractual joint venture which is held in equal shares Holdings Limited (AN&EB 2z 2 &M EAA])
among Fit Team Holdings Limited, a wholly owned — {38375 =75 Nanyang Industrial (China)
subsidiary of the Group, Nanyang Industrial (China) Limited, Limited & 5 — {752 % = J5 Marvel Champ
an independent third-party and Marvel Champ Investments Investments Limited X R4FH FRER 7D 2 —
Limited, another independent third-party. It remains inactive Megna e HREBE-_T—RF=A=+—
since distribution was made to shareholders for the year HIiEFERRREL 9 IR B E & E o
ended 31st March 2015.
(i) H#AEBIESis engaged in the processing of steel. It is a (i) FABIESHFEMINT - AR B A

contractual joint venture established in Mainland China
with an operating period of 30 years to 2035. Management
assessed the Group maintained significant influence and no
control over the operating activities of the entity.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interest in the associates.

Z—HAEERR - LEHI0F _g ﬁ
Fit - BEEFHAEEHZERB 2 EE
eI AT AN E o

WEKABESRAEERE 2 AR 2 -
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e MR

20 RFE DR ZRE(R)
BERNTAMBENRE
TRAFINBEAR 2B S QAT 2B AR

20 Investments in associates (Continued)
Summarised financial information for associates

Set out below are the summarised financial information for

144

associates which are accounted for using equity method. ZFo
Associates not
individually significant Total
ik 3 )IEDN
China Able EREIES ZBERT @t
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
ZB-RF ZZT-0F ZB-R"E ZT-1F ZB-RE ZZ-1Ff ZB-R§f ZZT-0f
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER T THr THL TiEn T TR THR
Summarised statement OBRREHE
of financial position
Current assets nRBEE
Cash and cash equivalents ~ E&REEEE 46 64 4,138 3,248 449 474 4,633 3,786
Other current assets AR EE - — 18,665 40,771 12,908 51,437 31,568 92,208
Total current assets RBEELAH 46 64 22,803 44,019 13,352 51,911 36,201 95,994
Financial liabilities HKaR - — (18,697)  (24,063)  (10,806)  (45,705)  (29,503)  (69,768)
Other current liabilities EREaE (50) (28) (8,042) (9,014) (3,185)  (13601)  (11,277)  (22,643)
Total current liabilities RBaEaE (50) (28)  (26,739)  (33,077)  (13,991)  (59,306)  (40,780)  (92,411)
Non-current assets FRBEE - = 2,884 4,426 9,520 41,944 12,404 46,370
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEAE - — - —  (86,607)  (71,846)  (46,607)  (71,846)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfE)/BEFE (4) 36 (1,052) 15,368 (37,726)  (37,297)  (38,782)  (21,893)
Summarised statement of ~ 2EEZAME
comprehensive income
Revenue WA - = 56,253 74,480 2,724 156,632 58,977 231,112
Loss before tax B AIEE (22) (252)  (16,082) (1,948) (3,871) (5,265)  (19,975) (7,465)
Income tax expense R - - - - - — - -
Loss for the year FERE (22) (252)  (16,082) (1,948) (3,871) (5,265)  (19,975) (7,465)
Currency translation EHERET
differences (18) 168 (338) 6 (1,190) (63) (1,546) 111
Total comprehensive loss FERXAFRESR
for the year (40) (84)  (16,420) (1,942) (5,061) (5,328)  (21,521) (7,354)
Distributions to shareholders  ARE 27k — (685452 - - - — —  (685,452)
Unrecognised share of losses AHERAEHERE )] — (683) — (1,703) (2,887) (2,387) (2,887)
Cumulative unrecognised 2t ARERERER
share of losses (1) — (683) — (30,547)  (28,844)  (31,231)  (28,844)
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e I RS ER R MR

20 Investments in associates (Continued)

Summarised financial information for associates

(Continued)

The information above reflects the amounts presented in
the financial statements of the associates (and not the
Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in

accounting policies between the Group and the associates.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented to the carrying amount of its interest in associates

20 REFERR 2 RE (H)
BEATMBENEE(HE)

bt BB BRI
) ER

U
Ty

TRTN
=

FEEERIGEZEHE) °

MBENBEHIR

@%ﬂ%

2R BERRERR

Associates not

A BmRET A AL
SR BRRERFLREZSR(L

AR 2 BRE

individually significant Total
YHBHER
China Able EREIES ZBENT i
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
ZB-RE ZT-1F ZB-’§ ZT-1F ZE-RF —T-0f ZEB-RFf —Z-IF
HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THT THER TR TR THT TR THT
Summarised financial IBERHE
information
Net assets/(liabilities) RENZBE/
at beginning of year (BR)FE 36 685572 15,368 17310 (37,297)  (31,969)  (21,893) 670,913
Loss for the year rEEER (22) (252)  (16,082) (1,948) (3,871) (5,265)  (19,975) (7,465)
Distributions to shareholders  FIREZ 7k —  (685,452) - — - — —  (685,452)
Disposal HE — — - — 4,632 — 4,632 —
Currency translation differences E#[EH 2% (18) 168 (338) 6 (1,190) (63) (1,546) 111
Net (liabilities)/assets REXZ(8E)/
at end of year BERE @) 36 (1,052) 15368  (37,726)  (37,297)  (38,782)  (21,893)
Investments in associates WEE ARl 2R A
Carrying value RAEE - 12 - 7,684 - = - 7,696
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RS ER R MR

21 Investments in joint ventures/amounts
due from joint ventures

21 REERTAIZRE FEREE QT

2016 2015

—E-RE —F—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Investments in joint ventures REERAZIRE 148,108 135,159
Amounts due from joint ventures A &R A 15,593 4,468

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and without pre-determined repayment
terms. The carrying amounts are denominated in HK$ and
approximate their fair values.

The movements of investments in joint ventures are as
follows:

ERELRRZ EBAEER - Nt ERALEE
RS - FHSBAB T EREERFEE
BE

2016 2015

—E-REF —T—AF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FHTT

At beginning of year EAE%)] 135,159 —

Investments in joint ventures (Note (i)) REE R TZ&%(W%(')) 19,500 132,114

Share of results of joint ventures — net Ehegnalz¥E — F58 4,437 1,930

Currency translation differences BT N =R (10,988) 1,115

At end of year RER 148,108 135,159

Note: Bt 5

(i) On 4 January 2016, the Group made capital injection of (i) RZZE—R"E—AWEAB "EBEMRTVSCEE

HK$19,500,000 to TVSC. On 11 November 2014, the Group
made capital injection of approximately HK$132,114,000 to
HSL.

Set out below are the joint ventures of the Group as at 31st
March 2016. The joint ventures as listed below have share
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held
directly by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RS ER R MR

21 Investments in joint ventures/Amount
due from a joint venture (Continued)

21 RABATZRE EHAEAT

Details of the principal investments in joint ventures as at RZEB—ARFZA=ZT—HAZEEREERAIZ
31st March 2016 are as follows: WEFBWOT ¢
Place of business/country of % of Nature of the ~ Measurement
Name of entity incorporation ownership interest relationship method
BEEAH BEWFRKLFEER FEREZEON BELE SERE
2016 2015
—E-RF “T-h%
HSL Mainland China/Cayman Islands 29.44% 29.44% Note i Equity method
hERN, FEHS ] ERA
TVSC Hong Kong 50.00% 50.00% Note i Equity method
BE HEEii EwA
Notes: BEE -

(i) HSL is a property investment fund, which is held by the
Group and certain independent third parties.

(i) TVSC is engaged in the provision of steel processing
services in Hong Kong. TVSC is a contractual joint venture,
which is held by the Group and an independent third party.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interests in the joint ventures.

(i) HSLAEHERERES BHAKEEETE
VEZHEAE e

(i) TVSCRAEBH ERMHME N TRH - TVSC
A—HEEAR HAKEER—(BYE=H
A o

YESABBESRAEERE L QA ZHEH ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

21 Investments in joint ventures/amounts 21 REELQNFZRE EBREE LT
due from joint ventures (Continued) (&)
Summarised financial information for joint EENTIMEERENE
ventures
Set out below are the summarised financial information for TREFAEZREARZAE R ZHHEER T
joint ventures which are accounted for using equity method. Fo
HSL TVSC Total
#at
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

—E-xF ZT-HF ZB-RE ZT-HF ZE-R"F —T—AHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET FEx T FERx T

Summarised statement B Bt R FEHE
of financial position

Current assets RBEE
Cash and cash RekHe%EE

equivalents 329,255 72,087 2,563 — 331,818 72,087
Other current assets Hi R EE 1,642,339 6,019 8,466 90 1,650,805 6,109
Total current assets REEEHLE 1,971,594 78,106 11,029 90 1,982,623 78,196

Financial liabilities and B#HE&ER

total current liabilities REEBEHAE (353,986) (14,038) (23,104) (4,517)  (377,090) (18,555)
Non-current assets kREBEE 175,124 1,205,206 29,950 4,213 205,074 1,209,419
Non-current financial ERBEHKERE

liabilities (564,951)  (613,583) — — (564,951)  (613,583)
Other non-current HibIERBAE

liabilities (755,055) (196,590) — — (755,055) (196,590)
Total non-current FRBERLEE

liabilities (1,320,006)  (810,173) — — (1,320,006) (810,173)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BR)FE 472,726 459,101 17,875 (214) 490,601 458,887
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21 Investments in joint ventures/amounts 21 REELQTIZRE EBREE QT
due from joint ventures (Continued) (&)
Summarised financial information for joint BERRNBERME(E)

ventures (Continued)

HSL TVSC Total
E
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

=B-AF —FT-HF =B-R"F —FT-HF =B-RF _T-EHF
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
THRT TAT TR TAT TER TAT

Summarised statement 2 EHEHFHE
of comprehensive

income
Revenue WA 42,898 8,985 4,748 — 47,646 8,985
Depreciation weE (1,217) (187) (483) — (1,700) (187)
Finance income B U 302 36 - — 302 36
Finance cost B8 (33,425) (8,685) (16) — (33,441) (8,685)

Profit/(loss) before tax BRBATERI

(B18) 631,819 16,091 (24,947) (214) 606,872 15,877
Income tax expense PTiEHi i (580,868) (9,537) 4,036 — (576,832) (9,537)
Profit/(loss) for the year — @R F,/(EE) 50,951 6,554 (20,911) (214) 30,040 6,340
Currency translation BHEE A=
differences (37,326) 3,790 — — (37,326) 3,790
Total comprehensive FE2ERA/
income/(loss) for the (BB ®E
year 13,625 10,344 (20,911) (214)  (7,286) 10,130
Unrecognised share REREGEE
of losses — — — (107) — (107)

Cumulative unrecognised ZztRIERRELN

share of losses E#E - — — (107) — (107)
The information above reflects the amounts presented in LilERNRERREGE QA BHREEY] ARASE
the financial statements of the joint ventures (and not the EESENFSHBREEEL AR 2B
Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences IAREERGZEHE) ©
in accounting policies between the Group and the joint
ventures.
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21 Investments in joint ventures/amounts 21 REELQNFZRE EBREE LT
due from joint ventures (Continued) (&)
Reconciliation of summarised financial MBERBE LR
information
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information ERVEERBEHRAEFBNES L QA 2 #ES
presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in Zﬂﬁﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂﬁ

joint ventures

HSL TVSC Total
Mt
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

—E-xF ZT-HF ZB-RE ZT-HF ZE-R"F —T—AHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET FEx T FERx T

Summarised financial H¥ERBE

information
Net assets at beginning REHZ

of year BEFE 459,101 — (214) — 458,887 —
Capital injection by BRZEE

shareholders — 448,757 39,000 — 39,000 448,757
Profit/(loss) for the year RNEE %A,/

(E18) 50,951 6,554 (20,911) (214) 30,040 6,340

Currency translation G A

differences (37,326) 3,790 — — (37,326) 3,790
Net assets/(liabilities) FRZEBE/

at end of year (E1 )3 472,726 459,101 17,875 (214) 490,601 458,887
Investments in joint REERNRLZ

ventures S
Carrying value REEE 139,171 135,159 8,937 — 148,108 135,159
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e ISR M R

22 Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) 22 REFEHEE (AF)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the
deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income
taxed levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis. The offset
amounts are as follows:

EEARNHMEHEEEZNRMEH A EEH

BIRRBIITIE - ARE R —HIEEAERZE
AR BERRTFERHERY
BEMGHREEBEMER R BRASREZ
FRERTER  REMSNEERARBLTAE

R - HIHS BT

LELEFSHREEN

2016 2015
—E—RE —E—HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHT T T
Deferred income tax assets: REFTSTREE «
— Deferred income tax assets to be — BR+ =@ A%KEZ
recovered after 12 months FEFTSTEE 10,578 17,224
— Deferred income tax assets to be — BR+=EARKE 2
recovered within 12 months BIEFTSREE 7,878 4,236
18,456 21,460
Deferred income tax liabilities: BEEFSRAERE
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — BR+ @ A®%EEZ
settled after 12 months BRI A E (200,438) (158,594)
Net deferred income tax liabilities REFTST B EFEE (181,982) (137,134)
The movements in net deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) RIEFIEHEE,/(BRE)FHEESHOT :
are as follows:
2016 2015
—E—-XRE —ET—HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T T
At beginning of year REH) (137,134) (92,335)
Charged to the consolidated income ERfReBRxTHR
statement (Note 11) (HgEE11) (53,205) (45,224)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 36) U 8% — I BT B 2 m] (Bt 3£ 36) — 763
Currency translation differences BHE R =58 8,357 (338)
At end of year RER (181,982) (137,134)
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n‘/-ﬁ

BRI

(Continued)

22 Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities

during the year, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as

follows:

22 EEFSHEE (BE) (F)

NFERLEFTE

HEEMBE(ETRE
BEVEER A Z SR 2 BT ¢

Deferred income tax assets: BLEFMEHEE :
Cumulative Decelerated
tax losses depreciation Total
REREFE BT E e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET TET
At 1st April 2014 AN—ZF—[UFE@A—H 14,882 128 15,010
Credited to the consolidated EREGEERERPETA
income statement 7,637 75 7,712
Acquisition of a subsidiary W kg — B A R
(Note 36) (Fft3%36) 763 — 763
Currency translation B A=
differences 29 — 29
At 31st March 2015 KR-Z—hAF¥=A=+—H 23,311 203 23,514
Credited to the consolidated BERGEBERPITA
income statement 2,466 45 2,511
Currency translation S =R
differences (640) — (640)
At 31st March 2016 R-E—R"F=A=+—H 25,137 248 25,385
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22 Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) 22 EEFBHEE (AE)(E)
(Continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities: BEEFSTHARE

Investment Withholding Accelerated

property tax depreciation Total
REWE EMB T E i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FHAT FAT
At 1st April 2014 RZT—WF
V_EUE] H (106,158) (1,043) (144) (107,345)
(Charged)/credited RérEEmETF
to the consolidated (?D&%)/ﬁ)\
income statement (51,028) 246 (2,154) (52,936)
Currency translation EHTE N AR
differences (367) — — (367)
At 31st March 2015 RZT—HF
—A=+—-8 (157,553) (797) (2,298) (160,648)
Charged to the ERiEAEEmRT
consolidated income kR
statement (49,879) (15) (5,822) (55,716)
Currency translation BT A58
differences 8,997 — — 8,997
At 31st March 2016 RIT—RF
=A=+—8H (198,435) (812) (8,120) (207,367)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry- IRIEFTASR & B T B R AR A A0 765 M 2 38 3 SR 2R P
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax u%TR/mf'J“’;'*‘fﬁﬁﬁE‘ﬁFﬁ EEE s TIEEEERR
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. As at E" —~"NFE=A=+—8" E?jﬁ}ﬁlﬁ;@iﬂéﬁ%ﬁ
31st March 2016, the deferred income tax assets recognised R Zf_kﬁﬁ TREE 412,577,000 (=
from tax loss of approximately HK$12,577,000 (2015: — A4 : 10,458,000 7T ) A] LA MR BA4E &2 o ﬁ%
HK$10,458,000) can be carried forward indefinitely. The T2 HIEE 184 12,560,000 B T( =T — A F :
remaining tax losses of approximately HK$12,560,000 (2015: 12,853,000 /870 ) BN EAFEEAFRNKRM

HK$12,853,000) will expire in five years from the year they
were incurred.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of ANEB W EFLL5,442,0008 (= —HF :
approximately HK$5,442,000 (2015: HK$419,000) in respect 419,000 7T ) 2 Ft I8 B 1B #E 7R 49 32,984,000 %
of tax losses amounting to approximately HK$32,984,000 TL(ZZE—FRF : 2,540,000 70) ZiBELEFTEFR
(2015: HK$2,540,000) that can be carried forward indefinitely BEE - & FE F] DA R HA A5 0 DA S R PR IE AR
to offset against future taxable income. Losses amounting TR - E51847 15,752,000 (=T — A F :
to approximately HK$15,752,000 (2015: HK$11,654,000) will 11,654,000 7870 R EEFEER AFRRK

expire in five years from the year they were incurred.

Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$253,000 WERETHBRRZRDIREF 2 EATENE
(2015: HK$241,000) have not been recognised for the R #)253,00078 T(=ZF — A F : 241,000
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted TIZEBLEMEHAE BRAEEELRRERD
earnings of certain subsidiaries, as management currently k%% &R -

has no intention to remit those earnings.
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n‘/-ﬁ

BRI

23 Available-for-sale financial asset

24

23 AIHHEZMBEE

2016 2015

—EB-RE —F—hF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FHET

At beginning of year RE] 458 283
Addition nNE 128 —
Change in fair value (Note 34) NEEESE(HE34) (99) 175
At end of year RER 487 458

Available-for-sale financial asset, which is stated at fair value

and denominated in HKS,

represents shares listed on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

BRFEBEIIRLIAB T EZ AIEEE 2775
BE EREBBARSMARLAA LM

1/\ ®

24 BRNFEESABECMBEE

2016 2015
—E-XRE —T—AfF
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx FHTT

Derivative financial instruments (i) PTEEBMI A
— Steel future contracts — WMEBEAL — 107
— Iron ore future contracts — HREHES 130 —
Investments in corporate notes (ii) NRIEE ZIZE (ii) 15,500 7,882
15,630 7,989

Notes:

(i)

The credit quality of derivative assets has been assessed
with reference to historical information about the
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties do
not have defaults in the past.

As at 31st March 2016, the total notional principal
amount of the outstanding iron ore future contracts was
approximately HK$1,720,000 (2015: steel future contracts
of HK$3,193,000). Net fair value change and net realised
gains on future contracts were recognised in “other (losses)/
gains — net” in the consolidated income statement. The
settlement date is 14th September 2016 (2015: 15th
October 2015).

The investments in corporate notes were denominated
in US$. Changes in fair value were recognised in “other
(losses)/gains — net” in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nVT\

25

26

BRI

Inventories 25 78
2016 2015
ZE-RF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Finished goods SR i 175,634 320,015

The costs of inventories recognised as expenses and
included in
statement amounted to approximately HK$2,950,276,000
(2015: HK$3,470,802,000).

“cost of sales” in the consolidated income

The Group made inventory provision to write down
the inventories to net realisable value. A provision of
HK$15,375,000 (2015: HK$11,991,000) was made as at

#12,950,276,0008 7L (= F— A% : 3,470,802,000
BLIZFEKRACERRX L - WEFAKE
B R Z[HEKA T -

AEERTFEHRBEUBRFEEZE I 2IRF
& ° 15,375,000 0 (=ZZF—HF : 11,991,000
BT ZEBER = f/ﬁ—ﬂ:waEi‘aﬂi':o

31st March 2016. Provision for impairment of inventories of 7 & (B # #%3,897,0008 L (=T — A F ¢
HK$3,897,000 (2015: HK$662,000) was included in “cost of 662,000/ 7T ) B At AR A B %Zf%%ﬁxm
sales” in the consolidated income statement. B oo
Trade and bill receivables 26 EWERRERE
2016 2015
—E-RE E— R4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiExT FAT
Trade and bill receivables FERER R & R &
— from third parties — REE=FH 463,336 558,876
— from an associate and joint ventures — KRB —[MBERE &
SN 12,406 1,600
Less: Provision for impairment of trade B ERERFURE R
receivables (14,025) (7,124)
Trade and bill receivables — net JEUMBE RN ZE — HEE 461,717 553,352
Sales are either covered by letters of credit or open account HEHAEREN ARz RETRET - =
with credit terms of 15 to 90 days. EH-—MNF15E0BTF
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e I RS ER R MR

26 Trade and bill receivables (Continued) 26 EWERR KR ERE (&)
Ageing analysis of trade and bill receivables by invoice date FEWERER R BB BBEEZEA R ZRESITHOT
is as follows:
2016 2015
—E-RE —hHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
0 to 60 days 0—60H 347,169 423,454
61 to 120 days 61— 120 H 61,663 83,054
121 to 180 days 121 — 180 H 14,706 18,894
181 to 365 days 181 — 365 H 27,879 25,967
Over 365 days 3B 365 H 24,325 9,107
475,742 560,476
Less: Provision for impairment of trade R FEUCR SR E B
receivables (14,025) (7,124)
461,717 553,362

As at 31st March 2016, trade and bill receivables of
approximately HK$352,144,000 (2015: HK$433,923,000) were
fully performing and were from customers with no history of
default.

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

R
\—?

352,144,000 7T(=

—NF=A= + B BUERRARERLD

— f 4 : 433,923,000

BT ERRED AR E BHEREHZEP °

e AR

R BERBREEBIAT

2016 2015

—E-XRF —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT T

At beginning of year REH] 7,124 8,830
Provision for impairment recognised in the BERGEEIBHERDERZ

consolidated income statement — net WEEE — TR

(Note 7) (FH=E7) 7,529 642

Write off as uncollectible g 37~ BT Yy [El (217) (2,349)

Currency translation differences HHSHE =58 (411) 1

At end of year RER 14,025 7,124
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26 Trade and bill receivables (Continued)

As at 31st March 2016, trade receivables of approximately
HK$14,025,000 (2015: HK$7,124,000) were impaired and
fully provided for. The amount of provision recovered in
the consolidated income statement during the year was
approximately HK$107,000 (2015: HK$67,000). The ageing
analysis of these receivables is as follows:

26

BURA R RS (&)

RTE—XRNFZA=Z+—8 BREXRY
14,025,000 70 (—ZF — A4 : 7,124,000 7T)
EERERZEEE - AFE  BEREAIERS
FHPUE Z BEEREH107,0008 (T —H
& 67,0008 70) ° %5 EUWIR FKIR L 2 AT 40
™

2016 2015

—EB-RF —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHER TET

0 to 60 days 0—60H — 343
61 to 120 days 61 — 120H — —
121 to 180 days 121 — 180 H — 19
181 to 365 days 181 — 365 H 651 1,373
Over 365 days B8 365 H 13,374 5,389
14,025 7,124

The ageing analysis of trade receivables past due but not
impaired (based on due date) is as follows:

EAHERBEBERHA ) 2 EWERKERE H
MR :

2016 2015

ZE-RF —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHEx AT

0 to 60 days 0—60H 55,389 76,020
61 to 120 days 61 — 120 H 16,897 22,819
121 to 180 days 121 — 180 H 11,520 12,945
181 to 365 days 181 — 365 H 21,888 7,220
Over 365 days #A:E 365 H 3,879 425
109,573 119,429

The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2016.

FRUEEREERZ RASREER T —RF
ZA=T—BZRAFEERE -
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26 Trade and bill receivables (Continued)

The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables were

26 BUWRARRERE (&)

EUWERERBFR TS EATIE G

denominated in the following currencies: & :
2016 2015
—E—XRE —ET—HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
RMB AR 230,154 252,709
HK$ BIT 225,638 251,425
us$ =TT 5,925 49,218
461,717 558,352

27 Prepayments, deposits and other

27 ERNFIR - REREMERRR

receivables
2016 2015
—E-RF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHT
Deposit for acquisition of an investment W —TEREME RS
property 259,231 —
Prepayments for purchases SN 102,801 64,069
Prepayments for property, plant and TR - BE REERIE
equipment 5,296 16,994
Rental and other deposits HehkEfiize 26,554 21,737
Value-added tax recoverable AT Y B E R 7,597 10,421
Others Hi 32,378 11,898
433,857 125,119
Less: Non-current B ORE R (286,316) (32,735)
Current & HA 147,541 92,384
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27 Prepayments, deposits and other

28

receivables (Continued)

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximated their fair values as at 31st March

27 EMHWE - BEREMEEER

(&)

TERRIE - ke REME
R-TB—RNE=ZA=+—

Wik R 2 AR & 3R B
RZAFEERE - &

2016. They were denominated in the following currencies: NRIE - B RAMEWERFA TSI EEEHE -
2016 2015

—E—-RE —ET—ARF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHTT

RMB AR 372,277 77,330
HK$ BT 60,372 35,467
Us$ ETT 1,208 7,946
EURO B 7& — 4,376
433,857 125,119

Pledged bank deposits/Cash and cash

28 CHEARTER RERBELE

equivalents =l
2016 2015
—E—-RE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Cash on hand FEBE® 522 245
Cash at bank HRITIEK 545,273 294,693
Short-term bank deposits RHISRTTE BiTE 59,632 98,935
605,427 393,873
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BEERRITIER (59,166) (38,876)
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEE 546,261 354,997
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BRI

28 Pledged bank deposits/Cash and cash

equivalents (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in the following currencies:

28 SEHFRITIER

N RERREE
BE(&)

EEMRTER LR MREFEA TGRS
& :

2016 2015

—REF —T—nF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHIT

RMB AR 373,445 107,188
HK$ BT 144,650 261,316
Uss$ ETT 87,174 25,189
Others Eh 158 180
605,427 393,873

The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents approximated their fair values as at
31st March 2016.

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit is 0.63%
(2015: 2.05%) per annum. These deposits have an average
maturity of 16 days (2015: 34 days).

As at 31st March 2016, the Group’s bank deposits of
approximately HK$890,000 (2015: Nil), HK$32,119,000 (2015:
HK$13,050,000) and HK$26,157,000 (2015: HK$25,826,000)
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s iron ore future
contracts, long-term and short-term bank loans respectively
(Note 31).

As at 31st March 2016, pledged bank deposits and cash and
bank deposits totalling approximately HK$334,106,000 (2015:
HK$93,740,000) were denominated in RMB and kept in banks
in Mainland China. These funds are not freely convertible in
the international market with exchange rate determined by
the People’s Bank of China.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA

EEMRTERARBR e RS EE 2 RAES RN
ERZZE—REFE=A=+—HZAFEEHRSE

RITEARZLEBRANEREEF063%(ZF—H
&F:205%) ZEEFERNFHEEHB A+ /5B
(ZE—RF: =+mA) -

REZF—A"F=ZA=+—8  AEEZRITEX
#7890,000/8 T(—FE—H4F : ) * 32,119,000
B (= & — A £ : 13,050,000 T ) K
26,157,000 5 7E( T — F 4 : 25,826,000
JL) BAEIRAE EIH%?%ZK%I%E THEHES
4 REREHRTERZ HH R (HES31) o

RZZE—R"F=ZA=+—8 ' EBHEITEZKA
N3 & RIR1TIF KA $£49334,106,000%8 7T(=
T— R4 193,740,000 70) A A RESHEL 17
RAEBE A ot EE R N E BRI 8 B
BERHERAPEARBITERE -
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29 Trade and bill payables

Payment terms with suppliers are either on letters of credit or
open account with credit period of 30 to 60 days.

Ageing analysis of trade and bill payables by invoice date is

29 BENERAREE

E YRR 2 IR A ERE XA 0E60H

EEMZ R ET -

ENERFERBRBEEZARZREDTOT

as follows:
2016 2015
—E-RF —E—AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiEx FAT
0 to 60 days 0—60H 127,894 150,112
61 to 120 days 61— 120 H 3,001 874
121 to 180 days 121 — 180 H 430 114
181 to 365 days 181 — 365 H 724 52
Over 365 days @i’ 365 H 532 452
132,581 151,604
The carrying amounts of trade and bill payables ENERRERZRESREAR T RF=
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2016. They A=+—B2ZRAFEBHEE - BRERKEEREINA
were denominated in the following currencies: T EEEGHE
2016 2015
ZE-RF —T—AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FAT
RMB AR 66,303 61,101
HK$ BT 33,386 38,224
US$ e 32,038 52,279
EURO (g7 854 —
132,581 151,604
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30 Accrued liabilities and other payables 30 Bt EREMESER

162

2016 2015

—E-RF —T—hHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHTT

Accrual for employee benefit expenses it R ERA 22,288 11,360
Accrual for operating expenses FERT A& S 37,744 26,166
Payables for property, plant and equipment B - BE MR EHIE 8,010 —
Provision for onerous contracts BERZNEE 12,000 —
Rental deposits received BWHERE 13,854 10,267
Value-added tax payables JE {12 E TR 92 304
93,988 48,097

Less: Non-current o IEE H (10,755) (7,520)
Current =4l 83,233 40,577

The carrying amounts of accrued liabilities and other
payables approximated their fair values as at 31st March

2016.

Accrued liabilities and other payables were denominated in

the following currencies:

ErtREREEMRR 2 RmMERaE
—NEZA=ZT—HZAFEERE -

BEEN_F

FEFtREREMENRFIATIIE®EE

2016 2015
—E—RE —E—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHxT T T

HK$ BT 55,431 19,851
RMB AR 38,557 28,246
93,988 48,097
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31 Borrowings 31 B E
2016 2015
—E-RE —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER Fi&T
Current & 5
— Trust receipts bank loans, unsecured — EFEMIRIRITE R - R 678,590 741,321
— Short-term bank loans (ii) — FEHIRITE R (i) 118,582 141,622
— Current portion of long-term bank — B EHRARITENR -
loans, secured (i) BHEA (i) 54,789 —
851,961 882,943
Non-current IEE A
— Long-term bank loans, secured (i) — RAEBRITER - HEE () 1,140,423 565,539
Total borrowings fEE4R%E 1,992,384 1,448,482
Notes: PaE -

(i)

(i)

As at 31st March 2016, the long-term bank loans were
secured by the pledge of the Group’s investment property of
approximately HK$1,311,600,000 (2015: HK$1,144,634,000)
(Note 15), property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$13,014,000 (2015: HK$14,426,000), land use rights
of approximately HK$34,817,000 (2015: HK$38,056,000),
bank deposits of approximately HK$32,119,000 (2015:
HK$13,050,000) (Note 28) and corporate guarantee. The
long-term bank loans have no repayment on demand
clause.

As at 31st March 2016, short-term bank loans were
secured by the pledge of the Group’s bank deposits of
approximately HK$26,157,000 (2015: HK$25,826,000) (Note
28).

(i)

(if)

RZZ—AREF=ZA=+—8  EHRTEZRH
AEBEEERKIFZ IR E W4 1,311,600,000
B (ZZT — R F ¢ 1,144,634,00078 7T ) (Pt
15) % WE Kk % & 413,014,000
B T(=— F — f1 14,426,000 7T ) © +
It 18 A #4934,817,0008 T (— T — A F :
38,056,000/ 7t ) * #R 1717 35X 4932,119,000
7 7L (— ZT — A 4 : 13,050,000 7T ) (K 5
28) R A BIERIERA - REIRITERI &£

B ENEHEE AR -

MR-ZBE—RE=A=+—8  EHETERH
AEEE EE IR 2 $R1T71E 34 26,157,000 %8
TT(—Z— A : 25,826,000 7T ) K E K I
(P 28) °
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31 Borrowings (Continued) 31 BE (&)

The maturity of Group’s borrowings in accordance with the AEBEEZFHBNERNERFHE
repayment schedule:

2016 2015
—E-REF —ET-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHTT
Within one year 1R 851,961 882,943
Between one and two years 1E2F 395,984 45,243
Between two and five years 2E 54 744,439 520,296
1,992,384 1,448,482
Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies: BEATSE%EE -
2016 2015
ZE-KRF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHIT
HK$ T 1,201,911 759,977
US$ EV 714,891 596,883
RMB AR 75,582 91,622
1,992,384 1,448,482
The effective interest rates of borrowings (per annum) at the RwER  EEZEBRFNX(BFE)NT :
reporting dates are as follows:
2016 2015
ZE-RF ZE—RF
RMB AR 6.1% 7.8%
HK$ BT 3.2% 3.3%
Us$ ETT 2.7% 2.7%
All the Group’s borrowings as at 31st March 2016 are RZZE—ARF=A=+—0 A&EZMEREE
on floating rate basis and the carrying amounts of the ARFHNEFEREEZRAEEAATE
borrowings approximated their fair values. B -
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31 Borrowings (Continued)

32

31 EE ()

The Group has the following floating rate undrawn borrowing REBBUATKRERZZEEBERE
facilities:
2016 2015
—E—REF —ARF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
— expiring within one year — —FREH 592,548 284,249
— expiring beyond one year — —F1& 35 1,051,188 1,473,380
1,643,736 1,757,629
Share capital 32 BRA
Authorised Issued and fully paid

(Ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each)

(Ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each)

EE ERTRERE
(BRO010BTZEER) (BRO010BTZEER)
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
M &E H{E R EE HE
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
Fhx FHET Tz FHET
As at 31st March 2014 RZE—HF
=A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 417,701 41,770
Exercise of share options  {T{E &R E — — 3,814 381
Issuance of share under  RIEBAREEIEIT
open offer (Note) B (HiE) — — 210,758 21,076
As at 31st March 2015 RZE—RF
=A=1+—H 1,000,000 100,000 632,273 63,227
Exercise of share options  {7{fEER&#E — — 8,363 837
As at 31st March 2016 RZZE—RF
=A=t+—H 1,000,000 100,000 640,636 64,064
Note: BsT -
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders BEAANTERREEARATIR -_E—NE+—A+=

of the Company at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 12th November 2014, the open offer at the price of

ARTZRREFIAE @Rz

CEREER ?;zt

B M AR E B 2 E B AR A 0.50 78 TT I — AR A%

HK$0.50 per rights share on the basis of one rights share for
every two ordinary shares of HK$0.50 was approved. The open
offer was completed on 17th December 2014. The net proceed
received was approximately HK$100,715,000.

Bz EE ?ﬁﬂxﬁi\ﬂxﬂxfﬁo 5078 JT 2 (B 1% Lﬂ@
FEEEEIE ARABREER=_Z—NF+=A
+HEHTEK - B U2 FFTERIEL A 100,715,000
BT
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33 Share options

The Group has a share option scheme under which it may
grant options to any person being an employee, agent,
consultant or representative (including Executive Directors
and Non-executive Directors) of the Group to subscribe for
shares in the Company, subject to a maximum of 30% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to time,
excluding for the shares issued on the exercise of options.
The exercise price will be determined by the Company’s
board of directors and must be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares quoted on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on the date of grant of
the options, which must be a business day (ii) the average
closing prices of the Company’s shares quoted on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options, and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares of HK$0.10
each.

As a result of the completion of the Company’s open offer,
adjustments have been made to the exercise price of the
share options and the number of shares falling to be issued
under the outstanding options granted under the share option
schemes with effect from 17th December 2014.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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AEERA —EREETE - Bt HARTA
SEZEREES  KREA BEREIRK(BEHR
TEERINTES) BREARBARRR 2
- BEHERADRANIREDEITRAZ30%
HERNEEETEBREMET RN - TEE
HEARBEFTSEE KD BANTIRSE
RE()VARRBORREERERR(LEAES
LEREBRBHARIAARRAMHRHT
B () ARABRMRERRLERERRNR
EEEBETEHARZAARRRMHRZ T
Wi fg ¢ K (i) RABRMDEESK0.10ETT
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33 Share options (Continued) 33 IBRE(E)

Movements of share options for the year ended 31st March REBEZE—A"F=ZA=+—BLEFEZERE
2016 were as follows: gEmr -
Adjusted
Exercise exercise As at As at
price per  price per 1st April Cancelled/ 31st March
Date of grant Validity period share share 2015 Granted lapsed  Exercised 2016
I i
KREER —%-1f “E-RE
B¥88 BuE SROHEE  EE" DmA-A B H#/5% Efif =A=1-A
HK$ HK$ '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
AL AL i 1 1 i i
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to
19th January 2025
“Z-n%-A=tH “Z-1§-fAZ1H%
“ZE-RE5-At+hA 0.928 0.928 11,400 = (600) = 10,800
17th December 2013 17th December 2013 to
16th December 2023
ZE-ZEtCATERE ZE-EZEtATtHARE
ZEZ=F+ZRTAH 1.300 1.043 374 — (374) = =
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to
26th November 2023
“F=f+-A=++tB ZE-=F{+-A-f+tHZ
ZZZ=&+-A=1"H 1.300 1.043 9,848 — (374) — 9,474
16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to
15th November 2022
“E-—E+-A+AEB ZE-—#+-AtARZ
“Z--f+—R+EA 0.670 0.537 8,078 — — = 8,078
7th September 2012 7th September 2012 to
6th September 2022
ZE-ZENALH ZZ-ZEAALHEE
ZEZZFNAKRA 0.490 0.393 1 — — = 1
13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to
12th October 2019
EENETATZR “EENETATZHE
Z2-NETATZH 0.504 0.404 20,569 — — (8,363) 12,206
18th September 2009 18th September 2009 to
17th September 2019
ZEENEAATR ZEENEAATNRE
“E-hnEnAt+tA 0.586 0.470 937 — — — 937
19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to
18th June 2018
Z2EN\FRATNA ZZENERATNEE
- \EXAT/NR 0.780 0.626 2,494 = = = 2,494
13th September 2006 13th September 2006 to
12th September 2016
“EERENATZR “EEENATERE
T RENATZR 0.900 0.722 2,244 = = - 2,244
55,945 — (1,348) (8,363) 46,234
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33

Share options (Continued)

Movements of share options for the year ended 31st March

33 B (&)
RBE-T-BE=A=T-RULFEZBRE

2015 were as follows: FEIT
Adjusted
Exercise  exercise As at Adjusted As at
price per  price per  1st April Cancelled/ for Open  31st March
Date of grant Validity period share  share" 2014  Granted  Lapsed  Exercised  Offer (i) 2015
e I R
R -%-pf EOHRE -2-1f
RFA8 R SREEE  AEE"  mA- Sl b3 B fELEE() =A=1-A
HKS HKS '000 000 000 000 000 000
BT BT T T TR T Tk T
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to
19th January 2025
“3-7E-A=1A “T-RE-A-tRZ 0928 0928 = 11,900 (500) = = 11,400
ZECIE-AThE
17th December 2013 17th December 2013 to
16th December 2023
ZE-ZEtIATtE ZF-5tZRTtHE 1300 1.043 300 - - - 74 374
ZRIZEFZ AT
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to
26th November 2023
Z5-Z§t-A=TtA Z3-=F1-B-ttHE 1.300 1.043 7,900 - - — 1,948 9,848
ZECEEt-AC5H
16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to
15th November 2022
Z2-ZE+-A17H IR CEt-AT/EE 0.670 0537 6,480 = — = 1598 8,078
ZRCCET-AT1E
Tth September 2012 Tth September 2012 to
6th September 2022
“E2-ZENAtA “2-ZENAtRZ 0.490 0.393 3,815 — — (3,814) - 1
ZECZENARA
13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to
12th October 2019
ZEENETAT=R ZEENETAT=RE 0.504 0.404 16,500 - — - 4,069 20,569
ZE-NETATZH
18th September 2009 18th September 2009 to
17th September 2019
“EENEAATIR ZERNENATIRE 0586 0.470 752 - - - 185 937
ZEZ-NENATLR
19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to
18th June 2018
“EZ\EXATIA Z2Z\EXAThBE 0.780 0.626 3,000 — (1,247) — 4 2,494
ZE-\ErATIA
13th September 2006 13th September 2006 to
12th September 2016
ZEEENATER R ENATERE 0.900 0.722 1800 = = = 444 2,044
“E-"ENATZH

40,547 11,900 (1,747) (3814) 9,059 55,945
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33 Share options (Continued)
Note:

(i)  The exercise prices and number of shares granted prior to
17th December 2014 under the share options scheme were
adjusted for the open offer.

Options exercised in the year resulted in approximately
8,363,000 shares (2015: 3,814,000 shares) being issued, at
weighted average exercise price of HK$0.40 (2015: HK$0.49)
per ordinary share with total proceeds of approximately
HK$3,379,000 (2015: HK$1,869,000). The related weighted
average price at the time of exercise was HK$0.98 (2015:
HK$1.37) per ordinary share.

33 BREGHE)

3%

() ABURRARIER B0 =B — P+ = AR
Z IR 2 R BA B AR (e
B -

REETEERESBUZNETHESRE R
X040 TT(Z T —RF 0498 L) ETH
8,363,000 % J& 17 (= F — A 4F : 3,814,000 %
B2 ) o FT/8 FIB A 58 49 /53,379,000 Jo( =
T —AF 1,869,000/ 7T) o ITIFEEARIER 2
BEAMEFIRELATGREBAR098FT(ZE
—HRE :1.3787T) °
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34 Reserves

Capital

Share ~ Share option  redemption
premium reserve  reserve (ii)
BheE E1RE

kR i i i)
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000
Tin Tin Tin

34 f#fE
Cumulative
foreign
[nvestment currency
Statutory Capital  revaluation  translation Retained
reserves (i) reserve reserve reserve earnings Total

REEf it
HERE() ELER i Eisg fezd :H
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin

1t April 2014 WNZF-IE
mA-A 340,606 5,769 79,684 10,857 58,355 (18) 14,184 230,045 739,422
Profit for the year EaH - - - - - - - 215,533 215,533
Currency translation differences ~ SMEX 2% - - - - - - 2,805 - 2,805
Change in fair value of available-for- THEZWQ;%Z ATER
sale financial asset (Note 23) ; - - - - - 175 - - 175
Appropriation of statutory reserves k%ﬂﬂ% - - - 1,868 - - - (1,868) -
Exercise of share options fikaRE 2,28 (749) - - - - - - 1488
Lapse of share aptions R ElRiE - (323) - - - - - k74 -
Share-based payment WRGBER 2% - 1,287 - - - - - = 1,287
Issuance of shares under open offer B AREERRA 79,639 - - - - - - - 79,639
Change in ownership interestina A FEAEERES
subsidiary without change MEEHERY
of control - - - - - - - (108) (108)
Dividends paid o equity holders ~ ERARAREREAZRE
of the Company - - - - - - - (32,287) (32,287)
At 31t March 2015 NE-1f
ZA=t-8 422,481 5,935 79,684 12,725 58,355 97 16,989 411,688 1,007,954
At 1st April 2015 NZ-1EMA-A 422,481 5,935 79,684 12,725 58,355 97 16,989 411,688 1,007,954
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - - - 70,105 70,105
Curency translation differences ~ EXEHZE - - - - - - (43,438) - (43.,438)
Change in fair value of available-for- T EZEIKAZZ ATEE
sale financial asset (Note 23) 2(M ) - - - - - (99) - - (99)
Aopropriation of statutory reserves  RAEE iR - - - (81) - - - 81 -
Exercise of share options fikERE 3,216 (674) - - - - - - 2,542
Lapse of share ptions R ElRiE - (141) - - - - - 1 -
Share-based payment W EER - 1,859 - - - - - - 1,859
Dividends paid to equiy holders ~ EAAFREREAZRE
of the Company - - - - - - - (43,563) (43,563)
At 31st March 2016 RE-7EZA=1-H 425,697 6,979 79,684 12,644 58,355 2 (26,449) 438,452 995,360
Notes: Bt 5
(i)  Statutory reserves represent enterprise expansion reserve (i) JEAERBAEBERBEAME THEBA R R 2D

(i)

fund and general reserve fund set up by certain subsidiaries
in Mainland China. As stipulated by regulations in Mainland
China, the subsidiaries established and operated in
Mainland China are required to appropriate a portion of
their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses) to
the enterprise expansion reserve fund and general reserve
fund, at rates determined by their respective boards of
directors. The general reserve fund may be used for making
up losses and increasing capital, while the enterprise
expansion reserve fund may be used for increasing capital.

The capital redemption reserve has been established upon
repurchase of shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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35 Consolidated statement of cash flows 35 MERERER
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax (a) BRBARAEREELE 2 H S FHEY
to net cash generated from operations is as BRINT -
follows:
2016 2015
—~E —RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Profit before income tax BB AR T 146,269 293,575
Share of results of associates — net EREE N B2 %8 — T8 7,364 1,056
Share of results of joint ventures — net BIEEERRIZEE — 8 (4,437) (1,930)
Interest income FEMA (2,065) (3,883)
Interest expenses BT H 65,404 59,150
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment )% - HiE kRGBT E 18,873 8,029
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, HEME - IF?SZ%& i3l
plant and equipment B8, (W 1,809 (271)
Unrealised exchange loss R EEEELJ%TE 29,728 —
Gain on disposal of an investment property HE—BEEME 2 = — (572)
Amortisation of land use rights T4 A 2 #E 5H 1,607 1,387
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE 2 1,430 1,455
Fair value gain on investment property REME 2 A FEERS (199,514) (204,108)
Provision for impairment of trade receivables — JEWBER 7 MERE — %58
— net 7,529 642
Provision for impairment of inventories — net  FEREEE — Fi8 3,897 662
Unrealised fair value gain on financial assets &A1& TE;HF]\TE 5 2 B 7%
at fair value through profit or loss BEZAZH AT EARKE (2,578) (1,190)
Realised gain on financial assets at fair value ?Zi’AEF{EfE:#)\TE ol
through profit or loss BB EE R E (841) —
Share-based payment PAR (D A E R 2 X 1,859 1,237
Provision for onerous contracts BERL 2 BE 12,000 —
Bargain purchase on acquisition of a WEE—HNB AR 2 WEEE
subsidiary — (6,413)
Operating profit before working capital HEBE IR 2L R T
changes 88,334 148,826
— Inventories — FE 140,485 15,363
— Trade and bill receivables — BUEERRER 84,106 (133,238)
— Prepayments, deposits and other — B - Re R EAM
receivables JRE U BR 3R (61,002) 11,867
— Amounts due from associates = FEHKH%%’A — 1,197
— Amounts due from joint ventures — EREERA (11,125) (4,468)
— Trade and bill payables — ETERS &mﬁg (27,032) 57,655
— Receipts in advance — TBERIA 8,702 (14,454)
— Accrued liabilities and other payables — BB EREMEMNERR 33,891 (20,747)
Net cash generated from operations KEEE IS FH 256,359 62,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 Consolidated statement of cash flows 35 ERERER(E)
(Continued)
(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) RZERERERD  HEWE K
proceeds from disposals of property, plant ERBEZMEREGE
and equipment comprise:
2016 2015
—E-XRE —ZE—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
Net book amount (Note 14) FEEFEE (MR 14) 2,407 727
(Loss)/gain on disposals of property, HeEwE  EmERRE Y
plant and equipment (Note 7) (B518),/Weas (B 7) (1,809) 271
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME BEKREZEZ
plant and equipment 8 =hiE 598 998
(c) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (c) RGEREREBRT  HE-ERE
proceeds from disposal of an investment MR ZFSRARSE !
property comprise:
2016 2015
—EB-REF —E-AF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHETT
Carrying amount (Note 15) FRE S (PIE15) — 22,000
Net gain on disposal of an investment HE—BEIREYE 7 FWER
property (Note 6) (PffF=E6) - 572
Net proceed from disposal of an HE—BREMEZFE
investment property RIA — 22,572
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

36 Significant business combination 36 EXEKSH

For the year ended 31st March 2015

On 19th September 2014, the Group completed the
acquisition of 100% of issued shares in He Tai Steel Co.,
Limited (“He Tai”), which is principally engaged in the
processing and trading of scrap steel. The Group expects
to expand its Hong Kong steel business to trading of scrap
steel and broaden its revenue stream through the acquisition.

The consideration was approximately HK$20,167,000.
Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, a 3-year
indemnity clause was effective from the date of acquisition.

The gain on bargain purchase of approximately
HK$6,413,000 was recognised in the consolidated income
statement during the year ended 31st March 2015. It was
attributable to the liquidity needs following the change in key
management of the vendor.

The following table summarises the consideration paid for
He Tai and the amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed recognised at the acquisition date.

BE-Z-HAF=A=+—HILEE

REZZ-—MEAATNAR - AEETKEBENZE
WMEARAR([ME] TB2REMTIREERE
1) 100% 2 B &7 - AEBEFEHEBKE
ERSR LS N DY E NN S DR N
AR -

KRB A20,167,0008 7T - RIEE S s 0 A
H=F 2 B REB G A UEE BB AR -

HE_T-—AF=ZA=1+—"HILFE ' KEHE
W #16,413,000 B TERL A B R P RER °
WIHRBEA T EERBEEEELA ZREE
SRR

TERBARNFEN ZRELRREBERERZE
WHEEERDAERBZSHE -

HK$°000
FBT
Consideration paid BERE 20,167
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets BEWEZNEERBAEARKZ
acquired and liabilities assumed: HREE -
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE RE&E 13,759
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEE 12,323
Inventories FE 3,047
Deferred income tax assets BEFTBREE 763
Trade and other receivables 7 LA BR R % E th B Uk BR X 19,242
Trade and other payables JE 15 BR 3R % £ i FE 5 BR 3R (22,554)
Total identifiable net assets A BRI EE FEARE 26,580
Gain on bargain purchase (Note 6) WEE B WS (HizE6) 6,413
Net cash outflow on acquisition of business: WEEE2HSREFE
Cash consideration paid BEfRERE 20,167
Cash and cash equivalents acquired EWEREMREEE (12,323)
7,844
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

36

37

Significant business combination
(Continued)

For the year ended 31st March 2015 (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs of HK$172,000 had been charged
to “general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31st March 2015.

The fair value of trade and other receivables was
approximately HK$19,242,000 and included trade receivables
with a fair value of approximately HK$15,401,000. The
gross contractual amount for trade receivables due was
approximately HK$15,401,000, all of which is expected to be
collectible.

The acquired business contributed revenue of approximately
HK$158,622,000 and net loss of approximately
HK$14,826,000 to the Group for the period from 19th
September 2014 to 31st March 2015.

Transactions with non-controlling
interests

For the year ended 31st March 2015

On 23rd May 2014, the Group acquired an additional 2.97%
of the issued shares of HE=&EMBR AR (‘RE=%")
for a purchase consideration of approximately HK$588,000.
The carrying amount of the non-controlling interests in &%=
% on the date of acquisition was approximately HK$480,000.
The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of approximately HK$480,000 and a decrease in
equity attributable to owners of the Group of approximately
HK$108,000. The effect of changes in the ownership interest
of V=% on the equity attributable to owners of the Group
during the year is summarised as follows:

36

37

EREHKS /(R

E-E-—FRF=A=+—HLEFER)

WES KA 172,000 TEREE-S—h1E
A=t RUEFEZEABRERZI B R
BRFAE IR 0Bk o

EWEREEMEBERRBZAFEEALN A
192420008 - EFBREAFEELH A
15,401,000 7 7T 2 FE UK IR 3K o fE UK BR 30 2 B HA
BN L A 15,401,000 7T » T8 HA 7] U @ B
BZERE -

MWL AT+HAhBRE-_ZTE—FRF=A
=+—BHHE MRBESRALEEER
Z W A #) 5 158,622,0008 T M IFBE L B
14,826,000/ 7T °

BRI ERETHRS

BE-E—AF=ZA=+—HILEE

R-ZE—NERA-+=0  AEEEIMER
E-SEMERAR(IRE=®1)297% 2 E
BT - BENR(E Y /A588,0008 7T ° REE
= ZEEFMESRNNEA R EmMSEAA
480,000/8 7T ° ANE B B MR FEIE bl M i 2R
A #9480,000 78 7T RANE B G ARG R
#47108,000/87C ° RE=SHAEERE B NF
NEAREE A AR GEE 2 ZERmnT

HK$’'000
FHTT
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired EWEIEERGIIE#EZ ZRmMS 5 480
Consideration paid to non-controlling interests EENE e A (588)
Difference between fair value of consideration and REZ A TFEEERERPER
amount of non-controlling interests adjustment Z IR M R s < B B
recognised within equity ZERE (108)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M R

38 Commitments

(a) Commitments under operating leases

()

(ii)

Lessor

The Group leases an investment property under
non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The
lease terms are between 1 and 7 years, and the
lease agreements are renewable at the end of the
lease period at market rate.

Total commitments receivable under various non-
cancellable operating lease agreements in respect
of rented premises are analysed as follows:

38 &iE
(a) EERLORIE
(i) HEA

AEERBETAHE cEXHOEH
—HEEREWME- - BHENF1ETF
ML EHRE MR AT SRESR

=
%R °

s YR M RIS Z % (0 T AT HH &
MO EBOFERBAITIT

2016 2015

—EB-REF —ZET—AHF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT T T

Not later than one year Rign1F 55,381 45,031
Later than one year and not later w1 FRARESF

than five years 67,696 53,342

Later than five years A5 F 15,727 3,727

138,804 102,100

Lessee

The Group leases various retail outlets, offices,
warehouses and site under non-cancellable
operating lease agreements. The lease terms
are between 1 and 6 years, and majority of lease
agreements are renewable at the end of the lease
period at market rate.

Total commitments payable under various non-
cancellable operating lease agreements in respect
of rented premises are analysed as follows:

(i) AEHEA

AEERET A & XHOER
ZETEEHE HAE BRI
Ko BN F1E6F  fAEHME
AR B E MR AT S HESR

AR EME] L2 & PR HEHE
FMH 2 N AREESTWT ¢

2016 2015

—EB-ARF —ET—ARF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FH&TT

Not later than one year RE1F 50,119 38,960
Later than one year and not later w1 FE R RES F

than five years 86,407 101,238

Later than five years 5 F 8,041 24,954

144,567 165,152
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RS ER R MR

38 Commitments (Continued) 38 AE(HE)
(b) Capital commitments (b) BEARFEE
Capital commitments at the end of the reporting period RIEBR 2 ERAEDT ¢

are as follows:

2016 2015
—E-RE —hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Contracted but not provided for: EEEEIGE S
Purchase of an investment property BE-REREME 721,571 —
Renovation work for an investment —IHEREMEZBETIR
property 5,082 6,517
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  WEMRE
equipment —_ 146,304
Capital injection to a joint venture BERFET —EEERA — 19,500
726,653 172,321
Authorised but not contracted for: EREEWRETA
Capital injection to a joint venture BREET—HMEERAT 15,508 —
Renovation work for an investment —EREMEBETE
property —_ 5,578
15,508 5,578
(c) Commitments under derivative contracts (c) PTEEHEIE
As at 31st March 2016, the total notional principal RZZE—RE=A=+—H HEHEA
amount of the outstanding iron ore future contracts HEE#H 2 BHEEARNSTEL S 1,720,000 %
was approximately HK$1,720,000 (2015: steel future 7_E( T—HF: 3, 193 OOO?%T_EZWT\?,H\E
contracts of HK$3,193,000). The settlement date is 14th BEH) - #EHR-T—AFNA+IA
September 2016 (2015: 15th October 2015) (Note 24 (i)). (ZZ—hF: =% *ﬁiJrﬁ +HH) (]
FE24())) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nVT\

BRI

39 Related party transactions

(a) Transactions

The following is a summary of significant related party

39 EBREEALZRS

(@) X5
RAEEBHEXEKBREFRE

TzEANME

transactions, which were carried out in the normal TREMEMT -
course of the Group’s business:
2016 2015
—E-AF —E-RF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FExT FHTT
Management fee income from  REREFEE AT
services provided to joint ZEBBRA
ventures (i) 27,816 9,684
Sales of goods to HESmT
— joint ventures — G& QA (ii) 6,572 —
— an associate — —EE AR (iii) 46,724 78,703
53,296 78,703
Purchase of goods from a joint #H—HE&ZAREEEM
venture (iv) 55 =
Sundry income received from a #—fE& & QR UELZ FIE
joint venture WA (v) 15 —
Notes: Mt
(i) For the year ended 31st March 2016, management () BE_Z-RF=ZA=+—HLFE "

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

v)

services were provided by HSL China Metropolitan
Fund | (GP) Ltd., E/8¥iEFEELLEBR AT and VSC
Steel Processing Holdings Limited respectively to a
joint venture at prices mutually agreed by the relevant
parties.

Goods were sold by VSC Steel Company Limited and
VSC Building Products Company Limited to a joint
venture at prices mutually agreed by the relevant
parties.

Goods were sold by Shanghai Bao Shun Chang
International Trading Co., Ltd. to an associate at prices
mutually agreed by both parties.

For the year ended 31st March 2016, He Tai Steel Co.,
Limited purchased goods from a joint venture at prices
mutually agreed by both parties.

For the year ended 31st March 2016, sundry income
was received by He Tai Steel Co., Limited for providing
labour services for a joint venture at prices mutually
agreed by both parties.

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

2 Bllf HSL China Metropolitan Fund |
(GP) Ltd « E/BFEFEHELLERA
A R BEE A I TIER AR A AR 4t

EERNRIZERRBIRBBAABEZ
{EFEUCER o

HEIEEMIAFRARLENESEE
HAERDAHEETAE AR Z%’iu”u};zﬁ
B8 77 19 7€ < (B AR AR

HLEBEIRS %f’f%ﬁlﬁ RIHE T
— R ERB 2 EmRET HEZBER
WZER ©

BHE_ZT-RF=ZHA=+—HILFE "

AERBEERAANL— ML BATBE
HRIRE S B2 BRI -

ﬁ —E—XEZA=Z1+—HBLEEE-

MR AR QA M —HEE QAR
25 T AR 7% BT W ER 2 #ETE IR A IR & 5 5E
BRI o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR R R

39 Related party transactions (Continued)

(b) Key management compensation

39 BREAEALZRS ()

(b) EEEEEHRM

2016 2015

ZE-RF —ET-hEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHTT

Salaries and allowances e MOERL 14,421 13,831

Bonus TE4T 7,585 6,680
Pension costs — defined contribution BRERAN — REHEK

schemes FTEl 367 340

Share-based payment LARR 0 B ERE 2 15 1,617 1,052

23,990 21,903

40 Subsequent event

In May 2016, EBILERBUERALE and BENBE AR
&), wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, entered into
5-year mortgage loan agreements for loans amounting to
RMB400,000,000 with a bank in the PRC for the purpose of
acquisition of an investment property in Shanghai.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M R

41 Statement of financial position and
reserve movement of the Company

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

(a) AAFHBRRK

41 AATHMBRRERRFEES

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR 2 ZE 661,059 635,372
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other AR RIE « Ee REALEL
receivables BR X 4 67
Pledged bank deposits B RITIFR — 10,469
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEE 1,370 643
1,374 11,179
Total assets HWEE 662,433 646,551
Equity s
Capital and reserves attributable to ARATREZTE AEMEBRE
equity holders of the Company Ri#E
Share capital [N 64,064 63,227
Reserves & 596,276 583,222
Total equity EREHE 660,340 646,449
Liabilities 81&
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEET B B K H T BRR 2,093 102
Total equity and liabilities EEkEEASE 662,433 646,551
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

41 Statement of financial position and
reserve movement of the Company

41 RRFHBIRR R EE B

==

(&)

(Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

(b) RATHERS

Share Capital

Share option redemption Contributed Retained
premium reserve  reserve (ii)  surplus (i) earnings Total
BRE EXEE
BRipEE e wE) BABE>) RERF 8y
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR THER TR TR TR

At 1st April 2014 RZZ-EEMA—H 340,606 5,769 79,684 53,986 21,933 501,978

Profit for the year EERT — — - - 31,117 31,117

Issuance of shares under open offer REARZEEZIRG 79,639 — - - — 79,639

Exercise of share options IFRERE 2,236 (748) — — — 1,488

Lapse of share options R B — (323) — — 323 —

Share-based payment PARRD AERE 2 21 = 1,237 = = = 1,287

Dividends paid BERKRE — — — = (32,237) (32,237)

At 31st March 2015 RIZ-1F

=B=1-H 422,481 5,935 79,684 53,986 21,136 583,222

Profit for the year EERA - - - - 52,216 52,216

Exercise of share options TbREmRE 3,216 (674) — — - 2,542

Lapse of share options R R - (141) - - 14 -

Share-based payment IR AEERE 2 3 A - 1,859 - - - 1,859

Dividends paid BRE - - - - (43,563) (43,563)

At 31st March 2016 RZF—RE

=R=t+-H 425,697 6,979 79,684 53,986 29,930 596,276

Notes: Bt 5 -

(i) The contributed surplus of the Company represents (i) ARARBABKENWEBRKEREARZ
the difference between the aggregate of the nominal ARDEE A FEE AR 7 E U 1T MER ] 2 iR
values of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired at DEEME R Z -
the date of acquisition, over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued in exchange thereof.
In addition to the retained profits, under the BRERBaEAMIN BREEREZE—NN\—FRF
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), EAEET)  BARBRIA DR FRE « R
contributed surplus is also available for distribution i (i) AN 23 R BE SR SRR AR S T B A
to shareholders. However, the Company cannot Bz EE (AR RZAZREEMER
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out REBBERBETRARRORER 2B
of contributed surplus if (i) the Company is, or would BIZARRBNME BMA RSP 5K 0KE RS 3
after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as EH IR ©
they become due; or (ii) the realisable value of the
Company’s assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium account.

(iiy The capital redemption reserve has been established (i) BEAEEEEDRNBERRODEERL -

upon repurchase of shares.
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